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Objective

the investment objective 
is to maximise long-term 
capital growth through 
investing in a diversified 
portfolio of technology 
companies around the 
world. the investment 
policy is set out in full  
in the Directors’ report.

Investment approach

stocks are selected 
for their potential for 
shareholder returns, not 
on the basis of technology 
for its own sake. the 
investment Manager 
believes in rigorous 
fundamental analysis  
and focuses on:

•	 management quality

•	 the identification of 
new growth markets

•	 the globalisation of 
major technology 
trends and

•	 exploiting 
international 
valuation anomalies 
and sector volatility

CovEr iMaGE: tokyo international airport(Haneda), Michael Hitoshi
tHis sprEaD: american airlines DC3 flying above clouds, petrified Collection
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Cheap and plentiful bandwidth, aided by the proliferation 
of smartphones and tablets has enabled the internet to 
become truly ubiquitous. this process bears close resemblance 
to the post-war experience of the aviation industry which 
was transformed by technological advances and changes in 
the competitive landscape that drove the mass adoption of 
air travel. However, just as the low cost carriers introduced 
by the likes of southwest airlines disrupted the existing 
market, so internet and Cloud based computing creates 
greater turbulence for technology incumbents.

about your Company/ Highlights

Undiluted net assets  
per ordinary share

392.56 p*

2011: 368.74p

+6.5%

Price per  
ordinary share

387.00 p
2011: 37 3.50p

+3.6%

Total  
net assets

£503,292,000
2011: £468,716,000

+7.4%

Financial highlights

Benchmark over the year  
to 30 April 2012  
(dow Jones World Technology 
Index , total return sterling 
adjusted)

+8.3%

* as at 30 april 2012 there is no dilutive 
nav per share as the subscription share 
Conversion price (478p) was above the 
ordinary share price and the Undiluted 
nav per share.

Price per  
subscription share

12.75 p
2011: 25 .75p

-50.5%
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about your Company/ Chairman’s statement

Results and Performance
In my first year as Chairman I am pleased to report  
an increase in net assets in what has been a challenging 
year for our Manager. The net asset value per share 
increased by 6.5% and the share price by 3.6% over our 
financial year to 30 April 2012. The gain in net assets was 
mildly assisted by a stronger dollar and our benchmark, 
the Dow Jones World Technology Index, rose by 5.5% in 
local currency and 8.3% in Sterling. It is disappointing 
that we were unable to post a third consecutive year  
of outperformance against our benchmark. Our 
performance versus the limited peer group of other 
technology investment trusts and the wider peer group 
of technology OEICS however puts us at or near the top 
on a one, three, and five year basis . In the USA and the 
other main geographical regions, technology has been 
one of the better performing sectors, so an investment  
in the broader market via the FTSE World Index would 
have shown a Sterling adjusted decline of 2.6% over  
our financial year.

Review of the Past Year
Our financial year started quite well, however optimism 
surrounding the global economic recovery suddenly 
evaporated leading to a rapid 15% decline in equity 
markets by the second week of August. There were other 
factors which added to the bearish sentiment, with the 
re-emergence of the European sovereign debt crisis, the 
ending of QE in the USA, regime instability in the Middle 
East, slowing growth in China and a stubbornly high oil 
price. By the end of September implied equity volatility 
and other market indicators were showing excessive levels 
of pessimism and our Manager felt happy to introduce a 
modest level of gearing. Equity markets rallied strongly 
in October but not sufficiently to erase the earlier 
declines and our NAV was down by 5% at the half year.

After a faltering November a revival in confidence  
was mainly attributable to an uncharacteristic decision 
by the European Central Bank in December to provide 
cheap and abundant three year loans to EU banks. As the 
fear of European bank failures receded the plight of the 
weaker members of the Eurozone was ignored. Investors 
began to focus on the more positive aspects of the world 
economy outside the Eurozone, resulting in a sustained 
rally from mid December to the end of March. Fears 
about Greece resurfaced and April was volatile but our 
NAV for the second six months rose by 12%. 

High and sustained levels of global economic uncertainty 
and slow growth present a challenge for all equity 
managers, so it is not surprising that investors have 
favoured bonds over equities and mega cap defensive 
stocks over mid and smaller capitalisation stocks. The 
technology sector has not been immune to this trend so 
it has been a challenge to avoid losing money in even the 
best mid and small cap stocks. By contrast the major 
technology stocks both young and old have attracted the 
attention of generalist investors seeking visible growth, 
cash laden balance sheets and dividend growth. Growth 
investors were delighted with the performance of Apple 
and Samsung, up 72% and 51% respectively and value 
investors equally happy with a 27% rise for Microsoft and  
a 25% increase for IBM. 

Sadly for the less nimble investors we were reminded 
of one of the other attributes of technology investing, 
rapid obsolescence. RIM, the manufacturer of the much 
admired BlackBerry mobile phone, fell by 70% and Nokia 
declined by 60% over our financial year. 

Portfolio diversity & Restrictions
Your Board and Manager are acutely aware of the dangers 
of an overly concentrated portfolio and individual stock 
risk. Any industrial specialist trust has a smaller pool of 
investments to choose from but we are fortunate to be in 
a dynamic and rapidly evolving sector which is home to 
many new entrants each year. The Board monitors 
geographic, sector and stock concentration and 
diversification both absolute and relative to our 
benchmark at each Board meeting. At our year end we 
had 131 separate holdings with the top 20 accounting for 
51.8% of the portfolio. Apple, our largest holding, was 
12.1% of the portfolio at our year end (8.2% in 2011), and 
14.3 % of our benchmark. The current single investment 
limit is a maximum of 5% measured at the time of 
acquisition. Under the current restrictions if we were to 
sell or reduce our Apple holding we would only be allowed 
to buy back circa 40% of the current holding. The Board 
feels it is sensible to remove this investment restriction 
linked to book cost but is mindful of the need to ensure 
portfolio diversity while having regard to the 
constituents of our benchmark. Accordingly, the Board 
proposes to change the 5% limit in any single investment 
at the time of investment to a 10% limit, from time to 
time, except where the investment forms a larger 
percentage of our benchmark, in which case the 

An increase in assets in what has been a challenging year

CHAIRMAN’s sTATeMeNT
/ Michael Moule
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Company will be permitted to take a position, not 
exceeding the weighting in the benchmark, or if lower 
20% of gross assets. Such a limit will permit our manager 
to be aligned with our benchmark but will not necessarily 
lead to a more concentrated portfolio.

More generally the Board also feels that the changes in 
the HMRC rules for investment trust approval and the 
changes in the requirements of the Listing Rules, which 
have occurred since the formation of the Company, 
occasions a need to carry out an updating of some of  
the investment restrictions which were imposed by  
the previous rules and have now fallen out of date.  
Also we feel it is prudent to request the flexibility to  
pay dividends out of capital which is permitted under  
recent changes in the new rules to qualify as an 
investment trust. We are not proposing to pay any 
dividends in the near future but believe it is of benefit  
to shareholders to have the freedom so to do. The Board 
is very conscious of the importance to shareholders  
of ensuring a clear investment policy and appropriate 
restrictions. Full details of all the changes proposed  
are set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting.

Board
On behalf of the Board and the management team, I 
should like to extend my thanks to our former chairman, 
Richard Wakeling, who chaired the trust in an exemplary 
fashion through both thick and thin since its inception in 
December 1996. I feel honoured to be chosen to chair this 
trust and am very grateful to Richard for handing me the 
baton in such good order. To attract and retain the right 
blend of experience and diversity we need to plan ahead 
and my appreciation goes to Peter Dicks who has indicated 
his willingness to retire from the board in September 2013.

Management Team
We are fortunate to have an experienced and enthusiastic 
manager in Ben Rogoff, who has managed the trust since 
2006. Ben is responsible for the whole portfolio 
encompassing geographical and sector allocation, gearing 
and cash management. His expertise is principally in the 
USA & Canada and he heads a six person team. 

We continue to have the benefit of Brian Ashford-Russell  
as a member of your Board and while the former manager 
has no involvement in portfolio management his years of 
technology investing provides the Board with immense 

experience. My job would be considerably more complicated 
but for the strength of the whole team and I extend my 
thanks to Ben and his team, and our company secretary  
for helping me in my first year as Chairman. 

AgM
We are holding our AGM on the 4 September 2012 at  
12 noon at the RAC Club in Pall Mall, London. This is a 
month later than last year because the club was fully 
booked for the Olympics. Transport will hopefully be  
back to normal in September and I look forward to 
meeting shareholders at our later date. Full details  
of the meeting are given in the separate Notice of 
Meeting which accompanies this annual report.

Outlook
As I write markets are transfixed by the economic 
problems of the most heavily indebted members of the 
Eurozone and the future survival of the Euro. None of the 
various options to deal with the problems are remotely 
positive and with recent declines in commodities including 
oil and gold, markets are bracing themselves for a growth 
shock. We have limited exposure with just under 7% of 
our portfolio in Europe, and weaker growth can 
sometimes be a benefit as companies may need to spend 
more on technology in order to become more efficient. 

Despite the difficult backdrop for Europe and the 
Eurozone there are several reasons to be more cheerful: 
oil and commodity prices have declined, inflation is 
falling, non indebted nations of the Pacific Rim, South 
America,and Africa are growing . In the USA there are 
good signs of modest growth continuing with industrial 
production, auto sales, housing and unemployment 
figures, all slightly better than expected. Longer term  
the US energy position could be transformed by shale 
gas. Finally, companies are learning to operate in a slow 
growth environment, balance sheets are robust, 
valuations inexpensive, and cash is being returned 
increasingly to shareholders. 

Michael Moule
Chairman
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Market review
Global equities fell sharply during the first 
half of the fiscal year as an early ‘growth 
scare’ quickly developed into a proto 
sovereign crisis. However, decisive (if 
somewhat overdue) intervention by the 
European Central Bank (ECB) in December 
drove a dramatic recovery in risk assets 
through April significantly ameliorating 
earlier losses, the FTSE World Index falling 
just 2.6% during the year. Sterling based 
returns were augmented by the strength  
of the US Dollar (+2%) and Yen (+5%) but 
offset by Euro weakness (-9%). Despite a 
plethora of seemingly existential challenges, 
the global economy managed to expand by 
3.9% in 2011, once again driven by emerging 
economies (+6.2%). Although China defied 
its critics by growing GDP above 9%, a 
number of other significant emerging 
economies such as India and Brazil slowed 
as the combination of tighter monetary 
policy and lower commodity prices took 
their toll. Developed economies also 
decelerated meaningfully during 2011 
(+1.6%) reflecting the impact of fiscal 
consolidation, the deepening European 
sovereign crisis and economic dislocation 
in Japan following the devastating March 
2011 tsunami. Fortunately corporate 
earnings continued to materially outpace 
the global economy (S&P 500 earnings 
growing in excess of 14% in 2011), aided by 
additional margin expansion reflecting  
the diminished position of labour. 

Although equities ended the previous 
fiscal year at highs, risk appetite had 
already begun to wane in other asset 
classes reflecting a deepening of the Greek 
crisis, Chinese policy tightening, US budget 
brinkmanship and soaring oil prices.

The tragic Japanese tsunami brought the 
equity rally to an abrupt end, triggering a 
contraction in risk appetite that marked  
the start of a ‘risk off’ period that prevailed 
until December. Characterised by 
deteriorating macroeconomic data and 
growing social unrest as austerity 
programmes began to bite, a key measure  
of risk appetite, US ten year Treasuries, saw 
yields fall below 3% for the first time since 
November 2010, finishing the year at 1.92%. 
Despite a growing need for massive, 
coordinated intervention to break negative 
feedback loops, US policymakers appeared 
more partisan than ever while Germany 
refused to countenance Eurobond issuance 
and/or QE ahead of fiscal reform. Faced with 
worst case outcomes, capital poured into 
safe havens, leaving volatility at post 
Lehman highs, cross correlation at record 
levels and global equities at the nadir more 
than 19% below their April highs. Rallies 
from deeply depressed levels in both August 
and September proved evanescent until 
soaring sovereign spreads and a growing 
funding crisis in Europe presaged massive 
intervention from the ECB in December. 

The ECB commenced the Long Term 
Refinancing Operation (LTRO), which 
allowed banks to apply for unlimited 
quantities of three-year ECB loans at an 
interest rate of 1%. Quickly understood  
to be ‘quantitative easing’ (QE) in all  
but name, the eventual Euro 1 trillion 
take-up represented the biggest infusion 
of credit into the European banking 
system in the Euro’s history. The ECB’s 
balance sheet expanding by more than 
Federal Reserve’s during ‘QE2’. Moreover, 
it prevented a potential sovereign crisis 
from developing by prefunding a 

The biggest infusion of credit into the european  
banking system in the euro’s history

2.6%
Decrease in the  
ftsE World index  
over the year

Early ‘growth scare’ 
quickly developed into 
a proto sovereign crisis

soaring sovereign 
spreads… presaged 
massive intervention 
from the ECB

INVesTMeNT MANAgeR’s RePORT
/ Ben rogoff
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INVesTMeNT MANAgeR’s RePORT continued

substantial portion of European bank 
bonds due in 2012/3. A collapse in 
sovereign yields resulted in a sharp 
rebound in risk assets through our year 
end, with global equities posting their 
strongest first (calendar) quarter gains 
since 1998. During the year, the strongest 
regional returns (taking into account the 
impact of foreign exchange movements) 
were generated by US stocks due to their 
perceived ‘safe haven’ status and aided  
by a stronger Dollar. Japanese equities 
also outperformed as they rebounded 
from post-tsunami lows, returns 
augmented by Yen strength. Unsurprisingly, 
given the re-emergence of sovereign risk, 
European stocks trailed, exacerbated by 
the weaker Euro. Asian equity markets also 
underperformed reflecting the combination 
of slower regional growth and diminished 
risk appetite. 

Technology Review
Technology shares materially 
outperformed the broader market over  
the year, the Dow Jones World Technology 
Index  rising 8.3% in Sterling terms. While 
some of the sector’s relative strength  
was passive (reflecting the significant 
outperformance of US equities and a 
somewhat stronger Dollar), stellar 
performances from a number of large-cap 
technology stocks contributed materially 
to the sector’s relative returns. This was 
especially evident in the US where Apple 
(+72%), IBM (+25%) and Microsoft (+27%) 
helped large caps (as measured by the 
Russell 1000 Technology Index) gain c.15% 
in Sterling terms during the year. While 
Apple’s performance was all the more 
remarkable given the death of CEO Steve 
Jobs in October, the stock’s ascent 

essentially mirrored its earnings progress. 
In contrast, the strong performance of 
both IBM and Microsoft reflected their 
appeal as inexpensive ‘stores of wealth’ 
epitomised by the revelation in November 
that Warren Buffett’s Berkshire Hathaway 
had built up a 5.4% stake in IBM having 
previously eschewed the technology 
sector. The combination of Apple’s 
strength and the allure of inexpensive 
large-caps resulted in a ‘crowding out’ of 
riskier assets; small caps trailing their 
large-cap peers by more than 22% as 
measured by the difference between the 
Russell 1000 and 2000 Technology Indices. 

The magnitude of large-cap outperformance 
helped obfuscate the implosion of a number 
of incumbents such as Hewlett Packard 
(-20%), Nokia (-60%) and Research in Motion 
(-70%) as tablet and smartphone growth 
began to negatively impact both the 
personal computer (PC) and traditional 
handset markets. In addition to those 
incumbents plainly impacted by the new 
cycle, there were a number of ‘tell tale’ 
acquisitions of next-generation companies 
by legacy vendors. While the £6.7bn 
purchase of Autonomy by HP for a 79% 
premium in August was undoubtedly the 
most dramatic attempt at reinvention 
during the year, there were a number of  
other ‘new-cycle thesis’ affirming M&A 
transactions, particularly in the Software- 
as-a-Service (SaaS) space as IBM, Oracle  
and SAP each acquired next-generation 
companies. The semiconductor space also 
saw further consolidation following the 
acquisitions of equipment suppliers Novellus 
Systems and Varian Semiconductor by Lam 
Research and Applied Materials respectively. 
However, the largest transaction of the year 

Technology shares materially outperformed  
the broader market over the year

8.3%
increase in Dow Jones 
World technology 
index  in sterling  
terms over the year

stellar performances 
from a number of 
large–cap technology 
stocks contributed 
materially to the 
sector’s relative returns

apple’s performance 
was all the more 
remarkable given the 
death of CEo steve Jobs

the combination of 
apple’s strength and 
allure of inexpensive 
mega-caps resulted in 
a crowding out of 
riskier assets
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saw Google pay $12.5bn for Motorola 
Mobility in order to bolster the intellectual 
property (IP) position of its Android 
operating system. At the sector level, late 
cycle areas such as software and IT services 
outperformed while earlier cycle stocks 
trailed. Weakest performance was reserved 
for networking stocks (primarily due to a 
hiatus in service provider spending) and  
the alternative energy sector due to the 
persistence of oversupply conditions.

Our performance
The outperformance of large-cap 
technology stocks created a formidable 
relative performance headwind that we 
were unable to overcome, our own net 
asset value rising 6.5% over the year. In 
addition to small-cap underperformance, 
relative performance was hindered by 
(modest) exposure to the Chinese IT 
services sector where share prices were 
particularly weak due to the combination 
of slowing growth and corporate 
malfeasance. At the sector level, the Trust 
was negatively impacted by its exposure to 
the semiconductor companies that fared 
poorly due to weakening macroeconomic 
conditions, exacerbated by inventory 
adjustments following the Japanese 
earthquake and Thai floods. Networking 
stocks also detracted from performance  
as service provider capital spending 
decelerated materially during the second 
half of 2011, in part due to a strike at 
Verizon and AT&T’s (failed) attempt to 
acquire T-Mobile. In terms of positives, our 
new cycle thesis appeared to come through 
a difficult year relatively unscathed as next 
generation fundamentals proved 
remarkably robust despite the more 
challenging backdrop. This was reflected  

in a number of strong individual stock 
performances including Amazon (+22%), 
Red Hat (+29%), Salesforce.com (+16%) and 
Teradata (+28%). Relative performance was 
also generated by minimal exposure to 
struggling incumbents such as Hewlett 
Packard, and from M&A activity, with two 
of our holdings (Netlogic Microsystems 
and Demandtec) being acquired, each for  
a 57% premium. 

economic Outlook
Although set to decelerate in 2012, we 
remain hopeful that the global economy 
(forecast to grow 3.5%), will continue to 
‘muddle through’ led by developing 
economies with some contribution from 
advanced markets despite the likelihood 
of a recession in Europe. In the developed 
world, inflation looks well contained 
courtesy of slack labour markets and 
slowing growth that all but guarantee  
the continuation of remarkably 
accommodative monetary policy, the 
Federal Reserve recently reiterating its 
commitment to its Zero Interest Rate 
Policy (ZIRP) until late 2014. Emerging 
markets are also likely to benefit from 
more accommodative policy as slower 
growth and lower food / energy prices 
have assuaged inflationary risk. The US 
economy is expected to grow above 2%  
in 2012, due to improvement in labour 
markets, consumer confidence and more 
limited headwinds associated with 
government spending and the housing 
market. Japan is also forecast to grow 
(+2.0%) although this recovery appears 
largely tsunami-related. While the 
Eurozone economy is expected to contract 
by c.0.3% in 2012 this modest recession 
belies the likelihood of deeper (c.2%)

there were a number  
of new-cycle thesis’ 
affirming M&a 
transactions, 
particularly in the 
software as a service 
space during the year

the outperformance  
of large-cap technology 
stocks created a 
formidable relative 
performance headwind 
that we were unable 
 to overcome

6.5%
nav growth  
over the year

Our new cycle thesis appeared to come through a difficult year  
relatively unscathed despite the more challenging backdrop
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contractions in both Italy and Spain,  
offset by modest growth in both Germany 
and France. Fortunately Asia should 
remain an economic bulwark over the 
coming year, driven by China and India 
which are expected to grow by 8.2% and 
6.9% respectively. While the lowering of 
China’s annual growth target in March 
raised the spectre of a potential ‘hard 
landing’, easing inflationary pressures 
should afford authorities the necessary 
monetary and fiscal firepower to augment 
growth if required. 

Clearly risks to this view have increased 
since the year end, evidenced by soaring 
European sovereign yields other than 
Germany and sharp price declines across 
the spectrum of risk assets. While we had 
hoped that the LTRO programmes would 
buy more time for European leaders to 
tackle structural issues, the spectre of 
sovereign default and / or Eurozone 
collapse have once again taken centre 
stage. Although we cannot tell how the 
current Greek imbroglio will end, we are 
hopeful that economic sense will prevail 
given the massive cost that an exit would 
involve for Greece and the impact it would 
have on peripheral deposits. Likewise we 
remain confident that a broader Eurozone 
collapse (presaged potentially by a Greek 
exit or self-fulfilling contagion should 
Spain default) remains a tail-risk given  
the magnitude of its potential impact 
(estimated at between 5-10% of Euro-area 
GDP), a scenario “too awful to seriously 
consider”. However, as recent electoral 
setbacks to ruling parties in France and 
Greece (and to a lesser extent Germany 
and the UK) attest, policymakers may  
be unable (even if they are willing) to 

administer the necessary medicine. 
Additional risks include inflation that 
might jeopardise record low interest 
rates, prevent additional quantitative 
easing and curtail policy options in China. 
As in previous years, political risk remains 
the most potent exogenous factor; in 
particular the prospect of military action 
being taken against a recalcitrant Iran  
and the impact this would have on  
energy prices. 

Market Outlook
Despite the disappointing start, we remain 
hopeful that equity markets can generate 
positive returns over the coming year 
although volatility is likely to persist as 
markets attempt to climb a ‘wall of worry’ 
of Hadrianic proportions. While we 
continue to believe that the current 
‘top-down’ challenges are best understood 
as echoes (rather than repeat performances) 
of the financial crisis investors clearly think 
otherwise, evidenced by negative real yields 
in safe-haven sovereigns and sentiment 
readings approaching levels commensurate 
with previous market lows (excluding 
2008/9). Elevated risk aversion has clearly 
weighed on equity valuations that today 
not only look undemanding versus history 
(the S&P trading at 12x current year 
estimates) but also appear remarkably good 
value versus both cash and bonds; US 
equity dividend yields surpassing ten year 
US Treasury yields for only the second time 
in the last 40 years. While individual 
investors appear unmoved by this valuation 
divergence (having withdrawn $68bn from 
equity mutual funds in 2011), we expect 
companies to continue to take full 
advantage of it via bond issuance and share 
repurchases, 2011 proving one of the biggest 

asia should remain an 
economic bulwark over 
the coming year, driven 
by China and india

as recent electoral 
setbacks to ruling 
parties in france and 
Greece… attest, 
policymakers may be 
unable… to administer 
the necessary medicine

political risk remains 
the most potent 
exogenous factor

3.5%
Estimated growth 
in global GDp

We remain hopeful that the global economy  
will continue to ‘muddle through’ 
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years for corporate buybacks since 1985. 
M&A activity is likely to remain at elevated 
levels as companies look to re-deploy excess 
cash in order to augment growth, which 
should provide additional support to 
equities over the coming year. 

While confident that the current valuation 
dislocation between risk and risk-free assets 
will resolve favourably in time, we are 
mindful of a number of headwinds which 
challenge this prognosis nearer term. 
Although we remain hopeful that the current 
European crisis will be contained, the longer 
the current uncertainty persists the greater 
the risk of reflexivity. With second quarter 
earnings season approaching, we would 
not be surprised to see companies take the 
opportunity to recalibrate forecasts 
although we suspect that a modest reset  
is already partially priced in. Additional 
risks to consider include negative seasonal 
trends (‘sell in May…’) and the potential for 
negative leverage. Despite these (and 
other) risks, we continue to take succour 
from the alignment of our interests with 
those of policymakers who should be every 
bit as keen to not see the global economy 
either fall into the abyss, or slip into a 
Japanese-style deflationary spiral.  
As such we remain hopeful that European 
debtor and creditor nations will yet be able 
to fashion a solution acceptable to both 
sides. We also take significant comfort from 
recent comments made by Federal Reserve 
Chairman Ben Bernanke when he stated that 
the “FOMC was ready to take additional… 
actions if necessary” as the current growth 
scare is unlikely to prove the last. 

Technology Outlook
Assuming that worst case outcomes are 
avoided, subtrend global growth should 

continue to provide a relatively positive 
backdrop for the technology sector by 
driving greater focus on productivity. 
However, the combination of slower 
economic growth and the deflationary 
impact of a new technology cycle is 
continuing to dampen global technology 
spending. IT experts Gartner are 
forecasting growth of just 2.5% in current 
US Dollars and a 5.3% CAGR between 2011 
and 2016. Unfortunately for IT managers, 
muted budget growth is entirely at odds 
with computing needs that are increasing 
inexorably. According to IDC, the ‘digital 
universe’ (every electronically stored piece 
of data) is doubling every two years while 
IP traffic is expected to grow at a 29% 
CAGR over the next five years. This 
mismatch is continuing to force a 
significant reallocation of IT budgets in 
favour of new technologies and vendors 
that help bridge this gap. We expect this 
dynamic to accelerate over the coming year 
as a number of key, disruptive themes (in 
particular, Cloud and tablet-based 
computing) appear to have achieved levels 
of penetration often associated with rapid 
subsequent adoption. This is likely to auger 
a more pernicious period resulting in 
significantly more uneven value creation 
and elevated M&A activity as incumbents 
attempt to reinvent themselves with even 
greater urgency.

Despite outperforming over the past  
year the sector has continued to de-rate,  
US technology stocks today trading on  
11.8 times forecast next twelve month 
earnings. This not only compares 
favourably versus history (the median 
forward PE post 1976 is 15.3x) but once 
the sector’s superior balance sheet is 

Elevated risk aversion 
has clearly weighed on 
equity valuations that 
today look undemanding 
versus history… 

M&a activity is likely  
to remain at elevated 
levels as companies look 
to redeploy excess cash

With second quarter 
earnings season 
approaching we would 
not be surprised to see 
companies take the 
opportunity to 
recalibrate forecasts

We are mindful of a number of headwinds that  
could challenge our prognosis nearer term

5.3%
forecast for it 
spending growth, 
2011 – 2016
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considered, cash adjusted forward PEs  
are even more compelling. While sector-
wide valuations are flattered by a number 
of inexpensive large caps seemingly 
threatened by the new cycle, this appears 
to be well understood given the sector is 
currently trading at a rare market 
multiple. Prospects for a modest re-rating 
over the coming year look reasonable, 
especially as the sector has begun to 
attract new investors epitomised by 
Warren Buffet’s $10.9bn investment in 
IBM. The sector continues to boast the 
strongest aggregate balance sheet 
(accounting for 30% of the $1.5tr cash  
on US balance sheets as compared to 
c.20% of US market capitalisation) and 
has become intrinsically more profitable 
as higher margin software / Internet 
companies have grown their share of 
revenues. This shift, together with the 
adoption of less capital intensive business 
models, has helped ameliorate cyclicality, 
improve economic returns while helping 
the sector generate record cash flows. 
Furthermore technology companies have 
become significantly better at sharing the 
spoils via buybacks and dividends as more 
than half of the Russell 1000 Technology 
Index constituents reduced their shares 
outstanding (on average by 3.8%) during 
2011. Similarly it has become the norm for 
larger technology companies to pay 
dividends, a volte-face epitomised by 
Apple’s recent decision to reinstate its 
first dividend in seventeen years. 

In addition to buybacks and dividends,  
M&A activity is also likely to account for  
a significant portion of ‘excess’ corporate  
cash / cash flow over the coming year  
as competition between incumbents 

intensifies, exacerbated by slowing IT  
budget growth and the move from enterprise 
towards Cloud computing. This was certainly 
the case in 2011, which was the third 
largest year for global technology M&A by 
value since 2000. Just as the acquisition of 
3PAR by Hewlett Packard in 2010 made it 
clear that a new cycle had commenced, so 
the increasingly ‘strategic’ nature of last 
year’s M&A transactions were reflected in 
premiums that averaged a remarkable 50% 
and Cloud-related M&A (both private and 
public) that rose 244% year on year to 
$11.7bn. Given that the largest global 
technology companies boast more than 
$350bn in cash and generate annual cash 
flow in excess of $100bn, the pace of M&A 
should remain at an elevated level – IBM 
reiterating that they intend to spend an 
additional $18bn on M&A by 2015. While we 
were disappointed that the Trust did not 
directly benefit from more acquisitions 
during the past year, we are hopeful that 
M&A will continue to provide positive 
tailwinds, disproportionately helping small 
and mid caps as incumbents continue to 
retool for the new cycle.

New Cycle
We believe this new technology cycle 
continues to be driven by three key themes: 
Cloud computing, Internet applications and 
ubiquitous computing (mobility). Gartner’s 
recent CIO survey supported this view as it 
revealed that ‘mobile technologies’ and 
‘Cloud computing’ represent two of the 
top three IT priorities today. The third – 
‘business analytics’, of which ‘big 
data’ forms part is discussed at length 
during the “thought piece” that follows 
this report. Cloud computing continues  
to make significant progress as early 

the sector has  
begun to attract new 
investors epitomised 
by Warren Buffet’s 
$10.9bn investment  
in iBM

technology companies 
have become  
significantly better  
at sharing the spoils

the increasingly 
strategic nature of 
last year’s M&a 
transactions were 
reflected in premiums 
that averaged a 
remarkable 50%

$1.5tr
Cash on Us company 
balance sheets

Muted budget growth is entirely at odds with computing 
needs that are increasing inexorably
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objections relating to security (and 
disintermediation) have eased as CIOs 
– under massive pressure to deliver ‘more 
with less’ – have begun to embrace the 
cheaper and more flexible computing 
associated with this mass production form 
of IT. The shift towards Cloud architectures 
has been significantly aided by the 
adoption of virtualisation which today has 
become pervasive – by the end of 2012; 52% 
of workloads (units of computing) are likely  
to have been virtualised. Cloud adoption 
has also been advanced by the US Federal 
government’s ‘Cloud First Policy’ designed 
to migrate $20bn of its $80bn annual IT 
budget to the Cloud. This policy benefited 
one of our holdings (Concur Technologies) 
recently when they received a $1.4bn, 
fifteen year contract to supply Cloud-based 
travel booking and expense management 
across all federal agencies. With 65% of 
CIOs already using some form of public 
Cloud environment we anticipate rapid 
adoption over the coming years as the 
provision of IT as a service becomes 
increasingly the norm. (57% of workloads 
will be processed in the Cloud by 2015.)

Internet Applications are also likely to 
experience continued strong growth over 
the coming year reflecting low penetration 
rates in key application categories such as 
e-commerce (4.9%), online advertising (17%) 
and Software-as-a-Service (SaaS). We are 
hopeful that this growth should prove 
relatively insulated from economic 
uncertainty, evidenced by US e-commerce 
growth of 15.4% year on year in Q1’12  
despite the difficult backdrop. Increased 
smartphone penetration is certainly helping 
by creating new opportunities in 
e-commerce (eBay expects its mobile gross 

merchandise value to exceed $8bn this  
year) and online advertising while spawning 
a plethora of new applications made 
possible by the Cloud and afforded 
relevance by mobile computing including 
social (Facebook), communications 
(Twitter), storage (Dropbox) and content 
synchronisation (iCloud). Increased comfort 
with the Cloud is also driving “the most 
significant revolution in database and 
application architectures in twenty years”. 
As companies transition towards 
virtualised environments, they must 
decide whether to migrate (keep) or 
consolidate (end of life) their existing 
applications. This dynamic is likely to 
intensify over the coming years as 
decisions are made on tier one workloads 
that are only 32% virtualised today. The 
SaaS sector is likely to prove the greatest 
beneficiary of this application migration 
process (forecast to grow by 18% this year) 
while incumbent vendors and IT developers 
responsible for existing applications 
appear to have the most to lose which 
helps explain why IBM (Demandtec), Oracle 
(RightNow, Taleo) and SAP (Successfactors, 
Ariba) have all made acquisitions in the 
SaaS space. 

Once again ubiquitous computing enjoyed 
the most remarkable growth last year 
driven by further smartphone and tablet 
adoption. Having grown 75% in 2010, the 
smartphone market expanded by a further 
58% in 2011. However, the market 
coalesced around two key vendors, 
Apple and Samsung, who began to 
dominate industry profits. Despite the 
death of CEO Steve Jobs, Apple increased 
its dominance of the high-end smartphone 
market achieving 85% share following the 

Gartner’s recent Cio 
survey revealed that 
‘mobile technologies’ 
and ‘Cloud computing’ 
represent two of the 
top three it priorities

the shift towards  
Cloud architectures  
has been significantly 
aided by the adoption 
of virtualisation  
which today has 
become pervasive

244%
increase in Cloud 
related M&a in 2011

The new technology cycle continues to be driven  
by three key themes
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release of the iPhone 4S. Similarly 
Samsung realised a commanding share of 
Android-based devices that this year are 
forecast to account for 61% of the overall 
smartphone market. This potential 
duopoly is likely to put further strain on 
former leaders such as HTC, Nokia and 
Research in Motion and their supply 
chains. While smartphones should enjoy 
another good year of growth this year 
(+39%) overall penetration rates already 
exceed 30% and are substantially higher in 
developed markets. As such we expect to 
pare our smartphone exposure over the 
coming year although we are in no 
immediate rush given that the tablet 
market represents a significant 
incremental opportunity, with units 
forecast to grow from 82m units in 2011  
to more than 400m by 2017. In addition to 
both Apple and Samsung (and their supply 
chains), we believe that the most exciting 
investment opportunities in this space 
relate to new applications made possible 
by the growing ubiquity of computing such 
as mobile payments, remote access and 
application delivery. We are also hopeful 
that wireless data traffic growth which is 
forecast to increase eighteen-fold between 
2011 and 2016, together with the adoption 
of 4G LTE devices will drive a recovery in 
mobile infrastructure spending. 

While smartphone and tablet growth 
significantly outpaced the PC industry  
in 2011, a more important watermark  
was established last year when total 
smartphone and tablet shipments 
surpassed combined desktop and notebook 
PC shipments. Although rumours of the PC’s 
demise may appear greatly exaggerated 
given that worldwide shipments (ex 

netbooks) increased 5.6% in 2011, industry 
growth has become increasingly reliant on 
emerging markets that accounted for just 
over 50% of the PC market last year. In the 
developed world, the PC market already 
appears to be in decline as US unit 
shipments fell 5.9% year on year during  
the fourth quarter of 2011 with share gains 
by Apple and Lenovo making life worse still 
for encumbent vendors HP and Dell. Little 
wonder then that Michael Dell, having only 
recently argued that the idea of a post 
PC-world was “nonsense”, appears to have 
accelerated the acquisition strategy that 
has seen Dell buy more than 25 (non PC) 
companies since 2007. Although ‘Windows 
8’ and the introduction of ‘ultrabooks’ may 
reaccelerate PC units in 2012/3, this 
renaissance is likely to prove fleeting  
as the personal computer continues to  
cede ground to more mobile alternatives. 

The disruption already being experienced  
by handset and PC vendors is likely to be 
repeated across the technology universe 
over the coming years as ‘Cloud computing’ 
gains significant traction. Just as it took the 
skyscraper two decades to begin to alter the 
skyline, so our sense is that after a number  
of years of being ‘stress-tested’ by CIOs 
with relatively unimportant workloads, the 
Cloud is about to change the landscape of 
computing. Best understood as the IT 
industry moving away from complex 
enterprise computing towards a mass 
production alternative, the Cloud is likely  
to cause disruption across the technology 
universe by delivering a highly automated, 
elastic form of computing at vastly lower 
prices. Datacentre technologies such as 
virtualisation, tiered storage, solid state 
drives and, in the future, software defined 

increased smartphone 
penetration is… 
spawning a plethora of 
new applications made 
possible by the Cloud

the tablet market is 
forecast to grow from 
82m units to more than 
400m in 2017

58%
Growth in smartphone 
market in 2011

Ubiquitous computing enjoyed the most remarkable growth 
last year driven by further smartphone and tablet adoption

INVesTMeNT MANAgeR’s RePORT continued
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networking are significantly increasing 
hardware utilisation rates. Application 
consolidation and the shift towards SaaS  
will likely come at the expense of incumbent 
software vendors and IT services companies 
responsible for legacy applications while 
creating rare fluidity in the database market. 
Not only does the transition away from 
enterprise computing diminish the value of 
incumbency, new opportunities in the Cloud 
are almost always associated with lower 
pricing and a rental model. On the client side, 
smartphone and tablet growth will continue 
to change user behaviour while undermining 
PC applications such as printing, end-point 
security, operating systems and office 
productivity suites. Faced with the prospect 
of significant disruption, M&A activity looks 
set to continue at a frenzied pace even 
though success is hardly guaranteed 
evidenced by declining year on year licence 
revenue growth at Automony and the 
departure of Mike Lynch so soon after  
HP acquired it for £6.7bn. 

Conclusions
It looks inevitable that equity markets  
are going to have to continue climbing a 
formidable ‘wall of worry’ over the coming 
year. While we do not claim expertise in 
macroeconomic analysis, we continue to 
trust in our remarkable alignment of 
interests with policymakers who are every 
bit as keen to avoid worst case outcomes. 
As such we remain hopeful that the global 
economy will once again ‘muddle through’ 
despite myriad challenges. However, the 
current situation in Europe is unlikely to 
prove the last ‘echo’ of the credit crisis,  
as multi-year deleveraging will invariably 
result in further ‘growth scares’ in the years 
ahead. Therefore investors should 

anticipate greater volatility going forward, 
although we believe that this dynamic is 
substantially captured by undemanding 
equity valuations particularly as compared 
to cash and bonds. 

Turning to technology, we believe that the 
new cycle is likely to enter a more disruptive 
phase as the growth in each of our core 
themes increasingly comes at the expense  
of incumbent technologies and vendors. This 
is entirely consistent with previous periods 
of economic uncertainty that have been 
associated with rapid adoption of new 
technologies. While this new cycle should 
disproportionately benefit small and mid-cap 
companies without legacy exposure, 
‘top-down’ concerns have resulted in 
investors seeking refuge in inexpensive 
mega-cap ‘stores of wealth’ leading to a 
significant ‘crowding out’ of smaller 
companies. Fortunately we were alive to this 
risk and opted to slow the process of moving 
more materially away from our benchmark,  
a decision signalled in our half-year report. 
With markets significantly below their 2012 
highs, small-cap technology stocks having 
given up all of their FY10 outperformance 
and with the ‘new cycle’ likely to become 
significantly more disruptive, we believe now 
is an appropriate time to increase our small / 
mid and next-generation exposure, a process 
which we have begun. Naturally this involves 
us moving further away from the benchmark, 
which will invariably result in greater volatility 
in our relative performance profile. However, a 
less benchmark sensitive approach is entirely 
consistent with our long held view that new 
cycles are rarely good for incumbents. 

Ben Rogoff

in the developed world 
the pC market already 
appears to be in decline

Dell has bought more 
than 25 (non pC) 
companies since 2007

the Cloud is likely  
to cause disruption 
across the technology 
universe by delivering  
a highly automated, 
elastic form of 
computing at vastly 
lower prices

18x
Expected wireless data 
traffic growth between 
2011 and 2016

Cloud computing is gaining significant traction
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the combination of complexity and cost meant that early passenger  
air travel remained the preserve of the wealthy and the patient. 
However, technology advances such as cabin pressurisation and the  
jet engine significantly improved the speed, reliability and cost of air 
travel. not only did more powerful jet engines allow aircraft to travel 
faster but they also enabled them to carry larger payloads. this 
presaged the introduction of wide bodied aircraft such as the Boeing 
747 which achieved three times greater hourly productivity than the 
Boeing 720B introduced a decade earlier. advances in avionics also 
helped reduce the size of the flight crew from five to just two by 
eliminating the need for a navigator, flight engineer and a third pilot. 

iMaGE: pilot walking past aircraft jet engine, Grant v. faint

advances in fibre optics, transport and 
routing technology have dramatically 
increased the speed of the internet  
while reducing the cost of carrying traffic. 
Broadband and 3G mobile connections have 
also transformed the internet user experience 
by providing ‘always on’ connectivity. 

170x
improvement in the speed of the internet 
backbone since the mid 1980s

100Gb/s
Data rates of new internet backbone 
products shipping today

Technology  
Impact

IT’s HAPPeNINg AgAIN. dramatic improvements in the cost and performance of the Internet have been critical in 
driving its adoption, a pattern that ‘played out earlier’ in the aviation industry.

portfolio analysis/ the new cycle update: the internet and the mass adoption of it
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Last year we discussed how ‘Cloud 
computing’ was allowing the IT industry to 
transition towards a mass production model. 
With reference to other industries that had 
previously made this transition (automotive, 
agriculture and construction) we argued that 
standardisation, automation and the Internet 
deliver mechanisms which would likely 
transform the IT industry. This year we 
consider how cheap and plentiful bandwidth, 
aided by the adoption of smartphones, 
tablets and a plethora of new applications 
has enabled the Internet to become truly 
ubiquitous. This process bears close 
resemblance to the post-war experience of 
the aviation industry, which was transformed 
by technological advances and changes in the 
competitive landscape that drove the mass 
adoption of air travel. 

The overlapping histories of the aviation 
and technology industries began in earnest 
after WWII as Cold War-related defence 
spending accelerated the development  
of solid state electronics used to control 
propulsion systems in missiles and later,  
the US space programme. This not only 
advanced the trend towards miniaturisation 
that led to the development of integrated 
circuits (ICs) in the 1970s but also spawned  
a nascent ‘computing’ industry around San 
Francisco’s Bay Area, primarily serving the 
needs of Los Angeles’ aviation industry. 
Companies such as Hewlett Packard, 
Teledyne and others long forgotten (such  
as Bendix, Sylvania and Litton Industries) 
prospered amid rising demand for electronic 
products. Thus the growth of aviation 
electronics, or ‘avionics’ improved almost  
all aspects of air travel (speed, cost, safety) 
and helped accelerate the computing 
cause. A good example of this was the role 
played by Lawrence Rand, inventor of the 

autopilot and artificial horizon, as his 
company Rand (later Sperry Rand) later 
developed the UNIVAC line of mainframe 
computers which went on to achieve early 
computing notoriety when it successfully 
predicted an Eisenhower landslide during 
the 1952 Presidential election in which 
Adlai Stevenson was widely expected to 
prevail. Since then the two industries have 
enjoyed a symbiotic relationship, which at 
times has significantly advanced each 
other’s cause. For instance, a booming 
computing market in the 1970s provided the 
genesis of the idea behind FedEx (the need 
to manage high value parts) which 
facilitated ‘build to order’ businesses like 
Dell Computer. Today the Internet 
continues to redefine the airline and the 
overall travel industry by driving higher  
load factors while reducing distribution 
costs by disintermediation of travel agents. 

Early iterations of both aviation and the 
Internet were cumbersome and costly, 
which limited their appeal. In the case  
of aviation, early commercial flight was 
characterized by small, slow aircraft  
whose range was limited by the amount  
of fuel they could carry on take off. To 
overcome the lack of airports, a short lived 
solution was provided by seaplanes (“flying 
boats”) but these required flight crews to 
be proficient in areas as diverse as seaplane 
anchorage, over-water navigation, aircraft 
repair and marine tides. 

The combination of complexity and  
cost meant that early passenger air travel 
remained the preserve of the wealthy (a 
return fare from San Francisco to Hong 
Kong in 1937 would have cost $26,400 in 
today’s money) and the patient (a flight 
from London to Tokyo in 1953 took 

THe NeW CYCLe UPdATe:
THe INTeRNeT ANd THe MAss AdOPTION OF IT

the overlapping 
histories of the 
aviation and 
technology industries 
began in earnest after 
WWii as Cold War-
related defence 
spending accelerated 
the development of 
solid state electronics 

the growth of ‘avionics’ 
improved almost all 
aspects of air travel 
and helped accelerate 
the computing cause

Early iterations of  
both aviation and  
the internet were 
cumbersome and 
costly, which limited 
their appeal

Cheap and plentiful bandwidth, aided by the proliferation of smartphones and tablets has enabled 
the Internet to become truly ubiquitous. This process bears close resemblance to the post-war 
experience of the aviation industry

$26,400
Cost of return fare 
from san francisco  
to Hong Kong in 1937
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74 hours). However, the speed advantage 
enjoyed over traditional transport modes 
resulted in the birth of a new application – 
airmail. The Internet also began its life as 
the preserve of the few as ARPANET, the 
packet switched network built for the US 
Department of Defense in 1969. Although 
the Internet expanded as regional 
networks became interconnected using 
TCP/IP (Transmission Control Protocol / 
Internet Protocol), it remained primarily 
an academic network. As with early 
aviation, initial applications (such as file 
transfers and remote login) were 
constrained by speed and cost, while  
the Internet’s limited reach meant it had 
little relevance beyond academic or IT 
communities. However, in a remarkable 
repeat of the aviation experience, one 
early application – electronic mail 
(‘e-mail’) dramatically increased the 
appeal of the Internet, contributing 
greatly to its future development. 

Technological improvements have had a 
dramatic impact on the cost / performance 
equation of both aviation and the Internet 
by broadening  their appeal. The modern 
era of air transportation began with 
jet-powered airliners that increased the 
speed, reliability and comfort of air travel. 
By 1965 the airline industry had captured 
95% of the transatlantic travel market. 
Technological advances have also had a 
dramatic impact on Internet speeds. In 1986, 
the Internet backbone (the principal data 
routes between large interconnected 
networks) operated on lowly 56kb/s links. 
Today, advances in fibre optics, transport 
and routing technology means that much 
of the Internet backbone runs at 10Gb/s.  
Internet access speeds have also increased 
dramatically since the likes of US Robotics 

introduced 28.8kb/s dial-up modems in the 
mid 1990s. In 2010, 90% of OECD Internet 
subscriptions were broadband (always on) 
connections that achieved averaged speeds 
of 9.1Mb/s in 2011. Internet speeds continue 
to climb; companies such as Infinera are 
beginning to ship 100Gb/s backbone 
products, while average broadband speeds 
are expected to quadruple by 2016. Mobile 
broadband speeds are also set to increase 
significantly over the next few years as new 
standards (4G / 802.11ac) are rolled out. 

Advances in technology have also played a 
significant role in lowering the cost of air 
travel. More powerful jet engines not only 
allowed aircraft to travel faster, they also 
enabled them to carry larger payloads. 
Combined with airframe improvements, 
this presaged the development of larger 
aircraft epitomised by the introduction of 
the Boeing 747 in 1969. The ‘Jumbo’ carried 
400 passengers and achieved three times 
greater hourly productivity than the 
Boeing 720B introduced a decade earlier 
resulting in sharply lower unit costs per 
seat. Larger aircraft also helped drive 
improvements in fuel efficiency as fuel 
burned per seat today is 70% less than  
that of early jets. Advances in avionics  
also lowered costs by reducing the size  
of the flight crew from five to just two; 
navigation systems eliminated the need for 
a navigator, jet engines no longer required 
in-flight adjustment making obsolete the 
flight engineer’s role while flight control 
and collision avoidance systems removed 
the need for a third pilot. Other significant 
cost reductions came from improved 
utilisation (load factor) and fleet 
standardisation. Many of these factors  
are remarkably similar to those currently 
driving the transition towards Cloud 

THe NeW CYCLe UPdATe:
THe INTeRNeT ANd THe MAss AdOPTION OF IT continued

the combination of 
complexity and cost 
meant that early 
passenger travel 
remained the preserve 
of the wealthy and the 
patient. the internet 
also began its life as the 
preserve of the few as 
arpanEt, the packet 
switched network built 
for the Us Department 
of Defense in 1969

the modern era of  
air transportation began 
with jet-powered 
airliners that increased 
the speed, reliability and 
comfort of air travel

Technological improvements have had a dramatic impact  
on the cost / performance equation of both aviation and  
the Internet, by broadening their appeal

90%
of oECD internet 
subscriptions in 2010 
were broaband
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computing. Larger datacentres are able 
to deliver vastly cheaper computing by 
adopting technology such as virtualisation 
that can dramatically improve server 
utilisation and more computing per unit  
of labour, evidenced by Facebook’s 400:1 
server / to Full Time Employee (FTE) ratio 
and reports that Apple’s $1bn datacentre 
in North Carolina created just fifty jobs. 

However, as the US airline industry had 
been regulated since 1938, the impact of 
lower costs was not fully felt. Instead, the 
Civil Aviation Board (CAB) was responsible 
for controlling routes, competition and 
prices. Other aviation markets followed a 
similar pattern; in the UK, the Civil Aviation 
Act (1946) ensured that only state carriers 
could operate regular schedules. Pre-
deregulation price based competition in 
the US only existed in large states such  
as Texas, where new carriers such as 
Southwest Airlines offered intrastate 
service that escaped the CAB’s reach. In the 
UK, competition came primarily from 
charter operators such as Britannia 
Airways. The telecommunications industry 
followed a similar pattern, and remained 
regulated until 1980s liberalisation ended 
British Telecom’s monopoly in 1981 ahead 
of its privatisation in 1984, the same year 
that AT&T was broken-up. 

The Airline Deregulation Act of 1978 
allowed airlines to enter or exit markets, 
expand routes and set their own fares. This 
led to 47 new carriers entering the market 
by 1984. Long distance carriers faced 
particularly disruptive competition from the 
likes of People’s Express and Freddie Laker’s 
Skytrain service. Similarly, the break-up of 
AT&T led to both MCI and Sprint entering the 
long distance telecom market, while the 

Telecommunication Act (1996) introduced 
competition into the ‘local loop’ which 
resulted in an explosion of new telecom 
operators, and capital investment reached 
an incredible $1.3 trillion. Competitive Local 
Exchange Carriers (CLECs) spent nearly 
$100bn trying to compete with the 
incumbent Regional Bell Operating 
Companies (RBOCs). While nearly two-dozen 
of these companies failed in the process 
(echoing the exit of 48 carriers three years 
post airline deregulation), they left behind 
significant excess capacity that continued  
to weigh on pricing long after their demise. 

The combination of technology, competition 
and excess capacity following the collapse of 
the first wave of new entrants post 
deregulation resulted in downward pressure 
pricing in both industries.In real terms, air 
fares have declined by almost 2% per year 
since 1960 which, due to compounding, has 
seen them fall by 45% in inflation-adjusted 
terms since 1978. Deregulation of the air 
cargo market in 1977 presaged even more 
substantial declines in rates (freight yields 
falling 4.7% on average between 1989 and 
2009). The impact of lower prices was 
magnified by post-war increases in standards 
of living. Falling prices have been a consistent 
feature of the technology industry since its 
advent. Telecom regulation had acted like a 
dam, holding back cost improvements.  
Once this had been removed a dramatic 
impact on pricing occurred; between 1984  
(the break-up of AT&T) and 1996 (deregulation), 
long distance voice pricing fell by 62%. Data 
costs have fallen even more sharply, due to 
excess capacity post the dot-com bubble  
and cost reductions in key technology 
components such as hard drives, where cost/
Gb has fallen on average by 40% per 
annum. As a result, the cost per gigabit 

advances in avionics 
also lowered costs by 
reducing the size of 
the flight crew from 
five to just two

the Us airline industry 
had been regulated 
since 1938... the impact 
of lower costs was not 
fully felt...the 
telecommunications 
industry followed a 
similar pattern...until 
1980s liberalisation

the combination of 
technology, competition 
and excess capacity …
resulted in downward 
pressure pricing in both 
industries

deregulation in both the airline and telecommunications 
industries resulted in a dramatic increase in competition 

$1.3tr
Capital investment 
following telecom 
deregulation 



the impact of technology improvements were not fully felt in either  
the aviation or telecommunication industries ahead of deregulation. 
However, new entrants post the airline Deregulation act (1978) and  
the telecommunications act (1996) provided significant downward 
pressure on prices making mass-adoption possible. in addition to the 
additional competition that these new entrants represented, airlines  
such as southwest pioneered the low cost carrier model that is today 
synonymous with the likes of ryanair. While bright orange uniforms  
and knee-high boots may have conveyed a fresh and fun approach to  
air travel they belied a fundamentally different delivery model focused 
on delivering the cheapest possible cost per available seat mile aided  
by a non-unionised workforce, standardised fleet and unassigned 
seating that allowed for rapid turnaround times. 

iMaGE: Many thanks to the southwest airlines archive for the use of this photograph

like low cost carriers, public Clouds deliver 
computing at vastly lower prices due to their 
scale and use of technologies that enable 
much higher utilisation rates than most 
enterprises can achieve. 

62%
fall in long distance voice pricing between 
1984 (break-up of at&t) 1984 and 1996 
(telecom deregulation)

400:1
facebook’s server to full time employee 
(ftE) ratio

New entrants
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IT’s HAPPeNINg AgAIN. Unencumbered by older infrastructure and legacy business models, new entrants have 
had a dramatic impact on pricing in both the aviation and telecommunication industries.
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of streaming video has fallen from $193  
in 2000 to less than three cents by 2010, 
while monthly web hosting per GB has 
collapsed from $2.58 to less than 1/100th  
of one cent over the same timeframe. 

Lower prices have driven dramatic increases 
in both airline and Internet traffic. Between 
1950 and 2000, worldwide passenger 
growth compounded at a remarkable 7.0%, 
with newer aviation segments such as 
international travel and US air cargo 
revenue growing faster still. Growth in 
Internet traffic has expanded even faster, 
driven by users (US subscribers grew from 
20m in 1996 to 245m in 2011) and a 54-fold 
increase in time spent online. This potent 
combination has seen global e-commerce 
reach an estimated $10 trillion in 2010 while 
global Internet traffic has recorded a CAGR 
of 126% since 1990. More recently, cheaper 
and more pervasive mobile Internet usage 
has become a significant contributor to 
overall growth due to the adoption of 
smartphones and tablets. These smaller, 
lighter devices have significantly improved 
the reach of the Internet in the same way 
that regional jets and ‘hub and spoke’ 
networks allowed the airline industry to 
significantly expand its served market post 
deregulation. They have also contributed 
greatly to the ubiquity of their respective 
networks, whose value ‘is proportional to 
the square of the number of connected 
users of the system’ (Metcalfe’s Law). In 
practice this ‘network-effect’ helps explain 
why Apple enjoys 85% of the high-end 
smartphone market today and how the 
combination of more routes and greater 
frequency of service led to the rise of airline 
commuter markets and the substitution of 
other transport modes. 

However, neither the airline or 
telecommunications industries have been 
able to fully capture the value associated 
with this traffic growth. In the case of 
airlines, the industry’s maladies are well 
documented: capital intensity, high fixed 
costs, unionised workforces (and their 
defined benefit pensions), and oil sensitivity 
magnified by debt (as assets are often 
collateralised). These factors have resulted 
in some truly spectacular losses, with 170 
airlines having entered bankruptcy since 
1978. However, in light of the airline 
industry’s travails the emergence of 
successful low cost carriers (LCCs) such as 
Southwest Airlines (1967) and Ryanair (1985) 
is illuminating. While incumbents 
successfully repelled the first wave of new 
entrants post regulation, they did so by 
developing hubs and computer reservation 
systems that gave them an advantage. 
Although the top ten airlines accounted for 
95% of the US market by 1992, this had been 
achieved via consolidation, while their 
structural deficiencies remained 
unaddressed. In contrast, Southwest 
Airlines and Ryanair have remained focused 
on delivering the cheapest average seat mile 
(ASM) possible, highly reminiscent of 
Infrastructre-as-a-service (IaaS) from a 
public Cloud; a no frills service (raw 
computing) with unassigned seating 
(multi-tenanted) on a standardised fleet 
(servers) operating out of secondary 
airports (own datacentres). These structural 
advantages allowed the LCCs to generate 
profits for much of aviation’s ‘lost decade’ 
(post 9/11) in contrast with the industry that 
lost over $50bn. While an imperfect parallel, 
the plight of legacy carriers once the overall 
market decelerates (or goes into decline) is a 
useful parable to the risk posed to 

THe NeW CYCLe UPdATe:
THe INTeRNeT ANd THe MAss AdOPTION OF IT continued

The combination of technology, competition and excess 
capacity… post deregulation resulted in downward pressure  
on consumer pricing in both industries

126%
internet traffic growth 
CaGr since 1990

lower prices  
have driven dramatic 
increases in both 
airline and internet 
traffic

smart phones  
and tablets have 
significantly improved 
the reach of the 
internet in the same 
way that regional jets 
and ‘hub and spoke’ 
networks allowed the 
airline industry to 
significantly expand
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technology incumbents by a cheaper form 
of computing now that IT budgets are under 
pressure from sub-trend global growth. 

While airlines have proven largely un-
investable, almost every area within the 
aviation infrastructure market has benefited 
from traffic growth. Increased traffic has 
naturally benefited the aircraft market (and 
its suppliers) which enjoyed a 6.5% CAGR 
between 1975-1985 and a 4.6% CAGR during 
the following decade. After significant 
consolidation, the airliner market today is a 
duopoly between Boeing and Airbus, 
similar to the duopoly enjoyed by Cisco and 
Juniper in core routers (devices that 
forward, rather than carry traffic). The large 
civil aircraft jet engine market has also been 
a big beneficiary of increased traffic, aiding 
key suppliers GE Aviation and Rolls Royce. 
Growing electronic content that today 
accounts for 10% of civil aircraft material 
costs have made avionic suppliers such as 
Honeywell and Rockwell Collins excellent 
long-term investments. Other beneficiaries 
include companies exposed to the $38.5bn 
airport infrastructure market, driven by 
traffic growth, secondary airports and 
emerging market demand (for instance, India 
expects to grow its airport count from 80 to 
500 over the next decade). The growth in 
airports closely resembles the development 
of Internet datacentres run by the likes of 
Telecity, which allow (telecom) carriers to 
hand off or terminate (data) traffic. Likewise, 
the threats faced by airports and airlines 
that underpin the huge airport security 
market equally apply to the security 
software market with shared focus on 
perimeter security (firewalls) and screening 
technologies (IPS). Just as traffic growth 
drove the need for Air Traffic Control (ATC) in 
order to prevent collisions and expedite 

traffic flow, so the migration of 
applications to the Cloud is generating 
demand for technologies that provide 
application control (ADCs), network visibility 
(DPI) and route (WAN) optimisation. 

While companies that carry, manage and 
secure traffic are likely to continue to benefit 
from ongoing growth, the experience of the 
aviation market appears to confirm our view 
that new applications made possible by 
cheap and highly available traffic are likely to 
provide the best investment opportunities. 
The Kelly Act of 1925, which handed over 
airmail service to private operators, resulted 
in airmail becoming the first commercial 
aviation application, and led to the 
formation of Pan American Airways and 
other airmail operators. As is common with 
new applications, limited initial success 
was followed by dramatic adoption – a new 
ten-day airmail service between Rose Bay, 
New South Wales and Southampton resulted 
in the volume of mail actually exceeding 
aircraft storage space. The availability of 
charter airlines made it possible for Vladimir 
Raitz in 1950 to establish the package 
holiday industry when he organised a trip  
to Corsica using a non-scheduled flight. By 
chartering an aircraft and filling (almost) 
every seat, Raitz significantly reduced the 
unit costs of his air transport, which he 
then bundled with accommodation in order 
not to fall foul of minimum fares set by the 
regulator. While organised tours were already 
well-established (by Thomas Cook in 1841); 
cheap package holidays made possible by 
Raitz’s company Horizon Holidays (and 
competitors such as Thomson and Lunn Poly) 
delivered “low cost travel for the masses”. 
While less than 2% of the British population 
took overseas holidays in 1952, 2.5m Britons 
were taking package holidays abroad by the 

While airlines have proven largely uninvestable almost every 
area within the aviation infrastructure market has benefited 
from traffic growth

170
number of airlines 
entering bankrupty 
since 1978

the plight of legacy 
carriers once the 
overall market 
decelerates is a useful 
parable to the risk 
posed to technology 
incumbents by a 
cheaper form of 
computing

after significant 
consolidation, the 
airliner market today  
is a duopoly between 
Boeing and airbus

the growth in airports 
closely resembles the 
development of 
internet datacentres 
run by the likes of 
telecity, which allow 
(telecom) carriers to 
hand off or terminate 
(data) traffic

THe NeW CYCLe UPdATe:
THe INTeRNeT ANd THe MAss AdOPTION OF IT continued



Manager’s report and portfolio analysis/ the new cycles update: the internet and the mass adoption of it 21

polar Capital technology trust plc/ annual report & financial statements for the year ended 30 april 2012

p
o

r
tf

o
li

o
  a

n
a

ly
s

is

end of the 1960s, rising to 11m by the end of 
the 1980s. The relaxation of foreign exchange 
controls in 1970 marked the apogee for  
the package holiday industry, which 
subsequently became increasingly price 
competitive as supply caught up with 
demand. Soaring oil prices following the 1973 
Yom Kippur war resulted in the bankruptcy of 
a number of operators including Horizon and 
Clarksons, whose infamous collapse left 
49,000 UK holidaymakers stranded overseas. 
However they played a key role in advancing 
a number of new ‘applications’ (such as travel 
agencies, bureau de change and fractional 
ownership) while contributing greatly to 
mass travel, which resulted in tourism 
becoming the world’s largest single industry 
by the early 1990s.

While package holidays helped accelerate the 
trend towards mass travel, the advent of 
the express transportation industry is the 
most dramatic example of new market 
creation made possible by cheap and highly 
available air travel. While an air cargo 
market had existed since the early days of 
commercial aviation, it was fragmented and 
reliant on use of space in passenger airlines, 
which meant that freight depended on 
interlining (cooperation between carriers). 
Prompted by a booming computer market 
and its use of high value parts, Fred Smith 
established Federal Express (today: FedEx) in 
1973 as an integrated air-ground cargo service 
which introduced the idea of one carrier being 
responsible for a piece of cargo from pick-up 
to delivery. Once the 1977 Airline Deregulation 
Act removed route restrictions that had 
previously limited all-cargo airlines, the 
concept of time definite delivery could 
become a practical reality. The simplicity of 
the product summed up in a 1978 advertising 
campaign – ‘‘When it absolutely, positively has 

to be there overnight’ – belied its impact. By 
delivering high value inputs at the right time, 
express delivery enabled ‘just in time’ (JIT) 
manufacturing – a concept pioneered by 
Toyota that minimised the interval between 
processes, allowing companies to significantly 
reduce their inventories. In the 20 years after 
deregulation, integrated carriers like FedEx 
and DHL experienced a 250-fold increase in 
traffic which had a significant impact on the 
US inventory to sales ratio and helped reduce 
logistic costs from 15.7% of GDP in 1980  
to just 8.3% by 2010. Express delivery has 
also been an important enabler for the 
technology industry by significantly reducing 
working capital and making possible ‘build  
to order’ businesses such as Dell Computer. 

Echoing the advent of new applications in 
the aviation market, plentiful bandwidth 
and cheap computing have presaged the 
development of a number of key Internet 
applications (online advertising, 
e-Commerce, SaaS and social networking) 
described elsewhere in this report. Superior 
economics associated with public Clouds  
are likely to drive an additional wave of 
applications over the coming years. A number 
of these will build on the success enjoyed by 
SaaS by similarly combining mass scale and 
multi-tenancy with an Internet delivery model 
that eliminates upfront costs and enables 
customers to ‘try before they buy’. In addition 
to ‘Platform as a Service’ (application 
development tools and runtime services)  
and ‘Infrastructure as a Service” (the provision 
of raw computer memory, storage and 
networking), other applications such as 
‘desktop’, ‘gaming’, ‘surveillance’ and 
‘translation’ are likely to be increasingly 
delivered as services. Cloud storage is likely 
to gain further traction as enterprises 
increasingly turn to public Clouds to store 

New applications made possible by cheap and highly available 
traffic are likely to provide the best investment opportunities

250x
increase in intergrated 
cargo carriers traffic  
in the 20 years after 
deregulation

airmail (became)  
the first commercial 
aviation application 
and led to the 
formation of pan 
american airways and 
other airmail operators

Cheap package holidays 
made possible by 
Horizon Hoidays 
delivered “low cost 
travel for the masses”

the advent of the 
express transportation 
industry is the most 
dramatic example of 
new market creation 
made possible by cheap 
and highly available  
air travel



IT’s HAPPeNINg AgAIN. The Internet has driven the mass adoption of IT, just as cheap and accessible air travel helped 
tourism become the world’s largest single industry by the early 1990s.

Mass  
Adoption

the speed and economics of flight were transformed by  
the jet engine resulting in the dramatic adoption of air 
transportation, the airline industry accounting for 95% of 
transatlantic travel by 1965. likewise the advent of charter 
airlines and the ‘package holiday’ delivered genuine low cost 
overseas travel for the masses. While less than 2% of the 
British population took overseas holidays in 1952, more than  
11 million enjoyed package holidays by the end of the 1980s. 
Just as hub and spoke networks significantly expanded the 
market for air travel so smartphones have transformed the  
reach of the internet which today boasts 2.2bn users that 
generate 4.7bn Google searches, 526m facebook visits and 
consume 98m hours of youtube video every day.

iMaGE: Caorle, italy

Cheap and ubiquitous internet access, together  
with the proliferation of smartphones and tablets 
has enabled the mass consumption of technology, 
once the preserve of it departments and so-called 
‘early adopters’. 

25bn
Cumulative downloads from apple’s appstore

75%
the percentage of information today being  
created by consumers
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data. At the end of 2011, Amazon’s Simple 
Storage Service (S3) Cloud storage service 
stored 762bn objects, nearly tripling during 
the year. On the consumer side, Cloud storage 
offerings from Dropbox and others are likely 
to benefit from increased bandwidth speeds 
and a proliferation of Internet-enabled 
devices. Cloud synchronisation, which 
automates synchronisation of digital content 
across multiple devices, should also benefit 
from these same trends. One other 
‘application’ worthy of mention is the 
so-called ‘Internet of Things’ made possible 
by the proliferation of sensors and 
actuators, cheap connectivity and the 
adoption of IPv6 which will create sufficient 
Internet addresses for every device on the 
planet. While the vision of the “physical world 
becoming a type of information system” is 
by nature, more long-term, ubiquitous 
wireless connectivity is likely to advance the 
cause of a number of sub-themes including 
home automation and smart metering. 

These new applications will further add  
to the explosion of data that has already 
accompanied increased ubiquity of 
computing and pervasive applications such 
as social networking. According to IDC, the 
amount of information created and 
replicated in 2011 surpassed 1.8 zettabytes 
(equivalent to 1.8tr gigabytes), growing more 
than nine-fold since 2006. Much of this data 
is being generated naturally through 
smartphone (the world’s 5 billion mobile 
phones transmit 6 petabytes of data every 
month) and social media usage, IDC 
estimating that 75% of all information is 
today created by consumers. Due to their 
large user bases, applications such as 
Facebook and Twitter are generating 
particularly vast data sets; Facebook’s 

c.900m monthly users each create 90 pieces 
of content every month while uploading 
100m photos per day. Twitter’s 140m daily 
active users generate 340m ‘Tweets’ and a 
staggering 1.6bn search queries every day. 
The Twitter ecosystem is said to produce 
eight terabytes of data per day, eight times 
greater than that produced by the New York 
Stock Exchange. Massive data sets can also 
be generated by transactional data (Walmart 
handles more than 1m customer transactions 
every hour)and in the real world due to the 
proliferation of sensors; a GE90 jet engine 
generates 20 terabytes of operational 
information during just one hour of use, 
roughly equivalent to all the information 
held in the Library of Congress. In addition, 
vast data sets have been created via 
applications such as Google Earth (70Tb  
of raw data), YouTube (45Tb in 2006) and 
Wikipedia (which is fifty times bigger  
than the Encyclopedia Britannica). 

The ability to process this vast data (courtesy 
of cheap computing, storage and open-
source tools) has created a significant new 
market, so-called ‘big data’ which is projected 
to grow at a 40% CAGR from 2010 and will 
represent a $16.9bn opportunity by 2015. 
Internet companies are among the most 
aggressive adopters of big data solutions; 
Facebook is reportedly powering the world’s 
largest Hadoop analytic data warehouse 
while eBay uses Teradata to process more 
than 100 petabytes every day. While both 
eBay and Facebook are likely to use their vast 
databases to improve recommendations  
to users, Boeing believes that better jet 
engine analytics will help them improve  
fuel consumption and optimise fleet 
performance. While large companies 
(especially Internet ones) have been using 

THe NeW CYCLe UPdATe:
THe INTeRNeT ANd THe MAss AdOPTION OF IT continued

Plentiful bandwidth and cheap computing have presaged the 
development of a number of key Internet applications

15.7%  
to 8.3%
Decline in logistic costs 
as % of GDp between 
1980 and 2012

Express delivery has 
also been an important 
enabler for the 
technology industry by 
significantly reducing 
working capital and 
making possible ‘build 
to order’ businesses

superior economics 
associated with public 
Clouds are likely to 
drive an additional 
wave of applications 
over the coming years

new applications  
will further add  
to the explosion of 
data that has already 
accompanied increased 
ubiquity of computing 
and pervasive 
applications such as 
social networking



While companies that carry, manage and secure traffic  
are likely to benefit from ongoing growth, new applications 
made possible by widespread adoption often provide the 
best investment opportunities. this was certainly the case  
in aviation where increased traffic and more mature 
infrastructure created new markets  such as airmail, branded 
hotels and package holidays. the most dramatic example of 
this was the experience of federal Express which established 
the express delivery industry following the deregulation of 
the air cargo market. in addition to the 250 fold increase in 
traffic enjoyed by the integrated carriers during the twenty 
years post deregulation, express delivery led to the 
widespread adoption of Just in time (Jit) manufacturing.  
this helped fuel a productivity boom by reducing logistic 
costs from 15.7% of Us GDp in 1980 to just 8.3% by 2010. 

iMaGE: the Hub of federal Express in roissy.  
photo by Etienne DE MalGlaivE/Gamma-rapho via Getty images

New  
Applications

24

IT’s HAPPeNINg AgAIN. Just as the growth in air travel created new market opportunities, so mass adoption of the 
Internet has spawned a plethora of new applications, including eCommerce and social networking. 

plentiful bandwidth and cheap computing have  
led to the development of a number of key internet 
applications. the superior economics and elasticity 
associated with public Clouds are likely to drive a wave 
of new applications over the coming years. 

51,000
number of processor cores recently linked at  
aWs to create a virtual HpC cluster

20tb
amount of data created by a GE90 jet engine 
in just one hour of use
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‘big data’ applications for some time,  
the Public Cloud is beginning to enable 
smaller organisations to access the 
significant and scalable computing required. 
CycleComputing, an Amazon Web Services 
(AWS) customer that creates high 
performance computing (HPC) clusters in 
the Cloud, recently linked 51,000 processors 
from across AWS to test potential cancer 
compounds. According to its CEO,  
it took just three hours and cost less than 
$15,000 to complete analysis that would 
have required between $20-25m worth of 
supercomputing infrastructure. This idea  
of Cloud supercomputing is also being used 
by Constellation Technologies to process 
human genome data in order to deliver 
personalised medicine. Just as express 
delivery allowed companies to manage 
inventories in real-time, ‘big data’ (together 
with ‘in-memory analytics’) may result in 
companies being able to optimise revenue 
aspects of their business in real-time. 

Dramatic improvements in cost and speed, 
together with the adoption of mobile 
computing have made the Internet as 
ubiquitous as air travel. With more than 
2.2bn users (32% of the world’s population) 
the Internet has become so all-encompassing 
that it is (genuinely) running out of IP 
addresses. Usage patterns are truly 
staggering – 4.7bn Google searches, 526m 
Facebook visits, and over 98m hours of 
YouTube video watched every day. As yet 
there are few signs of a slowdown: while it 
took seven years to sell 20m smartphones  
it took only 20 months to sell 20m tablets. 
Since its inception in 2008, the Apple app 
store has delivered 25bn cumulative 
downloads. The Internet is in rude health - 
and yet it remains in its infancy given that 

90% of it has been created in the last two 
years alone. Cloud computing and its mass 
produced IT has barely begun to scratch the 
surface beyond ‘Software-as-a-Service’, 
which augers well given the $241bn 
opportunity it is forecast to represent by 
2020. ‘Big data’ is a big deal, as it appears  
to be the application most likely to change 
business processes in the way that Federal 
Express did. Incumbents are unlikely to fare 
well in what is likely to prove the most 
disruptive period for the technology sector 
post the PC. Having repelled the earliest 
(dot com) entrants, legacy technology 
companies appear in the midst of a period  
of frenzied M&A, reminiscent of airline 
consolidation that bought a little time for 
incumbents in the mid 1980s. Unfortunately 
for them, we expect the impact of the new 
technology cycle to play out in a way similar 
to the experience of the UK travel industry, 
which in real terms tripled in size between 
1951 and 1996. However all the growth 
occurred in overseas travel, which increased 
more than eighteen fold while domestic 
travel flat-lined for more than four decades.

Ben Rogoff

dramatic improvements in cost and speed, together with 
the adoption of mobile computing have made the Internet  
as ubiquitous as air travel

18x
Growth in UK overseas 
travel market between 
1951 – 1996

the twitter ecosystem 
is said to produce eight 
terabytes of data per 
day, eight times greater 
than that produced by 
the new york stock 
Exchange

the ability to process 
this vast data has 
created a significant 
new market, so-called 
‘big data’ which is 
projected to grow at  
a 40% CaGr from 2010 
and will represent a 
$16.9bn opportunity  
by 2015

Just as express delivery 
allowed companies to 
manage inventories in 
real-time, ‘big data’ may 
result in companies 
being able to optimise 
revenue aspects of  
their business

THe NeW CYCLe UPdATe:
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Key data
as at 30 April 2012

Financial highlights
As at

30 April 2012 
As at

30 April 2011
Movement 

%

Total net assets £503,292,000 £468,716,000 +7.4

Net assets per ordinary share 392.56p 368.74p +6.5

Ordinary shares in issue 128,208,023 127,111,211 +0.9

Price per ordinary share 387.00p 373.50p +3.6

Subscription shares in issue 24,798,179 25,294,991 -2.0

Price per subscription share 12.75p 25.75p -50.5

exchange rates
As at

30 April 2012 
As at

30 April 2011

US$ to £ 1.6239 1.6680

Japanese Yen to £ 129.66 135.34

Euro to £ 1.2269 1.1242

for the year to  
30 April 2012

Benchmark Change over the year to 30 April 2012

Local 
Currency

%

sterling 
adjusted

%

Dow Jones World Technology (total return) +5.5 +8.3

Other Indices over the year to 30 April 2012 (total return)

FTSE World – -2.6

FTSE All-share – -2.0

S&P 500 composite +4.8 +7.6

for the year to 
30 April

2012 2011

Ongoing charges ratio (see page 43) 1.22% 1.23%

Ongoing charges ratio including performance fee 1.22% 2.01%

PORTFOLIO ReVIeW
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Historic Performance
for the years ended 30 April 

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Total Assets less current 
liabilities (£m) 287.2 221.0 306.6 236.4 358.2 335.5 300.4 274.2 398.6 468.7 503.3

NAV per share (pence) 

– undiluted for warrants 
which expired in 2005 192.8 148.3 208.1 205.0 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

– diluted for warrants 
which expired 2005 178.5 141.3 193.7 189.8 255.9 239.7 226.7 216.8 315.1 368.7 392.6

– undiluted for  
subscription shares 
issued in February 2011 n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 368.7 392.6

Share price (pence) 165.0 120.5 164.8 165.5 245.0 228.0 190.8 183.0 306.8 373.5 387.0

Indices of growth1

Share price 100.0 73.0 99.9 100.3 148.5 138.2 115.6 110.9 185.9 226.4 234.5

Net asset value per share2 100.0 79.2 108.5 106.3 143.4 134.3 127.0 121.4 176.5 206.6 219.9

Dow Jones World 
Technology Index  
(Sterling) 100.0 71.8 86.2 78.1 103.1 101.0 102.5 96.9 135.4 141.7 153.5

The Company commenced trading on 16 December 1996 and the share price on the first day was 96.0p per share and the 
NAV per share was 97.5p. 

Notes:
1. Rebased to 100 at 30 April 2002.
2. The net asset value per share growth is based on NAV per share as adjusted for warrants. From 2005 onwards the total net assets figures have been 

calculated in accordance with IFRS, with investments valued at market bid price. Prior to 2005 investments were valued at market mid price.
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PORTFOLIO ReVIeW continued

Market Capitalisation of underlying investments 
as at 30 April 2012

less than Us$2bn 14.5%
(2011:18.1%)

Us$2bn-Us$10bn 15.4%
(2011:15.3%)

Over Us$10bn 70.1%
(2011:66.6%)

% of invested assets

Previous figures (@ 30/4/11)

Breakdown of investments by geographic region
as at 30 April 2012

Asia & Pacific
£87,425,000 17.5%

(2011:19.3%) europe
£32,915,000 6.7%
(2011: 8.9%)

North America
£368,247,000 72.9%
(2011: 69.6%)
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Classification of group investments 
as at 30 April 2012

Total

North
 America

%
europe

%
Asia

%

30 April
2012

%

30 April
2011

%

Computing 20.1 0.5 2.2 22.8 21.0

Components 0.5 – 0.5 1.0 0.8

Software 18.7 1.8 0.5 21.0 20.7

Semiconductors 11.7 1.8 8.3 21.8 23.1

Healthcare – – – – 1.0

Telecoms / media – 0.4 – 0.4 0.9

Services 1.5 0.1 0.2 1.8 4.5

Communications equipment 11.6 1.7 1.6 14.9 17.1

Internet / consumer 8.1 – 3.8 11.9 7.6

Clean energy 0.6 – – 0.6 0.1

Defence / security – 0.2 – 0.2 0.2

Other sectors 0.1 – 0.4 0.5 0.6

Unquoted Investments – 0.2 – 0.2 0.2

Total investments 72.9 6.7 17.5 97.1 97.8

Other net assets (excluding loans) 5.4 1.9 1.5 8.8 8.4

Loans (4.2) – (1.7) (5.9) (6.2)

grand total (net assets of £503,292,000) 74.1 8.6 17.3 100.0 –

At 30 April 2011 (net assets of £468,716,000) 70.9 9.7 19.4 – 100.0
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Value of Holding % of net assets

30 April
 2012

 £’000

30 April
 2011

 £’000
30 April

 2012
30 April

 2011

Apple 61,142 38,468 12.1* 8.2*

Apple is a leading supplier of personal computers and digital media products that feature the company’s proprietary OS 
X operating system. The company has become synonymous with the explosion in digital media as evidenced by market 
share gains in its core business and the spectacular success of its iTunes,iPhone and iPad offerings. Having redefined 
the smartphone category with the iPhone, Apple’s newest product – the iPad has essentially created the tablet market.

Microsoft 23,264 15,610 4.6 3.3

Microsoft is the largest software company in the world. Founded in 1975, the company has built a dominant 
franchise in desktop software through its ubiquitous Windows operating system and Office productivity software. 
While the company is unlikely to be a net beneficiary from the transition towards Cloud computing, an ageing PC 
installed base and a new operating system should create favourable near term tailwinds.

google 22,921 18,505 4.6 3.9

Google is the dominant provider of Internet search and online advertising, provider of web applications and tools,  
as well as a developer of software and mobile applications. The company operates a leading index of web sites and 
media content and offers an auction based advertising platform. By helping content owners to efficiently find 
customers online, Google remains a critical element in the growth of Internet advertising and e-commerce.

IBM 15,293 20,350 3.0 4.3

International Business Machines (IBM) is one of the world's leading providers of enterprise solutions, offering a 
broad portfolio of hardware, IT services and software solutions. Whilst the company's revenue growth rate has 
moderated over recent years, it has been able to deliver fairly consistent earnings per share growth as a result of 
acquisitions, cost-saving initiatives and share repurchases.

Intel 13,841 9,592 2.7 2.0

Intel is the world’s largest supplier of semiconductor chips. The company designs and manufactures microprocessors, 
boards and semiconductor components that are used in computers, servers, and networking and communication 
products. As the world’s largest supplier of microprocessors, Intel enjoys a worldwide market share of more than 75%. 

Qualcomm 13,365 12,694 2.7 2.7

Qualcomm is the world leader in wireless code division multiple access (CDMA) technologies for mobile 
communications. The company has more than 3,000 patents for CDMA and licenses its IP to the world's leading 
handset and infrastructure providers. The company also sells chipsets via its QCT division. Recent settlements 
with Broadcom (2009) and Nokia (2008) resulted in the removal of Qualcomm's legal overhang.

Oracle 11,415 20,316 2.3 4.3

Oracle is the leading vendor of relational database management systems (RDBMS) and is the world’s second largest 
software company, with offerings that span database systems, middleware and broad range of applications such as 
ERP, CRM and SCM. Post its acquisition of Sun Microsystems, the company has begun to introduce vertically 
integrated systems such as its Exaseries products that combine Oracle software and Sun hardware.

Cisco 10,892 10,183 2.2 2.2

Cisco Systems is a preeminent provider of Internet protocol (IP)-based equipment that is used to carry data, voice 
and video traffic. In addition to its core router and switch offerings, the company also produces IP telephony 
products, set-top boxes and videoconferencing systems. Although the company should benefit from data traffic 
growth, this dynamic is being offset by intensifying competition in its core (switching) market.

* This investment represented less than 5% of the portfolio at the date of investment 

PORTFOLIO ReVIeW
/ north america
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PORTFOLIO ReVIeW
/ north america

equity investments % of net assets 
as at 30 April 2012

Value of Holding % of net assets

30 April
 2012

 £’000

30 April
 2011

 £’000
30 April

 2012
30 April

 2011

eMC 7,512 8,974 1.5 1.9

EMC is a leading provider of enterprise storage systems that allow its customers to store, manage and retrieve 
massive amounts of information. In addition to its position in storage area networks (SANs), EMC also offers 
network-attached file servers and a wide array of software designed to manage, protect and share data. The 
company is the majority owner of VMware and has made a number of promising acquisitions of next-generation 
storage vendors that should help support growth going forwards.

salesforce.com 6,521 4,324 1.3 0.9

A leading provider of customer relationship management (CRM) software, Salesforce.com is a standard bearer for a 
new software delivery model commonly known as ‘software as a service’ (SAAS). By eliminating many of the upfront 
and ancillary costs associated with the prevailing licence model, the ability to deliver software ‘on demand’ is helping 
Salesforce.com not only expand the applicability of its core product but is also helping the company become a much 
broader application infrastructure provider.

Texas Instruments 5,898 6,389 1.2 1.4

An early pioneer in the field of semiconductors, TI is today a leading provider of both digital signal processors and 
analogue / mixed signal chips. The company has adopted a 'fab-light' manufacturing model which allows it to better 
manage utilisation rates during downturns allowing it to continue to generate strong free cash flows. Last year's 
acquisition of long-term rival National Semi should allow TI to extend its analog market share while better utilising 
its industry leading 300m fabs.

Citrix systems 5,148 5,056 1.0 1.1

Citrix Systems offer a suite of products that help its customers compute over the wide area network (WAN). Its core 
product is well established, having been used to deliver Windows desktops and applications from remote servers. 
Newer offerings allow full desktop images (VDI) to be delivered over the Internet, SaaS collaboration via its GoTo 
product range, and a delivery controller that helps improve application performance.

Network Appliance 5,124 4,757 1.0 1.0

Commonly known as NetApp, this company is a leading vendor of network-attached storage (NAS) systems that are 
often deployed by midsized and large enterprises. Although NAS was once considered to be inferior to storage area 
network (SAN) alternatives, the technology is well placed to benefit from further adoption of server virtualisation, 
unified storage and the shift towards 10G Ethernet. As such NetApp has been able to consistently grow its market 
share against almost all incumbent storage vendors.

Red Hat 5,027 3,437 1.0 0.7

Red Hat dominates the market for Linux, an open-source operating system (OS), that competes against Microsoft 
Windows and a number of Unix variants. With eight of the top ten public Cloud vendors already running RHEL, Linux 
appears to be the operating system of choice for large scale Cloud deployments. Recent efforts to integrate 
virtualisation and middleware should provide the company with additional sources of growth. 

Juniper Networks 4,850 5,747 1.0 1.2

Juniper Networks is a global supplier of core and edge routers to service providers and large enterprises. Its products 
help carry data across IP networks and the company has also entered the market for other next-generation IP 
technologies such as network security and WAN optimisation. 



portfolio analysis/ investment Manager’s report32

polar Capital technology trust plc/ annual report & financial statements for the year ended 30 april 2012

Value of Holding % of net assets

30 April
 2012

 £’000

30 April
 2011

 £’000
30 April

 2012
30 April

 2011

F5 Networks Networking equipment 4,560 4,004 0.9 0.9

eBay eCommerce 4,549 – 0.9  – 

Check Point software Technologies Security software 4,242 – 0.8 –

Amazon.com  eCommerce 4,120 2,355 0.8 0.5

Microchip Technology Semiconductors 4,060  – 0.8  – 

Lam Research Semiconductors 3,940 3,348 0.8 0.7

Integrated device Technology Semiconductors 3,913 3,056 0.8 0.7

Aruba Networks Networking equipment 3,324 2,673 0.7 0.6

Rackspace Hosting Co-location services 3,290  – 0.7  – 

Teradyne Semiconductor equipment 3,284  – 0.7 – 

Adobe systems Enterprise software 3,279 2,213 0.6 0.5

sandisk Semiconductors 3,214 3,241 0.6 0.7

Broadcom Semiconductors 3,155 4,101 0.6 0.9

stratasys 3D printing 3,152 1,387 0.6 0.3

LsI Corporation Semiconductors 3,136 – 0.6 –

TIBCO software Enterprise software 3,038 – 0.6 –

Concur Technologies Software-as-a-Service 3,014 2,776 0.6 0.6

NeTgeAR Networking equipment 2,964 – 0.6 –

VeriFone Point of sales equipment 2,933 2,662 0.6 0.6

Cognizant Technology solutions IT services 2,844 5,422 0.6 1.2

Nuance Communications Enterprise software 2,841 – 0.6 –

VMware Enterprise software 2,753 2,630 0.5 0.6

Fusion-10 Storage 2,691 – 0.5 –

Netscout systems Networking equipment 2,688 – 0.5 –

Polycom Videoconferencing 2,676 2,729 0.5 0.6

OPNeT Technologies Networking equipment 2,651 2,355 0.5 0.5

QLIK Technologies Enterprise software 2,617 1,922 0.5 0.4

Ariba Software-as-a-Service 2,586 1,563 0.5 0.3

Riverbed Technology Networking equipment 2,570 3,190 0.5 0.7

Amdocs Telecom billing 2,562 – 0.5 –

semtech Semiconductors 2,470 – 0.5 –

Microstrategy Enterprise software 2,448 – 0.5 –

Intuit Enterprise software 2,427 3,997 0.5 0.9

National Instruments Instrumentation 2,345 1,977 0.5 0.4

Priceline.com eCommerce 2,342 – 0.5 –

PORTFOLIO ReVIeW continued
/ north america
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equity investments % of net assets 
as at 30 April 2012

Value of Holding % of net assets

30 April
 2012

 £’000

30 April
 2011

 £’000
30 April

 2012
30 April

 2011

dell Computer hardware 2,317 1,859 0.5 0.4

Lattice semiconductor Semiconductors 2,316 2,627 0.5 0.6

Teradata Data warehousing 2,235 3,016 0.4 0.6

Ixia Telecom equipment 2,037 1,841 0.4 0.4

Cavium Semiconductors 1,986 – 0.4 –

Altera Semiconductors 1,971 3,796 0.4 0.8

sourcefire Security software 1,887 478 0.4 0.1

Marvell Technology Semiconductors 1,846  – 0.4  – 

Linkedin Internet 1,834  – 0.4  – 

Xilinx Semiconductors 1,769 1,505 0.4 0.3

LogMein Software as a Service 1,759  – 0.3  – 

Kenexa Software as a Service 1,753  – 0.3  – 

Cerner Healthcare IT 1,748  – 0.3  – 

silicom Components 1,659 844 0.3 0.2

Itron Smart metering 1,658  – 0.3  – 

Infinera Optical equipment 1,564  – 0.3  – 

Corning Speciality glass/materials 1,487 3,647 0.3 0.8

Fortinet Security software 1,447  – 0.3  – 

Parametric Technology Application software 1,389 2,085 0.3 0.5

envivio Telecom equipment 1,335  – 0.3  – 

WaterFurnace Environmental 1,282  – 0.3

ellie Mae Services 1,262 1,101 0.2 0.2

Anaren Microwave Telecom equipment 1,222  – 0.2  – 

Mastercard Payment services 1,115  – 0.2  – 

Move Internet 1,054  – 0.2  – 

M/A Com Technology solutions Semiconductors 1,041  – 0.2  – 

CommVault services Storage software 769 2,460 0.2 0.5

PROs Holdings Application software 708 1,832 0.1 0.4

Cypress semiconductor Semiconductors 668  – 0.1  – 

sciQuest Software as a Service 659 1,789 0.1 0.4

8x8 Telecom Services 651  – 0.1  – 

Pervasive software Application software 571  – 0.1  – 

Nanometrics Semiconductor Equipment 232  – –  – 

Infoblox Application software 125  –  –  – 

Total North American investments 368,247 72.9
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PORTFOLIO ReVIeW continued
/ Europe

Value of Holding % of net assets

30 April
 2012

 £’000

30 April
 2011

 £’000
30 April

 2012
30 April

 2011

sAP 6,558 4,299 1.3 0.9

SAP is a leading provider of Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) software that is entrenched in most large companies 
today, from manufacturing to financial services. The company has been leveraging its strengths in its core business 
and investing in emerging technologies both via acquisitions and internal R&D efforts. New products that target 
mobile, Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) and large datasets (known as ‘Big Data’) are expected to become more 
important drivers of growth going forward.

ericsson Telecom equipment 4,502 7,119 0.9 1.5

ARM Semiconductor IP 3,353 4,795 0.7 1.0

AsML Semiconductor capital equipment 2,738 4,419 0.5 0.9

spirent Communications Telecom equipment 1,966 2,116 0.4 0.5

Adva Optical Networking Optical equipment 1,914 1,693 0.4 0.4

Ingenico Point of sales equipment 1,901 1,744 0.4 0.4

Nice systems Telecom equipment 1,820 1,949 0.4 0.4

sdL Services 1,669 2,551 0.3 0.5

dialog semiconductor Semiconductors 1,501 2,020 0.3 0.4

AsM International Semiconductor equipment 1,266  – 0.3  – 

Microgen Application software 874 900 0.2 0.2

software Radio Technology Telecom equipment 804 1,154 0.2 0.2

Anite Telecom equipment 723 1,679 0.1 0.4

gemalto Components 639  – 0.1  – 

Herald Ventures Limited 
Partnership Unquoted investment 317 461 0.1 0.1

Herald Ventures Limited 
Partnership II Unquoted investment 261 240 0.1 0.1

Low Carbon Accelerator Environmental 109 480 – 0.1

Total european investments 32,915 6.7
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/ asia & pacific

equity investments % of net assets 
as at 30 April 2012

Value of Holding % of net assets

30 April
 2012

 £’000

30 April
 2011

 £’000
30 April

 2012
30 April

 2011

samsung electronics 19,679 15,698 3.9 3.3

Samsung manufactures a very wide array of products ranging from components to finished products for both 
consumer electronics and industrial end markets. The company is particularly renowned for its high global market 
share in the fields of memory semiconductors, LCD displays, and mobile handsets.

Taiwan semiconductor 11,193 9,383 2.2 2.0

TSMC is the world’s largest semiconductor foundry, providing a full range of services from design to product delivery. 
The company is becoming increasingly dominant at the leading-edge of the technology road-map, where smaller rivals 
are struggling to adequately resource their product offerings.

Tencent Holdings 6,764 4,904 1.3 1.0

Tencent Holdings is China’s largest Internet company by revenue, and offers a full suite of online services – primarily 
entertainment and communication related – to users. The company originally started out as an ‘instant messaging’ 
service provider back in 1999, and has gone on to dominate this market in China with over 400 million active accounts. 
The company are now successfully monetising this enormous ‘community’ via add-on services such as online gaming.

Baidu Internet 4,601 2,778 0.9 0.6
Canon Office automation 4,549 5,307 0.9 1.1
Radware Networking equipment 3,920 2,992 0.8 0.6
Quanta Computer Computer hardware 3,498 2,114 0.7 0.5
Hon Hai Precision Industry Electronic manufacturing 2,957 2,600 0.6 0.6
Lenovo group Computer hardware 2,778 3,215 0.6 0.7
Keyence Factory automisation 2,427 1,890 0.5 0.4
Hoya Optical components 2,356 – 0.5 –
Fujitsu IT Services 2,346 3,645 0.5 0.8
Fanuc Factory automation 2,096 2,634 0.4 0.6
Rakuten Internet 1,977  – 0.4  – 
AsM Pacific Technology Semiconductor equipment 1,832 3,223 0.4 0.7
THK Components 1,707  – 0.3  – 
sina Internet 1,624  – 0.3  – 
Fuji Photo Film Office automation 1,580 2,077 0.3 0.4
Kakaku Internet 1,487  – 0.3  – 
digital garage Internet 1,334  – 0.3  – 
AutoNavi Holdings Application software 1,283  1,517 0.3 0.3
MediaTek Semiconductors 1,179  – 0.2  – 
Kingdee International software Application software 982  – 0.2  – 
AsiaInfo Telecom billing 927 2,113 0.2 0.5
Infosys Technologies IT services 848 4,943 0.2 1.1
O-Net Communications Optical equipment 782  – 0.2  – 
Array Networking equipment 719 1,090 0.1 0.2
Unus Technologies Unquoted Investment – – – –

Total Asian & Pacific investments 87,425  17.5  
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Chairman
M B Moule * ^ 
(aged 66)
Appointed to the Board in 2007 and was elected 
Chairman in August 2011. 

Mr Moule was a director of investment trusts at 
Henderson Global Investors, where he had been the 
investment manager for The Bankers Investment 
Trust plc and Law Debenture Corporation plc until his 
retirement in 2003. He is a director of The European 
Investment Trust plc and Montanaro UK Smaller 
Companies Investment Trust plc. He is a member of the 
investment committee of the British Heart Foundation.

Directors
B J D Ashford-Russell 
(aged 53)
Appointed to the Board in 1996. Mr Ashford-Russell is a 
director and founder of Polar Capital Partners. He was 
previously head of the technology team at Henderson 
Global Investors. He managed the Company from launch 
until 30 April 2006. 

Mr Ashford-Russell has served on the Board for over nine 
years and is connected to the investment manager. He 
stands for annual re-election.

S C Bates + * ^ #
(aged 53)
Appointed to the Board in 2011. Mrs Bates is the current 
Chairman of the Association of Investment Companies, 
and a non executive director of St. James’s Place Plc, 
Development Securities Plc, New India Investment Trust 
Plc, Witan Pacific Investment Trust Plc, and JP Morgan 
American Investment Trust Plc. She is also Chairman of 
the Stena (UK) pension fund and Chairman of the Cancer 
Research UK pension fund’s investment committee as 
well as being a member of a number of other charitable 
and pension fund investment committees.

P F Dicks + * ^ # 
(aged 69)
Appointed to the Board in 1996 and elected Senior 
Independent Director in 2004. 

Mr Dicks is Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. 

He is the Chairman of Private Equity Investor plc and 
Sportingbet plc as well as a director of several other 
companies including Standard Microsystems Corporation 
and Graphite Enterprise Trust plc.

Mr Dicks has served on the Board for over nine years 
 and stands for annual re-election.

D J Gamble + * ^ 
(aged 68)
Appointed to the Board in 2002 and chairman of the 
Audit Committee in 2011.

He is Chairman of Hermes Property Unit Trust and 
Montanaro UK Smaller Companies Investment Trust 
plc. Mr Gamble is a director of IBM Pension Trustees 
Ltd., Vencap International plc and Chairman of Dunedin 
Enterprise Investment Trust plc. Mr Gamble was chief 
executive of British Airways Pension Investment 
Management Ltd. until his retirement in 2004.

DIRECTORS

Directors in office at the year end
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TPJ Hames + * ^ #

(aged 50)
Appointed to the Board in 2011. Mr Hames spent 18  
years of his investment career in Singapore. In 1992  
he co-founded Aberdeen Asset Management’s Asian 
operation and as director of Asian equities he oversaw 
regional fund management teams responsible for 
running a number of top-rated and award winning funds. 
He also played an important role in the development 
of Aberdeen’s Global Emerging Markets products. He 
is a director of MMIP Investment Management Limited 
and a consultant to Cenkos Channel Islands Investment 
Management Limited.

R A S Montagu + * ^ # 
(aged 46)
Appointed to the Board in 2007. Mr Montagu co-
founded Montagu Newhall Associates (now Greenspring 
Associates) in 2000, a specialist investor in technology 
and healthcare venture capital industries where he was  
a partner until 2010. 

+ Member of Audit Committee
* Member of Management Engagement Committee
^ Member of Nomination Committee
# Member of Remuneration Committee

The Board considers that the majority of the Directors including Mr Dicks and Mr Gamble, who have both served more 
than nine years, are independent in character and there were no relationships or circumstances which were likely to 
affect or could appear to affect their judgement. In the case of Mr Ashford-Russell the Board has concluded that he 
should not be considered as independent due to his relationship with the investment manager.
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The Directors present their Directors’ Report including the Business Review and the Report on Corporate Governance 
together with the Audited Financial Statements for the Company and Group prepared under International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (“IFRS”) for the year ended 30 April 2012. 

Principal Activities and Status 
The Company is incorporated in England and Wales as a public limited company and domiciled in the United Kingdom. 
It is an investment company as defined in Section 833 of the Companies Act 2006 and its ordinary and subscription 
shares are listed and traded on the London Stock Exchange. 

The Company has no employees or premises and the Board is comprised of non-executive Directors. The day to day 
operations and functions of the Company have been delegated to third parties. 

The ‘close company’ provisions do not apply.

The business of the Company is to provide shareholders with access to a discretionary managed portfolio of 
technology stocks and shares selected on a worldwide basis. The Company’s investment portfolio is a ‘long-only’ fund 
which means that it buys and holds shares to seek appreciation in their value and consequently in the Net Asset Value 
(NAV) of the Company. 

The Company sought to manage its portfolio in such a way as to meet the tests set down in Section 1158 of the 
Corporation Tax Act 2010 and thus retrospectively qualify on an annual basis as an investment trust. This qualification 
permits the accumulation of capital within the portfolio without any liability to UK Capital Gains Tax. HM Revenue 
& Customs approval of the Company’s status as an investment trust has been received in respect of the year ended 
30 April 2011 subject to matters that may arise from any subsequent enquiry into the Company’s tax return. 

The Directors are of the opinion that the Company has and will continue to conduct its affairs so as to continue as an 
investment trust. With effect from 1 January 2012 the conditions and process for approval as an investment trust have 
been simplified. The Directors do not consider that the changes will have any impact on the Company’s status as an 
investment trust. Application for investment trust status under the new process will be made.

The Company has one subsidiary, PCT Finance Limited a wholly owned dealing company whose results are 
consolidated with those of the Company. 

The Company’s ordinary and subscription shares are eligible for inclusion within the stocks and shares component  
of an ISA.

Life of the Company 
The Articles of Association of the Company provide that at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held in 
2015, and at every fifth Annual General Meeting thereafter, a vote on whether the Company should continue will be 
proposed as an ordinary resolution. 

Business Review
The Company is required by the Companies Act 2006 to set out a business review for shareholders to provide a fair 
review of the business of the Group during the financial year to 30 April 2012, the position of the Group at the end of 
the year and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties. 

Full details of the Investment Manager’s activities and its views are given in the Investment Manager’s Report.  
The Board considers that the Chairman’s Statement and the Investment Manager’s Report when read in conjunction 
with the information provided in the Directors’ Report fulfils the requirements of the business review and gives a 
comprehensive analysis of the development and performance of the business of the Group and the position of the 
Group at the end of the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT INCLUDING THE BUSINESS REVIEW 
AND THE REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
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Future Developments
The Board remains positive on the longer-term outlook for technology and the Company will continue to pursue its 
investment objective. The outlook for the future performance is dependent to a significant degree on the world’s 
financial markets and their reactions to economic events and other geo-political forces. The Chairman’s Statement  
and the Investment Manager’s Report comment on the outlook. 

Investment Objective, Policy and Strategy 
Objective and policy 
The Company’s investment objective has since formation been, and will continue to be, to maximise long-term capital 
growth by investing in a diversified portfolio of technology companies around the world. 

As commented on in the Chairman’s statement and detailed in the Notice of Annual General Meeting the Company 
is seeking shareholder approval of a simplified investment policy. This will not change the investment objective but 
seeks to provide a clear and appropriate set of up to date investment restrictions in line with the Financial Services 
Authority and HM Revenue and Customs current requirements.

The portfolio has been managed under and in accordance with the policy and restrictions in the year to 30 April 2012 
and will continue to be managed in such a way until any changes as proposed in resolution 13 in the Notice of Annual 
General Meeting are approved by shareholders.

Technology may be defined as the application of scientific knowledge for practical purposes and technology 
companies are defined accordingly. While this offers a very broad and dynamic investing universe and covers 
many different companies, the portfolio will be focused on technology companies which use technology or which 
develop and supply technological solutions as a core part of their business models. This includes areas as diverse as 
information, media, communications, environmental, healthcare and renewable energy, as well as the more obvious 
applications such as computing and associated industries. 

Rationale 
The Directors believe that the rationale for this objective continues to be valid. Over the last three decades the 
technology industry has been one of the most vibrant, dynamic and rapidly growing segments of the global economy. 
Technology companies offer the potential for substantially faster earnings growth than the broad market, reflecting 
the long-term secular uptrend in technology spending. 

Strategy 
The Company invests its technology assets in a portfolio comprised primarily of international quoted equities which  
is diversified across both regions and sectors within the overall investment objective to manage investment risk. 

Investment approach 
Equities are selected on the basis of their potential for shareholder returns, not on the basis of technology for  
its own sake. Rigorous fundamental analysis is applied with a focus on: 

•	 management quality; 

•	 the identification of new growth markets; 

•	 the globalisation of major technology trends; and 

•	 exploiting international valuation anomalies and sector volatility. 
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Asset allocation 
The portfolio is constructed without specific reference to any individual market, index or benchmark and the Board 
regularly discusses asset allocation. The maximum exposure to any one market may be 100% but the Board has 
agreed a set of parameters which are based upon current market conditions and provides a range which guides the 
Investment Manager depending on market conditions and future expectations. The Board believes this provides the 
necessary flexibility for the Investment Manager to pursue the investment objective, given the dynamic and rapid 
changes in the field of technology, while maintaining a spread of investments. 

As well as the market parameters shown below, the Board also monitors the portfolio’s exposure to different sub-
sectors within technology and the spread of investments across different market capitalisations. Cyclical changes in 
markets and new technologies will bring certain sub-sectors or companies of a particular size or market capitalisation 
into or out of favour. 

Market parameters 
Notwithstanding the ability to invest up to 100% of the portfolio in any one market, with current and foreseeable 
investment conditions the portfolio will be invested in accordance with the objective across worldwide markets within 
the following geographical and market parameters: 

•	 North America  up to 85% of the portfolio;

•	 Europe    up to 40% of the portfolio;

•	 Japan and Asia  up to 55% of the portfolio;

•	 Rest of the world  up to 10% of the portfolio.

The Board has set an aggregate limit of 25% of the portfolio that may be exposed to emerging markets (as defined 
by the MSCI Emerging Markets Index) with specific upper limits for certain countries. 

Largest investment 
The largest single investment that may be held in the portfolio is currently limited to 5% of the portfolio at the time of 
acquisition, except for US and UK government bonds, which might be used as part of the cash management process. 

Unquoted investments 
Investment in unquoted companies may be made from time to time where there has been prior Board approval.  
These investments in aggregate will not exceed 10% of the portfolio, in each case measured at the time of investment. 

Derivatives 
The Investment Manager may also use from time to time derivative instruments as approved by the Board such as 
financial futures, options, contracts for difference and currency hedges. These are used for the purpose of efficient 
portfolio management only. 

Cash and borrowings 
From time to time the Company may hold cash or near cash equivalents if the Investment Manager feels that these 
will at a particular time or over a period enhance the performance of the portfolio. The management of cash is through 
the purchase of appropriate government bonds, money market funds or bank deposits depending on the Investment 
Manager’s view of the investment opportunities. 

The Company may also borrow money to invest in the portfolio over both the long and short-term. Any commitment 
to borrow funds is agreed by the Board. Borrowings may be in currencies which best match the currency in which the 
investments are denominated. The constitution of the Company permits borrowings of up to 100% of net assets but 
the limits agreed by the Board set a range of up to 20% at the time of drawing the relevant borrowings. 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT INCLUDING THE BUSINESS REVIEW  
AND THE REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE continued 
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Gearing 
The Company had a loan facility with ING Bank NV for a 12 month term loan of up to £30m which had been utilised  
in the amount of Japanese Yen 1,634,000,000 and US Dollar 28,200,000. The facility was repaid on 2 August 2011. 

The Company agreed two new loan facilities with ING Bank NV for a total of £30m divided between a £10m facility 
drawn on 2 August 2011 and repayable on 2 August 2012 in the amount of Japanese Yen 375,000,000 and US Dollar 
11,500,000, and a £20m facility drawn on 2 August 2011 and repayable on 2 August 2013 in the amount of Japanese  
Yen 750,000,000 and US Dollar 23,000,000. 

The Company entered into two fixed floating interest rate swap transactions for the £20m facility which will terminate 
on 2 August 2013. Details of the loans are set out in note 19 to the financial statements.

As at 30 April 2012, using the exchange rates prevailing at that date, the sterling amount of the total facility was  
£29.9m (2011: £28.9m).

Performance
At the year end the portfolio comprised of 131 investments with the single largest investment being Apple 
representing 3.9% by book cost or 12.1.% when investment value is used. The portfolio analysis on pages 28 to 35 
provides details on the distribution of investments by market capitalisation, the different sectors in the different 
principal geographies and all the investments.

The changes in the share price, net asset value and benchmark over the financial year are shown on page 26. 

A review and commentary on the investment activities this year and the Investment Manager’s comments and the 
outlook for technology shares are given in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 2 and 3 and the Investment Manager’s 
Report on pages 5 to 13. 

Movement in Net Asset Value (total return) per share 
Over the year to 30 April 2012 the Net Asset Value per share rose by 6.5% compared to the rise in the Benchmark, the 
Dow Jones World Technology Index (total return, sterling adjusted) of 8.3%. 

% % p per share

NAV per share at 30 April 2011  368.74

Benchmark performance 8.3

Portfolio performance vs Benchmark  

asset allocation 2.0   

stock selection -1.8 0.2  

Other factors

due to cash -1.8

due to gearing 1.0  

due to share issues –   

due to management fees and finance costs -1.2 -2.0  

Performance of NAV  6.5

NAV per share at 30 April 2012  392.56
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Key Performance Objectives 
The Board appraises the performance of the Company and the Investment Manager as the key supplier of services 
to the Company against key performance indicators (KPIs). The objectives comprise both specific financial and 
shareholder related measures.

KPI Control process Outcome

The provision of investment returns 
to ordinary shareholders measured 
by long-term NAV growth relative 
performance against the benchmark. 

The Board reviews at each meeting 
the performance of the portfolio and 
the views of the Investment Manager.

The Company’s NAV has, over the 
year to 30 April 2012 underperformed 
the benchmark.  The NAV per share 
rose by 6.5% while the benchmark 
rose 8.3% over the same period. 
The reasons are explained in the 
Chairman’s Statement and the 
Investment Manager’s  Report.

Over the longer term, as shown by 
the historic performance data shown 
on page 27, growth in the NAV has 
exceeded the benchmark.

Monitoring and reacting to  
issues created by the discount  
or premium of the ordinary share 
price to the NAV per ordinary share 
with the aim of reduced discount 
volatility for shareholders.

The Board receives regular 
information on the composition  
of the share register including  
trading patterns and discount/ 
premium levels of the Company’s 
ordinary shares. The Board discusses 
and authorises the issue or buy  
back of shares when appropriate.

A daily NAV per share, diluted when 
appropriate, calculated in accordance 
with the AIC guidelines, is issued to 
the London Stock Exchange.

The discount/premium of the 
ordinary share price to NAV per 
ordinary share ( diluted when 
appropriate) over the year has  
ranged from a maximum discount  
of 9.8% to a premium of 1.1%.

The Company has not bought back 
any shares in the year to 30 April 2012 
and in the same period it has issued  
a total of 1,096,812 ordinary shares 
comprising of the issue of 600,000 
ordinary shares when the issue price 
after costs exceeded the fully diluted 
NAV per ordinary share and 496,812 
issued in satisfaction of the exercise of 
subscription share conversion rights at 
401p or 478p per ordinary share.

To qualify and meet the requirements 
for Sections 1158 and 1159 of the 
Corporation Tax Act 2010.

The Board receives regular financial 
information which discloses the 
current and projected financial 
position of the Company against 
each of the tests set out in  
Sections 1158 and 1159.

This has been achieved for every  
year since launch in 1996.

Assets 
At 30 April 2012 the total net assets of the Group amounted to £503,292,000 compared with £468,716,000  
at 30 April 2011. The Net Asset Value per share rose by 6.5% from 368.74p to 392.56p. 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT INCLUDING THE BUSINESS REVIEW  
AND THE REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE continued 
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Revenue and Dividends 
The gross revenue return for the year was £3,568,000 (2011: £3,585,000) and the net revenue loss after taxation 
amounted to £3,367,000 (2011: Loss £2,889,000). The total return for the year amounted to a profit after tax of 
£30,535,000 (2011: £68,085,000). 

The Company’s revenue varies from year to year and the Board considers the dividend position in each year in order  
to maintain the Company’s status as an investment company. However, due to the level of accumulated revenue  
losses the Company does not expect to pay a dividend for the foreseeable future and Directors do not recommend  
the payment of a dividend. 

The ongoing charges ratio shown on page 26 has been calculated in accordance with new guidance issued by the AIC 
and constitutes the management fee in note 8 and the other administrative expenses as a percentage of average daily 
net assets over the year.

Benchmark 
The Company has a benchmark of the Dow Jones World Technology Index (total return, sterling adjusted) against 
which NAV performance is measured for the purpose of assessing performance fees. 

As at 30 April 2012 the Dow Jones World Technology Index was calculated as a market capitalisation based index of 519 
technology companies worldwide. 74% of the index weighting is in North America, 7% in Europe and 19% in Asia/Pacific. 
By market capitalisation 79% is represented by large companies, 19% by mid-caps and 2% by smaller companies. 

Although the Company has a benchmark, this is neither a target nor an ideal investment strategy. The purpose of the 
benchmark is to set a reasonable return for shareholders above which the Investment Manager is entitled to a share  
of the extra performance it has delivered. 

Business Risks 
In delivering long-term returns to shareholders the identification and monitoring of risk is crucial. In addition to the 
detailed internal controls set out in the Corporate Governance Report the Board seeks to identify, assess and monitor 
risks to the business. 

These relate primarily to economic uncertainties and its particular sphere of activity of investing in worldwide 
stock markets. 

•	 The appropriateness of the investment mandate and strategy is considered as this may lead to a depressed share 
price as investors seek alternative investments or lower risk strategies.

•	 As the Company’s assets comprise mainly of listed equities the principal risks to the performance of the business 
are market related. 

•	 While the portfolio is diversified across a number of stock markets worldwide, the investment mandate is focused 
on technology and thus the portfolio will be more sensitive to investor sentiment and the commercial acceptance 
of technological developments than a general investment portfolio. 

•	 Technology stocks also have greater relative price volatility and are subject to the risks of developing technologies, 
competitive pressures and other factors including the acceptance of new technologies and rapid obsolescence. 

•	 Many companies in the technology sector are smaller companies and are therefore subject to the risks attendant on 
investing in smaller capitalisation businesses. 

•	 There is significant exposure to the economic cycles of Europe, Asia and the US as these are the major investment 
markets for technology stocks and there is exposure to currency risk of those markets.

•	 A very small element of the investment portfolio is invested into unlisted securities. These investments are made 
where they offer specialist management or investment opportunities which would otherwise not be available. At 
the year-end this amounted to less than 0.2% of NAV. 
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•	 The Board has regard to the degree of risk which the Investment Manager incurs in order to generate the investment 
returns and the effect of gearing on the portfolio by borrowed funds which can magnify the portfolio returns per 
share positively or negatively. 

There is a second group of business risks in the form of financial, operational including accounting and taxation, and 
legal and regulatory requirements. 

•	 The financial risks which arise from the investment activities expose the Company to risks such as market price, 
credit, liquidity, foreign currency and interest rates. 

•	 The operational and accounting risks cover disruption to, or failure of, systems and processes provided by the Investment 
Manager including any sub contractors to which the Investment Manager has delegated the task. Including the 
keeping of safe custody records and systems provided by the custodian or sub custodians. Suppliers may deliver sub 
standard services which impact on the Company or its customers. The taxation risk that the Company may fail to obtain 
qualification on an annual basis as an investment trust or recover withholding taxes on overseas investments. 

•	 Legal and regulatory risks include: compliance with the FSA’s Listing Rules and Transparency and Disclosure Rules; 
meeting the provisions of the Companies Act 2006 and other legislation affecting UK companies and compliance 
with accounting standards. 

The policies for managing the risks posed by exposure to market prices, interest rates, foreign currency exchange 
rates, credit and liquidity are set out in note 31 to the accounts. 

Other business risks are managed through regular reporting to the Board on the diversification of the portfolio, market and 
sector views, the investment strategy including analytical performance data and attribution presented by the Investment 
Manager. Any investment in unquoted companies or funds is approved by the Directors before the investment is made.

The Board also receives regular financial information on the Company and discusses the share register and share price 
performance at each meeting. 

Information and guidance on the second group of risks is managed by the use of the Investment Manager or 
professional advisers where necessary and the submission of reports to the Board for discussion and, if required, any 
remedial action or changes considered necessary. 

Management Company and Management of the Portfolio 
As the Company is an investment vehicle for shareholders the Directors have sought to ensure that the business of the 
Company is managed by a leading specialist investment management team and that the investment strategy remains 
attractive to shareholders. 

The Directors believe that a strong working relationship with the investment management team will achieve the 
optimum return for shareholders and to this end value the inclusion on the Board of Mr Ashford-Russell. 

1.  Investment team 
The Investment Manager is Polar Capital LLP (‘Polar Capital’), which is authorised and regulated by the Financial 
Services Authority. 

Under the terms of the investment management agreement Polar Capital provides investment management, 
accounting, company secretarial and administrative services. 

Polar Capital provides a team of technology specialists led by Ben Rogoff. Each member focuses on specific areas 
while Ben has overall responsibility for the portfolio and looks after the US investments. Polar Capital also has 
other specialist and geographically focused investment teams which contribute to idea generation.

2.  Termination arrangements 
The investment management agreement may be terminated by either party by giving 12 months’ notice, but 
under certain circumstances the Company may be required to pay up to one year’s management charges if 
immediate notice is given and compensation will be on a sliding scale if less than 12 months’ notice is given. 
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3.  Continued appointment 
The Board, through the Management Engagement Committee, has reviewed the performance of the Investment 
Manager in managing the portfolio over the longer-term. The review also considered the quality of the other 
services provided by the Investment Manager, including the strength of the investment team, the depth of 
resources and the quality of the shareholder communications. 

The Board, on the recommendation of the Management Engagement Committee, has concluded that on the basis 
of longer-term performance it is in the best interests of shareholders as a whole that the appointment of Polar 
Capital LLP as Investment Manager is continued on the existing terms. 

4.1  Fee arrangements 
4.1.1  Management fee 

•	 1% based on Net Asset Value plus borrowings, on a per share basis, payable quarterly in arrears. Any investments 
in funds managed by Polar Capital are wholly excluded from the base management fee calculation. 

4.1.2 Performance fee 
Performance periods will coincide with the Company’s accounting periods. 

•	 Annual performance fee equal to 15% of the amount by which the increase in the adjusted Net Asset Value per 
share exceeds the total return on the Dow Jones World Technology Index (total return, Sterling adjusted) multiplied 
by the time weighted average of the number of shares in issue during that period, subject to a high water mark. 

•	 The Net Asset Value per share (‘Adjusted NAV per share’) is adjusted for the purposes of the performance 
fee calculation by adding back any accruals for unpaid performance fees, any dividends paid or payable by 
reference to the performance period and the removal of any benefit of share issuance or buy backs. 

•	 High water mark – the performance fee will only be payable if, and to the extent that, the Adjusted NAV per 
share exceeds the highest of: 

•	 the NAV per share on the last day of the previous performance period; 

•	 the Adjusted NAV per share on the last day of a performance period in respect of which a performance  
fee was last paid; and

•	 255.88 pence per share, this being the Adjusted NAV per share as at 30 April 2006 when the current 
performance fee arrangements became effective. 

•	 Any performance fee accrual will be included in the Net Asset Value calculated in accordance with the  
AIC guidelines. 

•	 The performance fee which can be paid by the Company in any one performance period is capped at 2%  
of net assets. 

•	 In the event of a termination of the investment management agreement, the date the agreement is 
terminated will be deemed to be the end of the relevant performance period and any performance fee payable 
shall be calculated as at that date. 

Management fees of £4,885,000 have been paid for the year to 30 April 2012 (2011: £4,452,000). No performance 
fee has been earned for the year to 30 April 2012. A performance fee in respect of the financial year to 30 April 
2011 of £3,337,000 was paid. A high water mark of 368.74 p per ordinary share was established as at 30 April 
2011 which will be used for the payment of any future performance fee. 

Capital Structure 
1. Issued 

The Company’s share capital is divided into ordinary shares of 25p each and subscription shares of 1p each. 
 At the year-end there were 128,208,023 ordinary shares in issue (2011: 127,111,211) and 24,798,179 (2011: 25,294,991) 
subscription shares. 

As at the date of this report there are 128,208,100 ordinary shares in issue and 24,798,092 subscription shares in issue.

Directors’ Reports/ Business Review and the Report on Corporate GovernanceDirectors’ Reports/ Business Review and the Report on Corporate Governance
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2.  Subscription shares
Each subscription share carries the right to subscribe for one ordinary share at 478p per ordinary share from 
1 April 2012 to the last business day of March 2014. After the last business day of March 2014 the right to convert 
the subscription shares will lapse. If 75% or more of the original issue of subscription shares have been converted 
or cancelled then the Company may give notice to all outstanding subscription share holders that a final 
subscription date will take place earlier than March 2014.

3.  Changes during the year
The Company has issued 600,000 ordinary shares during the year at prices between 314.4p per share and 374.5p 
per share. No shares have been issued between the year end and the date of this report. Ordinary shares may be 
issued when the issue price is in excess of the NAV and after costs there is a benefit to existing shareholders.

The Company also issued 496,812 ordinary shares at 401p per ordinary share on conversion on subscription share rights 
between 3 May 2011 and 2 April 2012 . Since 30 April 2012 and up to the date of this report a further 87 ordinary shares 
at 478p per ordinary share have been issued as the result of the 87 subscription shares have been converted.

4.  Voting rights 
Ordinary shares carry voting rights which are exercised on a show of hands at a meeting, or on a poll, where each 
share has one vote. 

Subscription shares do not carry any rights to attend or vote at meetings of shareholders of the Company 
but the rights attached to the subscription shares may only be altered or abrogated with the sanction of the 
subscription shareholders.

Details for the lodging of proxy votes are given when a notice of meeting is given. 

5.  Transferability
Any shares in the Company may be held in uncertificated form and, subject to the Articles, title to uncertificated 
shares may be transferred by means of a relevant system.

Subject to the Articles, any member may transfer all or any of his certificated shares by an instrument of transfer 
in any usual form or in any other form which the Board may approve. The instrument of transfer must be 
executed by or on behalf of the transferor and (in the case of a partly-paid share) the transferee.

The Board may, in its absolute discretion and without giving any reason, decline to register any transfer of any 
share which is not a fully paid share. The Board may also decline to register a transfer of a certificated share 
unless the instrument of transfer: (i) is duly stamped or certified or otherwise shown to the satisfaction of 
the Board to be exempt from stamp duty and is accompanied by the relevant share certificate and such other 
evidence of the right to transfer as the Board may reasonably require; (ii) is in respect of only one class of share; 
and (iii) if joint transferees, are in favour of not more than four such transferees.

The Board may decline to register a transfer of any of the Company’s certificated shares by a person with a 0.25% 
interest (as defined in the Articles) if such a person has been served with a restriction notice (as defined in the 
Articles) after failure to provide the Company with information concerning interests in those shares required to 
be provided under the Companies Act 2006, unless the transfer is shown to the Board to be pursuant to an arm’s 
length sale (as defined in the Articles).

 6.  Powers to issues ordinary shares and make market purchases of ordinary and subscription purchases
The Board was granted by shareholders at the AGM in 2011 the power to allot equity securities up to a nominal 
value of £1,592,709 and to issue those shares for cash without offering those shares to shareholders in 
accordance with their statutory pre-emption rights. 

New ordinary shares will not be allotted and issued at below the Net Asset Value. These powers will expire at the 
AGM in 2012. These powers have been used as described above and renewal of the authorities will be sought at 
the AGM in 2012. 
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The Board obtained shareholder authority at the AGM in 2011 to make market purchases of up to 19,099,770 
ordinary shares and 3,790,885 subscription shares of the Company for cancellation in accordance with the terms 
and conditions set out in the two shareholder resolutions. Both of these authorities expire at the AGM in 2012 
and renewal of the authorities will be sought at the AGM in 2012.

During the financial year to 30 April 2012 no ordinary shares were purchased and no subscription shares were 
purchased for cancellation. 

The level of the ordinary share price discount or premium to the Net Asset Value together with policies for the 
repurchase or issuance of new ordinary shares are kept under review by the Board.

7.  Major interests in ordinary shares 
As at 30 April 2012 notices for the purposes of part 5 of the FSA’s Disclosure and Transparency Rules had been 
received of the following major interests in the voting rights of the Company. There have been no changes 
between 30 April 2012 and the date of this report.

Number of
ordinary shares

Percentage of 
voting rights

Lazard Asset Management LLC 6,337,822 4.9% (indirect)
Rathbone Brothers plc 6,324,232 4.9% (indirect)
Investec Wealth and Investment Ltd 4,991,963 3.9% (indirect)

The above percentages are calculated by applying the shareholdings as notified to the issued ordinary share 
capital at 9 July 2012 of 128,208,110 ordinary shares. 

8.  Directors’ share interests 
The interests of Directors in the ordinary and subscription shares of the Company at 30 April 2012 and 30 April 2011 
are as follows: 

Beneficial:
Ordinary Shares Subscription Shares

30 April 2012 30 April 2011 30 April 2012 30 April 2011
M Moule 7,000 7,000 1,400 1,400
B Ashford-Russell 250,000 250,000 50,000 50,000
S Bates – –* – –*
P Dicks 30,000 30,000 6,000 6,000
D Gamble 5,902 5,902 1,180 1,180
P Hames – –* – –*
R Montagu 8,500 8,500 1,700 1,700

Non-beneficial:
P Dicks 1,057 1,057 211 211
R Montagu – 2,175 – 435

*   Share interests as at 30 June 2011, the date of appointment.

There have been no changes in these interests between the end of the financial year and 9 July 2012. 

The Payment of Creditors 
It has been and will remain the Company’s policy for the forthcoming financial year to obtain the best terms for all 
business and therefore there is no single policy as to the terms used. The Company and its subsidiary’s policy is to 
settle all investment transactions in accordance with the terms and conditions of the relevant market in which it 
operates. In general the Company agrees with its other suppliers the terms on which business will take place and it  
is the Company’s policy to abide by such terms. There were no trade creditors at 30 April 2012. 
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Service Providers 
Apart from the arrangements with Polar Capital LLP to provide investment, company secretarial and administrative 
services including accounting, portfolio valuation and trade settlement, the Company also contracts directly with  
JP Morgan Chase NA which acts as banker and global custodian for all the Company’s investments. The Company 
also retains the services of Cenkos Securities plc as corporate broker, Equiniti Limited as the registrars and 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as tax advisers and independent auditors. 

HSBC Securities Services (UK) Limited has been retained by the Investment Manager to provide the accounting, 
valuation and trade settlement services. Huguenot Services Limited provides web design and hosting services. 

During the year BNP Paribas Securities Services which was retained by the Investment Manager, on behalf of the 
Company and at the Company’s expense, to provide a share savings arrangement and an ISA, withdrew this service. 
Investors were offered, a transfer to the Alliance Trust Savings Scheme, or to a provider of their choice, or to 
withdraw their investment. The Company has a contract with Alliance Trust Savings for the provision of investor 
information and to facilitate investors to cast proxy votes and attend the Company’s AGM.

Annual General Meeting 
The Annual General Meeting will be held on Tuesday 4 September 2012 at 12 noon at The Royal Automobile Club,  
89 Pall Mall, London SW1Y 5HS. Shareholders are encouraged to attend the AGM as it provides an opportunity for  
them to hear a presentation from the Investment Manager and meet the Directors.

The separate Notice of Meeting contains resolutions to receive the accounts, approve the Directors’ remuneration 
report, re-elect retiring Directors, re-appoint the auditors and empower the Directors to set their fees. As in previous 
years the Directors are also seeking powers to allot shares for cash and to buy back shares for cancellation. 

There are two items of special business being a resolution to approve an updated Investment Policy and a resolution  
to amend the Articles of Association to permit the payment of dividends from capital.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office as the Company’s independent 
auditors. A resolution to re-appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as independent auditors to the Company will be 
proposed at the forthcoming AGM. 

The full text of the resolutions to be proposed at the AGM and an explanation of each resolution is contained in the 
separate Notice of Meeting.

Report on Corporate Governance 
The Directors are accountable to shareholders for the governance of the Company’s affairs. The UK Listing Rules 
require all listed companies to disclose how they have applied the principles and complied with the provisions of the 
UK Corporate Governance Code (the ‘UK Code’) issued by the Financial Reporting Council (the ‘FRC’). The UK Code is 
effective for accounting periods commencing on or after 29 June 2010 so this is the first year reporting under the UK 
Code. The UK Code can be viewed at www.frc.org.uk

As an investment company most of the day to day responsibilities are delegated to outside parties as the Company has 
no employees and all the Directors are non-executive. Many of the provisions of the UK Code are not directly applicable 
to the Company.

The Financial Reporting Council confirmed in 2010 that by following the AIC Code of Corporate Governance (‘AIC Code’) 
and the Corporate Governance Guide for Investment Companies produced by the AIC, boards of investment companies 
should fully meet their obligations in relation to the UK Code and the UK Listing Rules. The AIC code and AIC guide 
address the principles set out in section 1 of the UK Code as well as additional principles and recommendations on 
issues that are specific to investment trusts. The AIC Code can be viewed at www.theaic.co.uk

The Board has determined that reporting against the AIC Code provides the most appropriate information to 
shareholders. The Company’s policies on corporate governance can be found on its website.

The report on corporate governance describes how the principles of the AIC Code have been applied. 

Directors’ Reports/ Business Review and the Report on Corporate GovernanceDirectors’ Reports/ Business Review and the Report on Corporate Governance
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Application of the AIC code’s principles 
The Board attaches great importance to the matters contained in the AIC Code and observed the relevant 
requirements throughout the year under review. The Board has considered the principles and recommendations of 
the AIC Code by reference to the AIC Corporate Governance Guide for Investment Companies (‘AIC Guide’) and the 
Board believes that the Company’s current practices are consistent in all material respects with the principles of the 
AIC Code. Where non compliance occurs, an explanation has been provided. The Board will continue to observe the 
principles and recommendations set out in the AIC Code in future. 

1.  Directors and Board
 1.1  Independence and composition 

The Board is responsible to shareholders for the overall management of the Company’s affairs and currently 
consists of seven non-executive Directors – six of whom are considered independent. Each Director has different 
qualities and areas of expertise on which they may lead where issues arise. 

The Directors in office at the year end are listed on pages 36 to 37 along with their biographical details which 
demonstrate  the breadth of investment, commercial and professional experience relevant to their positions as 
Directors of the Company. 

All the Directors, with the exception of Mr Ashford-Russell, were considered independent of the Investment 
Manager and had no relationship or conflicts which were likely to affect their independent judgment. 
Consequently the majority of the Board is independent of the Investment Manager and the Board considers  
that its overall composition is adequate for the effective governance of the Company. 

The Directors’ Remuneration Report is set out on pages 58 to 60. 

 1.2  Succession planning and diversity 
While the Board recognises the value of progressive refreshing of and succession planning for company boards,  
it is conscious of the need to maintain continuity and believes that retaining Directors with sufficient experience 
of the Company, industry and the markets is of great benefit to shareholders. The Board is of the opinion that 
long service does not necessarily compromise the independence or contribution of Directors of investment 
trusts where continuity and experience can significantly benefit a board, a view supported by the AIC.

The Board’s policy is to ensure that a balance of skills and experience is maintained and regularly refreshed.  
The Board has noted the Davies Report on Women on Boards. The Nomination Committee is responsible for the 
composition of the Board and it considers not only the existing Board but also if further appointments should 
be made. The Nomination Committee seeks to balance the time required, the skills, knowledge and experience 
of individual Directors to form an effective and efficient Board. When considering new appointments the 
Nomination Committee seeks to have a list of candidates for the whole Board to consider that will enhance 
the Board or replace and refresh skills lost through a Director leaving the Board. As such the Board has not set 
specific targets, but due regard will be given to the benefits of diversity on the Board, including gender, when 
further appointments are considered.

 1.3  Election and Retirement of Directors at the AGM
The Articles of Association permits the Board to appoint further Directors without shareholder approval but 
subject to any such Directors standing for election by shareholders at the first AGM following their appointment. 
Two independent Directors, Mrs Bates and Mr Hames, joined the Board on 30 June 2011 and were elected by the 
shareholders at the AGM in 2011. 

Mr Wakeling, who had been a Director and Chairman of the Board since 1996, retired at the conclusion of the 
Annual General Meeting on 4 August 2011.

All Directors are appointed for an initial term of three years, subject to re-election, as required by the Articles  
of Association.  The Articles of Association and the Companies Act provide for the removal of a Director. 
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The Articles also states that any Director who has served for over nine years should stand for annual re-election. 

Any Director who has served over nine years and stands for re-election due to length of service is carefully and 
rigorously assessed by the Nominations Committee to ensure that the Director continues to make a valuable 
contribution to the Board and remains independent in character and judgement. 

Notwithstanding these requirements, the UK Code requires all directors of FTSE350 companies to retire annually. 
Therefore all the Directors will retire at the forthcoming AGM and, be eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The Nomination Committee, as part of the Director and Board performance evaluation, has carefully reviewed 
and rigorously assessed the contribution of each Director standing for re-election and their independence. They 
determined that each Director continued to offer relevant experience, effectively contributed to the operation 
of the Board and had demonstrated independent views on a range of subjects. 

The Board, on the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, supports each of the Directors standing  
for re-election.

 1.4  Directors’ interests 
Mr Ashford-Russell is a partner of Polar Capital LLP and a shareholder in Polar Capital Holdings plc, the ultimate 
holding company of Polar Capital LLP and as such he has an interest in the investment management contract. He 
is therefore not considered to be an independent Director. However, the Board values the fact that Mr Ashford-
Russell, although no longer actively involved in the day to day management of the portfolio, serves as a Director 
of the Company and gives the Directors and shareholders the benefit of his experience and knowledge.

The Chairman of the Company is a non-executive Director and has no conflicting relationships. It should be noted 
that Mr Gamble and Mr Moule have a common directorship at another investment trust but this is not considered 
to affect their ability to act independently. 

No Director, except Mr Brian Ashford-Russell, has any links with the Investment Manager, Polar Capital LLP. There 
were no other contracts during or at the end of the year in which a Director of the Company is or was materially 
interested and which is or was significant in relation to the Company’s business.

The Director’s interests in the ordinary and subscription shares of the Company are set out in the Share Capital 
section of the Directors’ Report.

 1.5  Conflicts of interests 
Directors have a duty to avoid a situation in which they have or could have a conflict of interest or possible 
conflict with the interests of the Company. With effect from October 2008 the Company introduced additional 
procedures to handle such situations. Under the Companies Act 2006 public companies may authorise conflicts 
or potential conflicts if the Articles of Association contain provisions to this effect and the Company’s Articles 
of Association contain such provisions.

The Board has always had in place policies to govern situations where a potential conflict of interests may arise, in 
particular where a Director is also a director of a company in which the Company invests or may invest. Where such 
a situation arises, these Directors are excluded from any discussions or decisions relating to investments in their 
respective companies. 

Each Director has provided the Company with a statement of all conflicts of interest and potential conflicts of 
interest. These have been approved by the Board and recorded in a register. The Board may impose conditions on 
authorising any conflict or potential conflict situations. Each Director has agreed to notify the Chairman and the 
Company Secretary of any changes to his circumstances which would impact on the notified conflicts or potential 
conflicts and obtain approval before entering into any situation which might give rise to a conflict or potential 
conflict with the interests of the Company.
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Directors are reminded at each Board meeting of their obligations to notify any changes in their statement of 
conflicts and also to declare any benefits from third parties in their capacity as a Director of the Company which 
might give rise to a conflict or potential conflict with the Company’s interests. No Director has declared receipt of 
any benefits other than his emoluments in his capacity as a Director of the Company.

Only Directors not involved in the conflict or potential conflict participate in the authorisation process. Directors 
in deciding whether to authorise a situation take into account their duty to promote the Company’s success. 

The Board has considered the register of conflicts, any conditions imposed on such conflicts or potential conflicts 
and the operation of the notification and authorisation process. They concluded that the process has operated 
effectively since its introduction. 

Except as disclosed above in relation to Mr Ashford-Russell’s interest in the contract with Polar Capital LLP there 
were no contracts subsisting during or at the end of the year in which a Director is or was interested and which is 
or was significant in relation to the Company’s business or to the Director.

 1.6  Directors’ professional development
When a new Director is appointed he or she is offered an induction course provided by the Investment Manager. 
Directors are also provided on a regular basis with key information on the Company’s policies, regulatory and 
statutory obligations and internal controls. Changes affecting Directors’ responsibilities are advised to the Board 
as they arise. Directors also regularly participate in professional and industry seminars. 

2.  The Board’s role and responsibilities 
The Board meets regularly and six scheduled Board meetings were held to deal with the stewardship of the 
Company and other matters. A formal schedule of matters specifically reserved for decision by the full Board. 
During the course of the year the Board has consider the setting and monitoring of investment strategy, 
portfolio performance, the preparation and review of financial statements, approval of borrowing limits within 
which the Investment Manager has discretion to act, and shareholder issues including investor relations. The 
level of share price discount or premium to Net Asset Value together with policies for re-purchase or issuance of 
new shares including the use of treasury shares are kept under review along with matters affecting the industry 
and the evaluation of third party service providers. 

Through this process the Board supervises the management of the investment portfolio, the work of the 
Investment Manager, the risks to which the Company is exposed and their mitigation and the quality of services 
received by the Company. 

A strategy meeting is held each year where past performance attribution is examined and future investment 
ideas are discussed. Additional meetings of the Board are arranged as required. 

The Board has delegated to a number of standing committees specific remits for consideration and 
recommendation but the final responsibility in these areas remains with the Board. 

Should it be necessary, a procedure has been adopted for Directors, in the furtherance of their duties,  
to take independent professional advice at the expense of the Company. No such advice has been sought 
during the past year. 
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The number of formal meetings of the Board and its Committees held during the financial year and the 
attendance of individual Directors are shown below. 

1 May 2011 to 30 April 2012 

Board & 
Strategy Audit

Management 
Engagement Nomination Remuneration

Number of Meetings 6 3 1 2 2

Directors who were in office 
for the full year

M Moule 6 3 1 1 –

B Ashford-Russell 6 3* 1* 1* –

P Dicks 6 3 1 1 2

D Gamble 6 3 1 1 –

R Montagu 6 3 1 1 2

Directors who were in office 
for only part of the year

S Bates (Appointed 30 June 2011) 5 out of 5 2 out of 2 1 1 2

P Hames (Appointed 30 June 2011) 4 out of 5 2 out of 2 1 1 –

R Wakeling (Director until 4 August 2011) 2 out of 2 1 out of 1 – – –

*Not a member but attended part of the meeting by invitation 

All Directors attended the 2011 AGM, held on 4 August 2011. A number of ad hoc special purpose Board and 
committee meetings were held during the year for the approval of documents, the issue of new shares and 
approval of regulatory announcements.

3.  Senior Independent Director 
The Board elected Mr Dicks to act as the Senior Independent Director. Mr Dicks can be contacted via the 
Registered Office of the Company.

4.  Board Committees 
The Board has created four standing committees whose terms are described below. The Board also creates ad 
hoc committees from time to time to enact or approve policies or actions agreed in principle by the whole Board. 
Copies of the terms of reference for each of the standing committees are available on the Company’s website. 

The composition of the standing committees was reviewed on the appointment of Mrs Bates and Mr Hames.

 4.1  Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee meets three times a year and comprises of all the independent non-executive Directors. 
The Committee has written terms of reference which clearly define its responsibilities and duties.

Mr Moule was chairman of the Committee until his appointment as Chairman of the Board on 4 August 2011.  
Mr Gamble was appointed Chairman of the Committee with effect from its next meeting on 9 December 2011.  
Mr Wakeling was a member of the Committee until his retirement. The Chairman of the Committee will be 
present at the AGM to deal with questions relating to the financial statements.

None of the members of the Audit Committee has any involvement in the preparation of the accounts of the  
Company, as this has been contracted to the Investment Manager. The Board is satisfied that at least one  
of the Committee’s members has recent and relevant financial experience. 
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The Audit Committee has direct access to the auditors and to the key senior staff of the Investment Manager 
and it reports its findings and recommendations to the Board which retains the ultimate responsibility for the 
financial statements of the Company.

The Audit Committee’s policy on the provision of non audit services is to ensure that there is a clear separation 
of audit work and non-audit work and that the cost of any non-audit work is justified and not disproportionate 
to the audit fees to the extent that the independence of the auditors would be compromised. The fees paid 
to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP in respect of the audit of the annual accounts amounted to £30,000 (2011: 
£32,000). The Company has also used PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP to give advice on taxation matters in 
particular VAT recoverability and recovery of overseas withholding taxes. These taxation services are provided 
by the Newcastle office while the audit work is carried out by the Edinburgh office. The fees paid for the taxation 
advice services amounted to £6,000 (2011: £25,000). The Directors do not consider the provision of this non-audit 
work to the Company affects the independence of the auditors.

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the scope of the annual audit, the annual financial statements 
and the half year report and financial statements. The terms of appointment of the auditors and their 
remuneration as well as any non-audit services provided by the auditors are also reviewed by the Committee. 
Representatives of the Investment Manager report to the Committee and it receives reports on the quality and 
effectiveness of the accounting records and management information maintained on behalf of the Company. 
The Committee also considers the internal controls and risk management systems applicable to the Company. 
The Committee meets with the auditors each April to review the scope of the annual audit work and meets again 
each June to review the findings of the auditors and review the annual report and financial statements prior to 
recommending approval by the Board. The auditors are given the opportunity to speak to the Committee without 
the representatives of the Investment Manager being present. The Committee also meets in December each year 
to consider the half-year report without the auditors present.

There has been nothing brought to the Audit Committee’s attention in respect of the 2012 audit which was 
material or significant or that they felt should be brought to shareholder’s attention.

The Audit Committee annually reviews the performance of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the Company’s external 
auditor. In doing so the Audit Committee considers a range of factors including the quality of service, the auditors’ 
specialist expertise and the level of audit fee. The Audit Committee remains satisfied with their effectiveness and 
therefore has not considered it necessary, to date, to require the external auditors to tender for the audit work. The 
independence and effectiveness of the auditors and the nature of the services provided have therefore been assessed 
throughout the year.

There are no contractual obligations restricting the choice of external auditor. Under Company Law the 
reappointment of the external auditor is subject to shareholder approval at the Annual General Meeting. 

The Audit Committee has recommended the reappointment of the auditors at the AGM.

 4.2  Management Engagement Committee 
The Management Engagement Committee meets at least annually and at such other times as may be 
necessary. All independent non-executive Directors are members of the Management Engagement 
Committee which is chaired by the Chairman of the Board. The Committee is responsible for the review of 
the terms of the investment management contract which is reviewed annually and the Committee also 
considers, prior to making its recommendation to the Board, whether the retention of the Investment 
Manager is in the interests of shareholders. The Committee also considers other matters to do with the 
relationship with the Investment Manager. 
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4.3  Nomination Committee 
The Nomination Committee comprises of all the independent non-executive Directors and is chaired by the 
Chairman of the Board. The Committee meets at least annually and is responsible to the Board for the size  
and structure of the Board as well as for succession planning and the tenure policy for Directors. 

Succession planning will be conducted bearing in mind the balance of skills, knowledge and experience existing 
on the Board and the Committee will make recommendations to the Board when the further recruitment of 
non-executive Directors is required. The Chairman does not participate in any discussion or decision on his role 
or replacement. 

Once a decision has been made that additional Directors are to be recruited then candidates will be drawn from 
suggestions put forward by the other Directors and by the use of external agencies. The final selection will be 
made by the Board following recommendations by the Committee. 

The Committee also reviews the performance of the Board as a whole and each individual Director. Re-appointment 
as a Director is not automatic and will follow a process of evaluation of each Director’s performance. The Board 
acknowledges the rationale of the UK Code for the rigorous review of Directors serving over six years and annual 
re-appointment after nine years. Nevertheless the Board shares the view of the AIC that length of service will not 
necessarily compromise the independence or contribution of directors of investment trusts where continuity and 
experience can significantly strengthen a board. 

 4.4 Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee comprises of Mrs Bates, Mr Montagu and is chaired by Mr Dicks, the Senior 
Independent Director. 

The Committee meets at least annually and is responsible for recommending the framework for the 
remuneration of Directors. The Committee reviews the ongoing appropriateness of the remuneration policy and 
the individual remuneration of Directors based on their contributions. The fees paid to Directors are detailed in 
the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 60. 

5. Performance Evaluation 
 5.1 The Board 

The evaluation of the Board, its Committees and individual Directors is normally carried out annually by the 
Chairman of the Nomination Committee. The Chairman has put in place an appraisal system that seeks the 
views of each Director by a questionnaire and interviews. The Chairman’s review is conducted by the Senior 
Independent Director. 

These reviews are reported to the Nomination Committee. In evaluating each Director, they are assessed on 
their relevant experience, their strengths and weaknesses in relation to the overall requirements of the Board 
and their commitment to the Company in terms of time by regular attendance of Board meetings. The process 
is constructed to assess the contribution of individual Directors to the overall operation of the Board and its 
Committees as well as to indentify areas of improvement in the operation of the Board and its committees. 

In accordance with the UK Code the Board is required to engage an external facilitator for the Board evaluation 
process every three years. In 2009 the Board commissioned a third party to undertake an independent review 
of the effectiveness of the Board and the level of Directors fees which was reported to the Board in February 
2010 and disclosed the 2010 annual report. The next independent review will be reported in the annual report in 
2013. The Nomination Committee has overseen the performance evaluation process and the succession planning 
designed to replace gradually the longest serving Directors. 
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5.2  The Investment Manager 
The Board reviews the performance of the Investment Manager at each Board meeting and the Company’s 
performance against the market and a peer group of funds with similar investment objectives. The investment 
team provided by the Investment Manager, led by Mr Rogoff, has long experience of investment in technology. 
In addition, the Investment Manager has other investment resources which support the investment team and 
experience in managing and administering other investment trust companies. 

The Management Engagement Committee regularly reviews the terms of the contract with the Investment Manager. 

The Board also monitors through the Investment Manager the performance of its other service providers 
including the custodian and registrar. 

6.  Investment Manager 
The Board has contractually delegated the management of the portfolio to the Investment Manager, Polar 
Capital LLP (the ‘Investment Manager’). It is the Investment Manager’s sole responsibility to take decisions as to 
the purchase and sale of individual investments other than unquoted investments where the Board is consulted. 
The Investment Manager has responsibility for gearing, asset allocation and sector selection within the limits 
established and regularly reviewed by the Board. 

The Board has directly appointed the custodian and the registrars, both of which the Investment Manager 
monitors and the Investment Manager provides or procures the provision of accountancy services, company 
secretarial and administrative services. The Investment Manager also ensures that all Directors receive in 
a timely manner all relevant management, regulatory and financial information. Representatives of the 
Investment Manager attend each Board meeting enabling the Directors to probe further on matters of concern 
or seek clarification on certain issues. 

The Directors have access to the advice and services of the corporate company secretary through its appointed 
representative who is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board procedures are followed and that 
applicable rules and regulations are complied with. The Board and Investment Manager operate in a supportive, 
co-operative and open environment. 

7.  Accountability and audit 
The Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of the financial statements is set out on pages 61 and 62 
and the Independent Auditors’ Report is on pages 63 and 64. 

8.  Internal controls 
The Board has overall responsibility for the Company’s system of internal control and for reviewing its 
effectiveness. The Company has no employees as its operational functions are carried out by third parties and 
the Audit Committee does not consider it necessary for the Company to establish its own internal audit function. 
Contracts with each of these parties were entered into after full and proper consideration by the Board of the 
quality and cost of the services offered, including the control systems in operation in so far as they relate to the 
affairs of the Company. 

The Investment Manager is responsible for the day to day investment management decisions on behalf of 
the Group and for the provision of accounting and administrative services including company secretarial and 
accounting. The Investment Manager has an internal control framework to provide reasonable but not absolute 
assurance on the effectiveness of the internal controls operated on behalf of its clients. The Investment Manager 
is authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authority and its compliance department monitors 
compliance with the FSA rules.
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The Board has established a process for identifying, evaluating and managing any major risks faced by the 
Company. The process has been in place since 2000 and is documented through the use of a Risk Map which 
is subject to regular review by the Board and accords with the Revised Guidance for Directors on the UK Code 
published in October 2005 by the Financial Reporting Council. The controls are embedded within the business 
and aim to ensure that identified risks are managed and systems are in place to report on such risks. The internal 
controls seek to ensure the assets of the Company are safeguarded, proper accounting records are maintained 
and the financial information used in the Group and for publication is reliable. Controls covering the risks 
identified, including financial, operational, compliance and risk management are monitored by a series of regular 
reports covering investment performance, attribution analysis, reports from various third parties and from the 
Investment Manager including risks not directly the responsibility of the Investment Manager. 

The process was active throughout the year and up to the date of approval of this annual report. However, such a 
system is designed to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure to achieve the Company’s business objectives 
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. 

The Board has received formal reports from the Investment Manager with details of any known internal control 
failures. The Board considers reports on the Investment Manager’s internal controls and systems operated by 
other third party suppliers. The Board also receives and considers ad hoc reports from the Investment Manager 
and information is supplied to the Board as required. The Board also examined the risks and controls operated by 
the Investment Manager when placing investment trades with third parties. 

The Investment Manager has delegated the provision of accounting, portfolio valuation and trade processing to 
HSBC Securities Services (UK) Limited but remains responsible to the Company for these functions and provided 
the Board with information on these services. 

The Board, assisted by the Investment Manager, undertakes an annual review of the Company’s system of 
internal control where the Risk Map is reviewed and control processes considered. 

The Board will continue to monitor the system of internal controls in order to provide assurance that they 
operate as intended. 

The Board, assisted by the Investment Manager, has conducted an annual review of the risk map and the 
effectiveness of the system of internal controls taking into account any issues, none of which were considered 
significant, which arose during the course of the year ended 30 April 2012 and up to the date of this report. 

The Board reviewed the implications of the Bribery Act 2010 and has discussed with the Investment Manager 
their Policy and the controls and monitoring operated by the Investment Manager not only the internal controls 
but the steps taken to implement their policy across the main contactors which supply goods and services to the 
Investment Manager and the Company.

9.  Relations with shareholders 
The Board and the Investment Manager consider maintaining good communications with shareholders and 
engaging with larger shareholders through meetings and presentations a key priority. Shareholders are kept 
informed by the publication of annual and interim reports which include financial statements. These reports 
are supplemented by interim management statements, the daily release of the net asset value per share to 
the London Stock Exchange and the publication by the Investment Manager of a monthly factsheet. All this 
information together with the Investment Manager’s presentations is available from the Company’s website  
at www.polarcapitaltechnologytrust.co.uk

The Board is also keen that the AGM be a participative event for all shareholders who attend. The Investment 
Managers make a presentation and shareholders are encouraged to attend. The Chairmen of the Board and  
of the Committees attend the AGM and are available to respond to queries and concerns from shareholders.  
Twenty working days notice of the AGM has been given to shareholders and separate resolutions are proposed  
in relation to each substantive issue. Shareholders may submit questions for the AGM in advance of the meeting 
or make general enquiries of the Company via the company secretary at the registered office of the Company.  
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The Directors make themselves available after the AGM to meet shareholders.

Where the vote is decided on a show of hands, the proxy votes received are relayed to the meeting and 
subsequently published on the Company’s website. Proxy forms have a ‘vote withheld’ option. The Notice  
of Meeting sets out the business of the AGM together with the full text of any special resolutions. 

The Company has made arrangements for investors through the Alliance Savings Scheme to receive all Company 
communications and have the ability to direct the casting of their votes. The Company has also made arrangements 
with its registrar for shareholders, who own their shares direct rather than through a nominee or share scheme, to 
view their account over the Internet at www.shareview.co.uk. Other services are also available via this service. 

The Board monitors the share register of the Company; it also reviews correspondence from shareholders at each 
meeting and maintains regular contact with major shareholders. Shareholders who wish to raise matters with a 
Director may do so by writing to them at the registered office of the Company. 

10.  Corporate Responsibility
 10.1 Socially responsible investing and exercise of voting powers 

The Board has instructed the Investment Manager to take into account the published corporate governance 
policy and the environmental practices and policies of the companies in which they invest on behalf of the 
Company. The Company has delegated responsibility for voting to the Investment Manager. In the year under 
review, the Manager has voted at 58 Company meetings in each case following the recommendations of the 
management of that company on the casting of votes.

The Board has considered the Investment Manager’s Stewardship Code and Proxy Voting Policy and the 
Investment Manager reports to the Board, on the application of the Stewardship Code and Voting Policy.  
The Investment Manager’s Stewardship Code and Voting Policy can be found on the Investment Manger’s 
website in the corporate information section.

 10.2 Environment
The Company’s core activities are undertaken by its Investment Manager which seeks to limit the use of  
non-renewable resources and reducing waste where possible. 

11.  Statement of Compliance
The AIC Code comprises 21 principles. The Board consider for the year under review the Directors, Board and 
Company has complied with the recommendations of the AIC Code in so far as they apply to the Company’s 
business and with the relevant provisions of the UK Code except as noted below: 

•	 As all Directors are non executive and day to day management has been contracted to third parties the 
Company does not have a separate role for a Chief Executive from that of Chairman of the Board;

•	 as there are no executive Directors it does not comply with the UK Code in respect of executive 
directors’ remuneration; and

•	 the Company does not have an internal audit function as it relies on the systems of control operated by third 
party suppliers in particular those of the Investment Manager. The Board monitors these systems of internal 
control to provide assurance that they operate as intended. 

By order of the Board 

N P Taylor FCIS 
Polar Capital Secretarial Services Limited  
Company Secretary 

9 July 2012 
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Introduction 
This report is submitted in accordance with section 420 – 422 of the Companies Act 2006 and the Listing Rules of  
the Financial Services Authority in respect of the year ended 30 April 2012. It has been audited where indicated as  
such. An ordinary resolution to approve the report will be put to the AGM on 4 September 2012. 

Consideration of Matters Relating to Directors’ Remuneration 
The Remuneration Committee sits under the chairmanship of Mr Dicks as the Senior Independent Director with  
two independent Directors, Mrs Bates, who succeeded Mr Moule in October 2011 and Mr Montagu who served on  
the Committee throughout the year. The Committee considers and makes recommendations on the remuneration  
of the Directors. The Company has no employees other than the non-executive Directors. 

Statement of the Company’s Policy on Directors’ Remuneration 
The Board consists entirely of non-executive Directors, who meet regularly throughout the year to deal with the 
Company’s affairs. The total fees payable to all the Directors is limited by the Articles of Association to £200,000 
per annum. 

The principles of the Company’s remuneration policy have been, and will continue to be for the forthcoming financial 
year, that fees payable to Directors should: 

•	 reflect the time spent by them individually and collectively as part of the Board on the Company’s affairs; 

•	 be of a level appropriate to the responsibilities borne by the Directors; 

•	 be in line with market practice and sufficient to enable candidates of high calibre to be recruited and retained. 

The policy also recognises: 

•	 that the form of remuneration be in cash, payable monthly in arrears, to the Director personally or to a third party 
specified by him; and 

•	 the rates are reviewed annually; such review will not necessarily result in any change to the rates. 

As the Company is an investment trust and all the Directors are non-executive, it is considered inappropriate to 
have any long-term incentive schemes and the fees are not specifically related to the Directors’ performance, either 
individually or collectively. 

Remuneration Arrangements
In the year under review the Directors’ fees were paid at the following annual rates, the Chairman £35,000 (2011: 
£32,500); other Directors £23,000 (2011: £21,500).

Mr Ashford-Russell waived his fee for 2011/2012 and has indicated that he will do so for the forthcoming year. 

The increase in fees was as previously announced and followed the recommendations of the external review of the 
Directors’ remuneration by Trust Associates in 2009/2010: 

•	 An increase in Directors fees from £20,000 to £23,000 over two equal steps of £1,500 with effect from 1 May 2010 
and 1 May 2011.

•	 An increase in the fees paid to the Chairman of the Board from £30,000 to £35,000 over two equal steps of £2,500 
with effect from 1 May 2010 and 1 May 2011.

•	 The Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Senior Independent Director to receive an additional fee of £3,000 
for the added responsibilities.

The Committee met on 20 April 2012 to consider the level of Directors’ fees for the year ahead. The Committee 
concluded that there should be no increase in the level of fees paid to the Directors. However they felt that an external 
review of the fees would be appropriate which will be carried out along side the externally facilitated Board review to 
be reported in the 2013 annual report. 
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Performance 
A five year performance comparison is required to be presented in this report. The Dow Jones World Technology Index 
is shown because, as a market capitalisation weighted index based on the entire global technology sector, it is the 
most appropriate single market index. 

Service Contracts 
None of the Directors has a contract of service or a contract for services and a Director may resign by giving one 
month’s notice in writing to the Board at any time. In accordance with recommended practice, each Director has 
received a letter setting out the terms of his appointment. 

New Directors are appointed and elected or re-elected with the expectation that they will serve for a period of at  
least three years. Each Director’s appointment is reviewed formally each time a Director retires by rotation under  
the Articles of Association. 

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance cover is held by the Company in respect of the Directors. The Company  
has to the extent permitted by law and the Company’s Articles of Association provided each Director with a Deed  
of Indemnity which, subject to the provisions the Articles of Association and UK legislation, indemnifies the Director 
in respect of costs which they may incur relating to the defence of any proceeds brought against them arising out of 
their position as Directors (excluding criminal and regulatory penalties). Directors’ legal costs may be funded  up-front 
provided they reimburse the Company if the individual is convicted or, in an action brought by the Company, judgment 
is given against him. These provisions were in force during the year and remain in force.
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Remuneration (Audited) 
The fees payable in respect of each of the Directors, who served during the year, and during 2011, were as follows:

Year ended 
30 April 2012 

£

Year ended 
30 April 2011 

£ 

M Moule (Director and chair of Audit Committee until appointed Chairman  
of the Board in August 2011 ) 32,750 24,500 

S Bates (Appointed 30 June 2011) 19,167 –

B Ashford-Russell – # – # 

P Dicks (Senior Independent Director) 26,000 24,500 

D Gamble (Chairman of the Audit Committee from October 2011) 24,500 21,500 

P Hames (Appointed 30 June 2011) 19,167 –

R Montagu 23,000 21,500 

R Wakeling (Chairman of the Board until August 2011) 9,506 32,500 

TOTAL 154,090 124,500

The Senior Independent Director and the Chairman of the Audit Committee each receive a payment of £3,000pa to 
cover their additional duties and responsibilities.

# Fee of £23,000 (2011:£21,500) waived. 

No pension contributions or other remuneration or compensation was paid or payable by the Company during the year 
to any of the current or former Directors. 

Approved by the Board on 9 July 2012

By order of the Board 

N P Taylor FCIS 
Polar Capital Secretarial Services Limited 
Company Secretary 
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In Respect of the Annual Report, Directors’ Remuneration Report and Financial Statements
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the Financial 
Statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors 
have elected to prepare the Group and Company financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union. Under Company law the Directors must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and 
the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the Directors 
are required to:

•	 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

•	 make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

•	 state whether applicable IFRS as adopted by the European Union have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

•	 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 
Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and the 
Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements and the Directors’ Remuneration Report comply with 
the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group’s financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulations. They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website. Legislation in the  
United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions.

Disclosure of Information to the Auditors
As far as the Directors are aware and to the best of their knowledge, having made enquiries, there is no relevant audit 
information of which the Auditors are unaware and the Directors have taken steps to make themselves aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the Auditors are aware of such information.

Going Concern
The Board‘s assessment of the Group’s position as at 30 April 2012 and the factors impacting the forthcoming year 
are set out in the Chairman’s Statement and the Investment Manager’s Report on pages 2 to 13 and in the Directors’ 
Report which incorporates the business review and corporate governance statements.

The financial position of the Group, its cash flows, and its liquidity position is described in the Business Review on 
pages 38 to 48. Note 31 to the financial statements includes the Groups’ policies and process for managing its capital; 
its financial risk management objectives; details of financial instruments and hedging activities. Exposure to credit 
risk and liquidity risk are also disclosed.

The Group has considerable financial resources and after making enquiries the Directors have a reasonable 
expectation that the Company and Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future despite the continued uncertain economic outlook. Accordingly the Directors continue to adopt the 
going concern basis in preparing the annual report and financial statements.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES
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Responsibility Statement under the Disclosure and Transparency Rules
The Directors of Polar Capital Technology Trust plc, who are listed on page 36 and 37, confirm to the best of their knowledge:

•	 The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 
by the European Union, and give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the 
Group and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole; and

•	 the Chairman’s Statement, Investment Manager’s Report and Directors’ Report (together constituting the 
Management Report) include a fair review of the development and performance of the business and financial 
position of the Company and undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, and include a description of 
the principal risks and uncertainties.

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 9 July 2012 and the responsibility statement was signed  
on its behalf by Michael Moule, Chairman of the Board.

Michael Moule
Chairman

Polar Capital Technology Trust plc/ Annual Report & Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2012
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independent Auditors’ Report

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF POLAR CAPITAL TECHNOLOGY TRUST PLC

We have audited the financial statements of Polar Capital Technology Trust plc for the year ended 30 April 2012 which 
comprise the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated and Company Statements of Changes 
in Equity, Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets, Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements and the 
related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and, as regards the parent 
company financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibility set out on pages 61 to 62, the Directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. 
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law 
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body in accordance 
with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, 
accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into 
whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to 
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by 
fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s and the 
parent company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness 
of significant accounting estimates made by the Directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report to identify material 
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements  
or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements 
In our opinion: 

•	 the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent Company’s affairs  
as at 30 April 2012 and of the Group’s profit and Group’s and parent Company’s cash flows for the year then ended;

•	 the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the  
European Union; 

•	 the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by  
the European Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

•	 the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, 
as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the lAS Regulation. 
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Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion: 

•	 the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2006; and

•	 the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared 
is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following: 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

•	 adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not 
been received from branches not visited by us; or 

•	 the parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not 
in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

•	 certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

•	 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review: 

•	 the Directors’ statement, on page 61, in relation to going concern;

•	 the parts of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the Company’s compliance with the nine  
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code specified for our review; and

•	 certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board on Directors’ remuneration.

Karyn Lamont (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors  
Erskine House 
68-73 Queen Street 
Edinburgh 
EH2 4NH

9 July 2012  

Notes: 
a.     The maintenance and integrity of the Polar Capital Technology Trust plc website is the responsibility of the Directors; the work carried  

out by the auditors does not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any  
changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since they were initially presented on the website.

b.    Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in  
other jurisdictions.
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Financial Statements/ Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 30 April 2012

Year ended 30 April 2012 Year ended 30 April 2011

 Notes

Revenue
return
£’000

Capital
return
£’000

Total
return
£’000

Revenue
return
£’000

Capital
return
£’000

Total
return
£’000

Investment income 3 3,539 – 3,539 3,548 – 3,548 

Other operating income 4 29 – 29 37 – 37 

Gains on investments held at fair value 5 – 34,317 34,317 – 75,384 75,384 

Loss on derivatives 6 – (307) (307) – (303) (303)

Other currency losses 7 – (108) (108) – (770) (770)

Total income 3,568 33,902 37,470 3,585 74,311 77,896 

Expenses

Investment management fee 8 (4,885) – (4,885) (4,452) – (4,452)

Performance fee 8 – – – – (3,337) (3,337)

Other administrative expenses 9 (718) – (718) (751) – (751)

Total expenses (5,603) – (5,603) (5,203) (3,337) (8,540)

(Loss)/profit before finance costs and tax (2,035) 33,902 31,867 (1,618) 70,974 69,356 

Finance costs 10 (835) – (835) (826) – (826)

(Loss)/profit before tax (2,870) 33,902 31,032 (2,444) 70,974 68,530 

Tax 11 (497) – (497) (445) – (445)

Net (loss)/profit for the year and  
total comprehensive income (3,367) 33,902 30,535 (2,889) 70,974 68,085 

Earnings per ordinary share (pence) 12 (2.64) 26.56 23.92 (2.28) 56.05 53.77 

The total column of this statement represents the Group’s Statement of Comprehensive Income, prepared in 
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union. 

The revenue return and capital return columns are supplementary to this and are prepared under guidance published 
by the Association of Investment Companies. 

All items in the above statement derive from continuing operations.

All income is attributable to the equity holders of Polar Capital Technology Trust plc. There are no minority interests.

The net profit for the year of the Group and the Company was £30,535,000 (2011: £68,085,000).

The Group does not have any other Comprehensive Income and hence the net profit, as disclosed above, is the same  
as the Group’s total Comprehensive Income.

The notes on pages 69 to 96 form part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EqUITY
for the year ended 30 April 2012

Notes

Share
 capital

£’000

Capital 
redemption 

reserve
£’000

Share 
premium

£’000

Special non-
distributable

 reserve
£’000

Capital
 reserves

£’000

Revenue
 reserve

£’000
Total

£’000

Group 

Total equity at 30 April 2010 31,624 12,588 117,902 7,536 290,774 (61,797) 398,627

Total comprehensive income:

Profit/(loss) for the year to  
30 April 2011 – – – – 70,974 (2,889) 68,085

Transactions with owners, 
recorded directly to equity:

Bonus issue of  
subscription shares 20 254 – (254) – – – –

Subscription shares  
issue costs 22 – – (381) – – – (381)

Issue of ordinary  
share capital

20
& 22 138 –  1,994 – – – 2,132

Issue of ordinary shares  
on exercise of  
subscription shares

20
& 22 15 –  238 – – – 253

Total equity at 30 April 2011 32,031 12,588 119,499 7,536 361,748 (64,686) 468,716

Total comprehensive income:

Profit/(loss) for the year to 
30 April 2012 – – – – 33,902 (3,367) 30,535 

Transactions with owners, 
recorded directly to equity:

Subscription shares  
issue costs 22 – – (2) – – – (2)

Issue of ordinary  
share capital

20
& 22 150 – 1,901 – – – 2,051

Issue of ordinary shares  
on exercise of  
subscription shares

20
& 22 119 – 1,873 – – – 1,992

Total equity at 30 April 2012 32,300 12,588 123,271 7,536 395,650 (68,053) 503,292

The Company Statement of Changes in Equity is as disclosed above with exception of the Capital and Revenue 
reserves, the details of which are provided in notes 24 and 25.

The notes on pages 69 to 96 form part of these financial statements.
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Financial Statements/ Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets 

CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY BALANCE SHEETS
at 30 April 2012

30 April 2012 30 April 2011

Notes
Group
£’000

Company
£’000

Group
£’000

Company
£’000

Non current assets

Investments held at fair value 13–15  488,587  490,806  458,094  460,288 

Current assets

Derivative financial instruments 13 – –  307  307 

Overseas tax recoverable  14  14  18  18 

Other receivables 16  1,334  4,727  9,630  13,023 

Cash and cash equivalents 17  49,211  43,599  45,505  39,918 

 50,559  48,340  55,460  53,266 

Total assets  539,146  539,146  513,554  513,554 

Current liabilities

Other payables 18 (5,909) (5,909) (15,857) (15,857)

Bank loans 19 (9,974) (9,974) (28,981) (28,981)

(15,883) (15,883) (44,838) (44,838)

Total assets less current liabilities 523,263 523,263 468,716 468,716 

Non current liabilities

Bank loans 19 (19,949) (19,949) – –

Derivative financial instruments 13 (22) (22) – –

(19,971) (19,971) – –

Net assets  503,292  503,292  468,716  468,716 

Equity attributable to equity shareholders

Share capital 20  32,300  32,300  32,031  32,031 

Capital redemption reserve 21  12,588  12,588  12,588  12,588 

Share premium 22  123,271  123,271  119,499  119,499 

Special non-distributable reserve 23  7,536  7,536  7,536  7,536 

Capital reserves 24  395,650  397,869  361,748  363,942 

Revenue reserve 25 (68,053) (70,272) (64,686) (66,880)

Total equity  503,292  503,292  468,716  468,716 

Net asset value per ordinary share (pence) 29 392.56 392.56 368.74 368.74

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue and by the Board of Directors on 9 July 2012.

Michael Moule
Chairman

The notes on pages 69 to 96 form part of these financial statements.
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Financial Statements/ Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements

CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 April 2012 

2012 2011

Group
£’000

Company
£’000

Group
£’000

Company
£’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before finance costs and tax 31,867 31,867 69,356 69,356 

Adjustment for non-cash items:

Foreign exchange losses 108 108 770 770 

Adjusted profit before finance costs and tax 31,975 31,975 70,126 70,126 

Adjustments for:

Increase in investments (30,186) (30,211) (72,370) (72,388)

Decrease/(increase) in receivables 8,296 8,296 (3,404) (3,410)

(Decrease)/increase in payables (9,931) (9,931) 7,556 7,556 

(31,821) (31,846) (68,218) (68,242)

Net cash from operating activities before tax 154 129 1,908 1,884 

Overseas tax (deducted)/refunded at source (493) (493) 15 15 

Net cash generated from operating activities (339) (364) 1,923 1,899 

Cash flows from financing activities

Issue of share capital 4,043 4,043 2,385 2,385 

Subscription share issue costs (2) (2) (381) (381)

Loans matured (30,461) (30,461) (59,286) (59,286)

Loans taken out 30,250 30,250 59,786 59,786 

Finance costs (830) (830) (836) (836)

Net cash from financing activities 3,000 3,000 1,668 1,668 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,661 2,636 3,591 3,567 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning  
of the year 45,505 39,918 42,070 36,507 

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 1,045 1,045 (156) (156)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 49,211 43,599 45,505 39,918 

The notes on pages 69 to 96 form part of these financial statements.
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS), which comprise standards and interpretations approved by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC), as adopted  
by the European Union and with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting 
under IFRS and IFRIC guidance.

The Group’s presentational currency is pounds sterling. Pounds sterling is also the functional currency of the 
Company and its subsidiary because it is the currency which is most relevant to the majority of the Company’s 
shareholders and creditors and the currency in which the majority of the Group’s operating expenses are paid.

The principal accounting policies followed are set out below:

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) Basis of Preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost 
convention, as modified by the inclusion of investments and derivative financial instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss. Where presentational guidance set out in the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP) 
for investment trusts issued by the Association of Investment Companies (AIC) in January 2009 is consistent with 
the requirements of IFRS, the directors have sought to prepare the financial statements on a basis compliant 
with the recommendations of the SORP.

The financial position of the Group as at 30 April 2012 is shown in the balance sheet on page 67. As at 30 April 
2012 the Group’s total assets exceeded its total liabilities by a multiple of over 15. The assets of the Group consist 
mainly of securities that are held in accordance with the Company’s investment policy, as set out on page 39 and 
these securities are readily realisable. The Directors consider that the Company has adequate financial resources 
to enable it to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Directors believe 
that it is appropriate to continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Group’s accounts. 

(b) Basis of Consolidation
The Group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled  
by the Company (its wholly owned subsidiary undertaking, PCT Finance Limited) made up to 30 April each year.  
In the financial statements of the parent company, investment in the subsidiary is recognised at fair value. 
Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an 
investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. All intra-group transactions, balances, income  
and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. The Statement of Comprehensive Income is only presented  
in consolidated form, as provided by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006.

(c) Presentation of Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
In order to better reflect the activities of an investment trust company and in accordance with the guidance 
set out by the AIC, supplementary information which analyses the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income between items of a revenue and capital nature has been presented alongside the Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. The results presented in the Revenue Return column is the measure the directors 
believe appropriate in assessing the Group’s compliance with certain requirements set out in section 1158 of the 
Corporation Taxes Act 2010.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 April 2012
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Financial Statements/ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
(d) Income
Dividends receivable from equity shares are taken to the revenue return column of the Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income on an ex-dividend basis. Special dividends are recognised on an ex-dividend basis and 
may be considered to be either revenue or capital items.

The facts and circumstances are considered on a case by case basis before a conclusion on appropriate allocation 
is reached. Where the Company has received dividends in the form of additional shares rather than in cash, the 
amount of the cash dividend foregone is recognised in the revenue return column of the Consolidated Statement 
of Comprehensive Income. Any excess in value of shares received over the amount of the cash dividend foregone 
is recognised in the capital return column of the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The fixed returns on debt securities and non-equity shares are recognised under the effective interest rate method.

Bank interest and other income receivable are accounted for on an accruals basis.

The dealing profits of the subsidiary undertaking, representing realised gains and losses on the sale of current 
asset investments, are dealt with in the Group financial statements as a revenue item.

(e) Expenses and Finance Costs
All expenses, including finance costs, are accounted for on an accruals basis. 

All expenses have been presented as revenue items except as follows: 

•	 any performance fees payable are allocated wholly to capital, reflecting the fact that, although they  
are calculated on a total return basis, they are expected to be attributable largely, if not wholly, to  
capital performance;

•	 transaction costs incurred on the acquisition or disposal of investments are expensed either as part of the 
unrealised gain/loss on investments (for acquisition costs) or as a deduction from the proceeds of sale (for 
disposal costs).

Finance costs are calculated using the effective interest rate method and are accounted for on an accruals basis.

(f) Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the overseas withholding tax deducted from investment income, tax 
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on the taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as 
reported in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income because it excludes items of income or 
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable 
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

In line with the recommendations of the SORP, the allocation method used to calculate tax relief on expenses 
presented against capital returns in the supplementary information in the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income is the “marginal basis”. Under this basis, if taxable income is capable of being offset 
entirely by expenses presented in the revenue return column of the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, then no tax relief is transferred to the capital return column.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax 
liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences 
can be utilised.
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Investment trusts which have approval as such under section 1158 of the Corporation Taxes Act 2010 are not 
liable for taxation on capital gains.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled 
or the asset is realised based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance 
sheet date.

Deferred tax is charged or credited in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, except when it 
relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

(g) Investments Held at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss
When a purchase or sale is made under contract, the terms of which require delivery within the timeframe of the 
relevant market, the investments concerned are recognised or derecognised on the trade date and are initially 
measured at fair value.

On initial recognition the Group has designated all of its investments as held at fair value through profit or loss 
as defined by IFRS.

All investments are measured at subsequent reporting dates at fair value, which is either the bid price or the 
last traded price, depending on the convention of the exchange on which the investment is quoted. Investments 
in subsidiary undertakings are stated in the Company’s accounts at fair value. Investments in unit trusts or 
OEICs are valued at the closing price, the bid price or the single price as appropriate, released by the relevant 
investment manager.

Fair values for unquoted investments, or for investments for which there is only an inactive market, are 
established by using various valuation techniques. These may include recent arms length market transactions, 
the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis and 
option pricing models. Where there is a valuation technique commonly used by market participants to price 
the instrument and that technique has been demonstrated to provide reliable estimates of prices obtained in 
actual market transactions, that technique is utilised. Where no reliable fair value can be estimated for such 
instruments, they are carried at cost, subject to any provision for impairment.

Changes in fair value of all investments held at fair value and realised gains and losses on disposal are recognised 
in the capital return column of the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

(h) Other Receivables
Other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. Other 
receivables do not carry any interest and are short-term in nature and are accordingly stated at their nominal 
value as reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts.

(i) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash.

(j) Other Payables
Other payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost. Other 
payables are not interest-bearing and are stated at their nominal value.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
(k) Bank Loans
All bank loans are initially recognised at fair value, being the fair value of the consideration received, less issue 
costs where applicable. After initial recognition these loans are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on settlement. The amounts falling 
due for repayment within one year are included under current liabilities in the Balance Sheet.

(l) Rates of Exchange
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the rate of exchange ruling on the date of each 
transaction. Monetary assets, monetary liabilities and equity investments in foreign currencies at the balance 
sheet date are translated into sterling at the rates of exchange ruling on that date. Realised profits or losses on 
exchange, together with differences arising on the translation of foreign currency assets or liabilities, are taken 
to the capital return column of the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. Foreign exchange gains 
and losses arising on investments held at fair value are included within changes in fair value.

(m) Share Capital
Represents the nominal value of authorised and allocated, called-up and fully paid shares issued.

(n) Capital Reserves
Capital reserves – gains/losses on disposal includes:

•	  gains/losses on disposal of investments

•	  exchange differences on currency balances and on settlement of loan balances

•	  cost of own shares bought back

•	  other capital charges and credits charged to this account in accordance with the accounting policies above

Capital reserve – revaluation on investments held includes:

•	  increases and decreases in the valuation of investments and loans held at the year end.

All of the above are accounted for in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income except the cost of 
own shares bought back which is accounted for in the Statement of Changes in Equity.

(o) Derivative Financial Instruments
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in market prices, foreign currency 
exchange rates and interest rates. Derivative transactions which the Group may enter into comprise forward 
exchange contracts, the purpose of which is to manage the currency risks arising from the Group’s investing 
activities, quoted options on shares held within the portfolio, or on indices appropriate to sections of the 
portfolio, the purpose of which is to provide protection against falls in capital values of the holdings, loan 
interest rate swaps, the purpose of which is to manage interest rate risk. 

The Group does not use derivative contracts for speculative purposes.

The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies as approved by the Board, which has set 
written principles for the use of financial derivatives.

A derivative instrument is considered to be used for hedging purposes when it alters the market risk profile of 
an existing underlying exposure of the Group. The use of financial derivatives by the Group does not qualify for 
hedge accounting under IFRS. As a result changes in the fair value of derivative instruments are recognised in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income as they arise. If capital in nature, associated change in value is 
presented in the capital return column of the Consolidated Statement of Consolidated Income.

The Group has entered into two floating fixed interest rate swap transactions on Yen and US dollars. The swap 
allows the variable LIBOR part of the US dollar and Yen loans to be swapped for a fixed amount. The Group uses 
its interest rate swaps to manage its exposure to interest rate movements on its Japanese yen and US dollar 
bank borrowings.
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A Japanese yen contract with a nominal value of Y750 million has fixed interest payments at a rate of 0.46% and 
floating interest receipts at Yen LIBOR. A US dollar contract with a nominal value of $23 million has fixed interest 
payments at a rate of 0.81% and floating interest receipts at USD LIBOR.

The fair value of the swap entered into at 30 April 2012 is estimated as £22,000 in favour of the lender. Where the 
fair value of the swap is ‘in favour of the lender’ it is represented by a creditor on the balance sheet. If ‘in favour 
of the company’ it is represented by a debtor. Changes in the fair value of the swap are treated as a finance cost 
and charged 100% to revenue. The fair value of the swaps is calculated based on mark to market values.

(p) Segmental Reporting
Under IFRS 8, ‘Operating Segments’, operating segments are considered to be the components of an entity about 
which separate financial information is available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker 
in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The chief operating decision maker has been 
identified as the Manager (with oversight from the Board).

The Directors are of the opinion that the Group has two business segments, being the parent Company, Polar 
Capital Technology Trust plc, which has the objective of maximising capital growth for its shareholders through 
investing in a diversified portfolio of technology companies around the world, and its wholly owned subsidiary, 
PCT Finance Limited, which trades in securities to enhance Group returns. An analysis of financial results and 
balances by business segment is set out in note 30. The amounts presented for each segment are based on the 
accounting policies adopted in the Group accounts.

Discrete financial information for these segments is reviewed regularly by the Manager who allocates resources, 
and the Board who overseas the Manager’s performance.

In line with IFRS 8, additional disclosure by geographical segment has been provided in note 30.

Further analyses of expenses, investment gains or losses, profit and other assets and liabilities by country have 
not been given as either it is not possible to prepare such information in a meaningful way or the results are not 
considered to be significant.

(q) Key Estimates and Assumptions
Estimates and assumptions used in preparing the financial statements are reviewed on an ongoing basis and 
are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. The results of these estimates and assumptions form the basis of making judgements about 
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.

The only estimates and assumptions that may cause material adjustment to the carrying value of assets and 
liabilities relate to the valuation of unquoted investments and investments for which there is an inactive market. 
These are valued in accordance with the techniques set out in note 1(g). At the year end, unquoted investments 
represent 0.2% of net assets.

(r) Accounting Standards 
(a) Standards, amendments and interpretations becoming effective in the year to 30 April 2012:
•	 IFRS 1 (Amendment), ‘First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards’. Amendments 

resulting from 2010 annual improvement review. No impact on the financial statements.

•	 IFRS 7 (Amendment), ‘Financial Instruments – Disclosures’. Amendments resulting from the 2010 annual 
improvement review. No impact on the financial statements.

•	 IAS 1 (Amendment), ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’. Amendments resulting from the 2010 annual 
improvement review. No impact on the financial statements.

•	 IAS 24 (Revised), ‘Related Party Disclosures’. Revised definition of related parties. No impact on the  
financial statements.
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2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(r) Accounting Standards continued
(b) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards becoming effective in future 
accounting periods and have not been adopted early by the Group or Company:
•	 IFRS 7 (Amendment), ‘Financial Instruments – Disclosures’ (effective for periods beginning on or after 

1 July 2011). Amendments enhancing disclosures about transfers of financial assets.

•	 IFRS 7 (Amendment), ‘Financial Instruments – Disclosures’ (effective for periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2013). Amendments enhancing disclosures about offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities.

•	 IFRS 7 (Amendment), ‘Financial Instruments – Disclosures’ (effective for periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2015, or otherwise when IFRS 9 first applied). Amendments requiring disclosures about the initial 
application of IFRS 9.

•	 IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’ (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015). Replaces 
IAS 39. Simplifies accounting for financial assets, replacing the current multiple measurement categories with 
a single principle-based approach to classification. All financial assets to be measured at either amortised cost 
or fair value. The Group will apply IFRS 9 from 1 May 2015, subject to endorsement by the EU.

•	 IFRS 10, ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013). 
Provides additional guidance to assist in the determination of control where this is difficult to assess. The 
Group will apply IFRS 10 from 1 May 2013.

•	 IFRS 12, ‘Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities’ (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013). 
Includes the disclosure requirement for all forms of interest in other entities, including joint arrangements, 
associates, special purpose vehicles and other off balance sheet vehicles. The Group will apply IFRS 12 from 
1 May 2012.

•	 IFRS 13, ‘Fair Value Measurement’ (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013). Aims to improve 
consistency and reduce complexity by providing a precise definition of fair value and a single source of fair 
value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across all IFRSs. The Group will apply IFRS 10 from 
1 May 2013.

•	 IAS 1, ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012). 
Amendments to revise the way other comprehensive income is presented. The Group will apply this 
amendment from 1 May 2013.

(c) The following standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards become effective  
in future accounting periods, but are not relevant for the Group’s operations:
•	 IFRS 1 (Amendment), ‘First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards’. Replacement  

of fixed dates for certain exemptions. (Effective for periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011).

•	 IFRS 1 (Amendment), ‘First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards’. Additional 
exemption for entities ceasing to suffer from severe hyperinflation. (Effective for periods beginning on or 
after 1 July 2011).

•	 IFRS 11, ‘Joint Arrangements’ (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013). 

•	 IAS 12 (amendment), ‘Income Taxes’ (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012). 

•	 IAS 27 (revised 2011), ‘Separate Financial Statements’ (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013). 

•	 IAS 28 (revised 2011), ‘Associates and joint ventures’ (effective for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013). 

.
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3  INVESTMENT INCOME
Year ended

30 April 2012
£’000

Year ended
30 April 2011

£’000

Franked: Listed investments

Dividend income 133 140 

Unfranked: Listed investments

Dividend income 3,406 3,408 

3,539 3,548

4  OTHER OPERATING INCOME
Year ended

30 April 2012
£’000

Year ended
30 April 2011

£’000

Bank interest 29 34 

Interest received on tax reclaims – 3 

29 37

5  GAINS ON INVESTMENTS HELD AT FAIR VALUE 
Year ended

30 April 2012
£’000

Year ended
30 April 2011

£’000

Net gains on disposal of investments at historic cost 25,450 80,281 

Transfer on disposal of investments (38,093) (45,973)

(Losses)/gains based on carrying value at previous balance sheet date (12,643) 34,308 

Valuation gains on investments held during the year 46,960 41,076 

34,317 75,384
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6  LOSS ON DERIVATIVES
Year ended

30 April 2012
£’000

Year ended
30 April 2011

£’000

Loss on disposal of derivatives held (610) – 

Transfer of perviously recognised losses 303 – 

Losses based on carrying value at previous balance sheet date (307) – 

Loss on revaluation of derivatives held – (303)

(307) (303)

7  OTHER CURRENCY LOSSES
Year ended

30 April 2012
£’000

Year ended
30 April 2011

£’000

Exchange gains/(losses) on currency balances 1,045 (156)

Exchange losses on settlement of loan balances (415) (13,262)

Exchange (losses)/gains on translation of loan balances (738) 12,648 

(108) (770)

8  INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT FEE
Year ended

30 April 2012
£’000

Year ended
30 April 2011

£’000

Investment management fee paid to Polar Capital (charged wholly to revenue) 4,885 4,452 

Performance fee paid to Polar Capital (charged wholly to capital) – 3,337 

For terms of the investment management agreement, see pages 44 to 45.

9  OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE ExPENSES
Year ended

30 April 2012
£’000

Year ended
30 April 2011

£’000

Directors’ fees 154 125 

Auditors’ remuneration:

For audit services 30 32 

For other services (taxation services) 6 25 

Other expenses (including Shareplan and ISA administration fees) 528 569 

718 751

Auditors’ remuneration for other services cover tax, VAT and Section 1158 advice provided by the Newcastle  
office of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”). The Edinburgh office of PwC provides audit services.



77Financial Statements/ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Polar Capital Technology Trust plc/ Annual Report & Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2012

F
iN

A
N

C
iA

l 
S

TA
Te

m
e

N
TS

10  FINANCE COSTS
Year ended

30 April 2012
£’000

Year ended
30 April 2011

£’000

Interest on loans and overdrafts 763 781 

Loan arrangement fees 50 45 

Fair value adjustment on interest rate swap 22 –

835 826

11  TAxATION
Year ended

30 April 2012
Year ended

30 April 2011

a) Analysis of tax charge for the year:

Overseas tax 497 445 

Total tax for the year (see note 11b) 497 445 

b) Factors affecting tax charge for the year:

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per the  
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income as follows:

Profit before tax 31,032 68,530 

Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 24%* (2011: 26%) 621 1,485 

Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 26% (2011: 28%) 7,396 17,589 

Tax effect of non-taxable dividends (914) (976)

Gains on investments that are not taxable (8,758) (20,683)

Unrelieved current year expenses and deficits 1,651 2,585 

Expenses and finance costs not deductible for tax purposes 4 2 

Overseas tax suffered 497 445 

Tax relief on overseas tax suffered – (2)

Total tax for the year (see note 11a) 497 445 

c) Factors that may affect future tax charges:

There is an unrecognised deferred tax asset comprising:

Unrelieved management expenses 19,641 19,841 

Non-trading deficits 557 379 

20,198 20,220

 * Under the Finance Act 2012, the rate of corporation tax lowered to 24% from 1 April 2012.

It is unlikely that the Company will generate sufficient taxable profits in the future to utilise these expenses and 
deficits and therefore no deferred tax asset has been recognised.

Due to the Company’s tax status as an investment trust and the intention to continue meeting the conditions 
required to obtain approval of such status in the foreseeable future, the Company and Group have not provided 
tax on any capital gains arising on the revaluation or disposal of investments held by the Company.
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12  EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE

Year ended 30 April 2012 Year ended 30 April 2011

Revenue
return 
pence

Capital 
return
pence

Total
return
pence

Revenue
return 
pence

Capital 
return
pence

Total
return
pence

The calculation of basic 
earnings per share is based  
on the following data:

Net (loss)/profit for the  
year (£’000) (3,367) 33,902 30,535 (2,889) 70,974 68,085 

Weighted average ordinary 
shares in issue during the year 127,651,825 127,651,825 127,651,825 126,620,066 126,620,066 126,620,066 

From continuing operations

Basic – ordinary shares (pence) (2.64) 26.56 23.92 (2.28) 56.05 53.77 

The Company has in issue 24,798,179 (30 April 2011: 25,294,991) subscription shares which are convertible into 
ordinary shares.

The subscription shares were issued on 14 February 2011. Further details of the conversion price are given in  
note 20 on pages 83 and 84.

There is no dilutive effect on the return per ordinary share in respect of the conversion rights attaching to the 
subscription shares as the conversion price is higher than the ordinary share price of the Company.
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13  INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
i) Changes in non current assets investments

Group
30 April 2012

£’000

Company
30 April 2012

£’000

Group
30 April 2011

£’000

Company
30 April 2011

£’000

Valuation at 1 May 2011 458,094 460,288 386,031 388,207 

Less: Valuation gains (90,701) (92,895) (95,598) (97,774)

Cost at 1 May 2011 367,393 367,393 290,433 290,433 

Additions at cost 343,609 343,609 419,325 419,325 

Proceeds of disposal (347,433) (347,433) (422,646) (422,646)

Gains on disposal 25,450 25,450 80,281 80,281 

Cost at 30 April 2012 389,019 389,019 367,393 367,393 

Add: Valuation gains 99,568 101,787 90,701 92,895 

Valuation at 30 April 2012 488,587 490,806 458,094 460,288 

Of which:

Listed on a recognised Stock Exchange 488,009 488,009 457,393 457,393 

Unlisted 578 2,797 701 2,895 

Included in additions at cost are purchase costs of £866,000 (30 April 2011: £1,090,000). Included in proceeds of 
disposals are sales costs of £897,000 (30 April 2011: £1,097,000). These comprise mainly of commission.

ii) Changes in derivative financial instruments

Group
30 April 2012

£’000

Company
30 April 2012

£’000

Group
30 April 2011

£’000

Company
30 April 2011

£’000

Valuation at 1 May 2011 307 307 – – 

Add: Valuation losses 303 303 – – 

Cost at 1 May 2011 610 610 – – 

Additions at cost – – 610 610 

Proceeds of disposal – – – – 

Losses on disposal (610) (610) – – 

Cost at 30 April 2012 – – 610 610 

Less: Valuation losses (22) (22) (303) (303)

Valuation at 30 April 2012 (22) (22) 307 307

The above instruments represent derivative financial instruments
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13  INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE continued
iii) Classification under Fair Value Hierarchy:
The table below sets out the fair value measurements using the IFRS7 fair value hierarchy.

Categorisation within the hierarchy has been determined on the basis of the lowest level of input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement of the relevant asset as follows:

Level 1 – valued using quoted prices in active markets for identical assets.

Level 2 – valued by reference to valuation techniques using observable inputs other than quoted prices included 
within Level 1.

Level 3 – valued by reference to valuation techniques using inputs that are not based on observable market data.

The valuation techniques used by the company are explained in the accounting policies note on page 69.

There have been no transfers during the year between Levels 1 and 2. A reconciliation of fair value measurements 
in Level 3 is set out below.

Group
30 April 2012

£’000 

Group
30 April 2011

£’000 

Equity Investments

Level 1 488,009 457,393 

Level 2 – – 

Level 3 578 701 

Total 488,587 458,094

Company
30 April 2012

£’000 

Company
30 April 2011

£’000 

Equity Investments

Level 1 488,009 457,393 

Level 2 – –

Level 3 2,797 2,895 

Total 490,806 460,288

Group and Company

30 April 2012
£’000 

30 April 2011
£’000 

Derivative Financial Instruments

Level 1 – 307 

Level 2 (22) – 

Level 3 – – 

Total (22) 307
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Level 3 investments at fair value through profit or loss

Group
30 April 2012

£’000 

Group
30 April 2011

£’000 

Opening balance 701 746 

Acquisitions 50 –

Disposal proceeds (40) (224)

Total (losses) / gains included in the Consolidated  
Statement of Comprehensive Income

 – on assets held at the year end (133) 179 

Closing balance 578 701

Level 3 investments at fair value through profit or loss

Company
30 April 2012

£’000 

Company
30 April 2011

£’000 

Opening balance 2,895 2,922 

Acquisitions 50 – 

Disposal proceeds (40) (224)

Total (losses) / gains included in the Consolidated  
Statement of Comprehensive Income

 – on assets held at the year end (108) 197 

Closing balance 2,797 2,895

iv) Unquoted Investments
The value of the unquoted investments at 30 April 2012 was £578,000 (30 April 2011: £701,000)  and the portfolio 
comprised of the following holdings:

Investments
Valuation

£’000

Herald Ventures Limited Partnership 317

Herald Ventures Limited Partnership II 261

578
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14 SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKING
Company

30 April 2012
£’000

Company
30 April 2011

£’000

Balance brought forward 2,194 2,176 

Revaluation of subsidiary 25 18 

Balance carried forward 2,219 2,194 

The valuation of PCT Finance is at Net Asset Value hence the revaluation each year.

15  SUBSTANTIAL EqUITY INTERESTS  
The Company has no interests of 3% or more in any share class of capital in any investee companies (30 April 2011: 
interest of 3% or more in 2 investee companies).

Company
30 April 2012

%

Company
30 April 2011

%

Sanderson – 4.4 

Circadian – 3.3

16  OTHER RECEIVABLES
Group

30 April 2012
£’000

Company
30 April 2012

£’000

Group
30 April 2011

£’000

Company
30 April 2011

£’000

Sales for future settlement 1,091 1,091 9,183 9,183 

Prepayments and accrued income 233 231 385 383 

Amounts due from subsidiary undertaking – 3,395 – 3,395 

VAT recoverable 10 10 62 62 

1,334 4,727 9,630 13,023 

The carrying values of other receivables approximate their fair value.

17  CASH AND CASH EqUIVALENTS
Group

30 April 2012
£’000

Company
30 April 2012

£’000

Group
30 April 2011

£’000

Company
30 April 2011

£’000

Cash at bank 49,077 43,465 45,374 39,787 

Cash held at derivative clearing  
houses and brokers 134 134 131 131 

49,211 43,599 45,505 39,918 
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18  OTHER PAYABLES
Group

30 April 2012
£’000

Company
30 April 2012

£’000

Group
30 April 2011

£’000

Company
30 April 2011

£’000

Purchases for future settlement 4,309 4,309 10,863 10,863 

Accruals 1,600 1,600 4,994 4,994 

5,909 5,909 15,857 15,857

The carrying values of other payables approximate their fair value.

19  BANK LOANS
The Group has the following unsecured Japanese Yen and US dollar loans:

Group and
 Company

30 April 2012
£’000

Group and
 Company

30 April 2011
£’000

Y750.0m at a floating rate of 1.68571% repayable 2 August 2013 5,785 – 

$23.0m at a floating rate of 2.42825% repayable 2 August 2013 14,164 – 

Y375.0m at a fixed rate of 1.75938% repayable 2 August 2012 2,892 – 

$11.5m at a fixed rate of 2.11025% repayable 2 August 2012 7,082 – 

Y1,634.0m at a fixed rate of 2.22125% repayable 2 August 2011 – 12,074 

$28.2m at a fixed rate of 2.75044% repayable 2 August 2011 – 16,907 

29,923 28,981 

Less: Amounts due for settlement within 12 months 

Disclosed as current liabilities (9,974) (28,981)

Amounts due for settlement after 12 months 19,949 – 

The Company has also entered into two fixed floating interest rate swap transactions which allow the variable 
LIBOR part of the Y750.0m and US$23.0m loans to be swapped for a fixed amount. Under these contracts, the 
Company receives interest at 0.33751% and pays interest at 0.46% on the Y750.0m loan, an effective interest rate 
of 0.12429% and the US$23.0m loan receives interest at 0.77825% and pays at 0.81%, an effective interest rate 
of 0.03175% based on the rates at the year end. These transactions will terminate on 2 August 2013. The swap is 
included at its fair value of £22,000 within liabilities.
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20  SHARE CAPITAL
Group and
 Company

30 April 2012
£’000

Group and
 Company

30 April 2011
£’000

Allotted, Called up and Fully paid:

Ordinary shares of 25p each

Opening balance of 127,111,211 (30 April 2011: 126,497,914) 31,778 31,624 

Issue of 600,000 ordinary shares (2011: 550,000) 150 138 

Conversion of 496,812 (2011: 63,297) subscription shares to ordinary shares 124 16 

Allotted, called up and fully paid: 128,208,023 (30 April 2011: 127,111,211) 
ordinary shares of 25p 32,052 31,778 

Subscription shares of 1p each:

Opening balance of 25,294,991 (30 April 2011: nil) 253 – 

Bonus issue of nil (30 April 2011: 25,358,288) subscription shares – 254 

Conversion of 496,812 (2011: 63,297) subscription shares to ordinary shares (5) (1)

Closing balance of 24,798,179 (30 April 2011: 25,294,991) 248 253 

At 30 April 2012 32,300 32,031

The subscription shares were issued as a bonus issue to the ordinary shareholders on 14 February 2011 on the 
basis of one subscription share for every five ordinary shares. Each subscription share confers the right (but not 
the obligation) to subscribe for one ordinary share on the last business day of each month between and including 
31 March 2011 and 31 March 2014, when the rights under the subscription shares will lapse.

The conversion prices have been determined as follows:

 (a) If exercised between and including 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2012, 401 pence.

 (b) If exercised between and including 1 April 2012 and 31 March 2014, 478 pence.
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21  CAPITAL REDEMPTION RESERVE
Group and
 Company

£’000

As at 1 May 2011 12,588 

At 30 April 2012 12,588 

22  SHARE PREMIUM
Group and
 Company 

30 April 2012
£’000

Group and
 Company

30 April 2011
£’000

As at 1 May 2011 119,499 117,902 

Issue of 600,000 ordinary shares (2011: 550,000) 1,901 1,994 

Bonus issue of subscription shares – (254)

Subscription shares issue costs (2) (381)

Conversion of 496,812 (2011: 63,297) subscription shares to ordinary shares 1,873 238 

At 30 April 2012 123,271 119,499 

23  SPECIAL NON-DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE
Group and
 Company

£’000

As at 1 May 2011 7,536 

At 30 April 2012 7,536 

During the year the warrant exercise reserve was renamed the Special non-distributable reserve. The non-
distributable reserve was previously included in the accounts as “warrant exercise reserve” and was originally 
created from the exercise of warrants (which expired on 30 September 2005). As there are no longer warrants in 
existence, the new name of the reserve is considered to be more appropriate.
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24  CAPITAL RESERVES
Capital

reserve –
gains/

losses on
 disposal

30 April
 2012

£’000 

Capital
reserve –

revaluation
30 April

 2012
£’000 

Total
capital

reserves
30 April

 2012
£’000 

Capital
reserve –

gains/
losses on
 disposal

30 April
 2011

£’000 

Capital
reserve –

revaluation
30 April

 2011
£’000 

Total
capital

reserves
30 April

 2011
£’000 

Group:
Opening balances 270,284 91,464 361,748 206,758 84,016 290,774 
Net (losses)/gains on disposal  
of investments (12,643) – (12,643) 34,308 – 34,308 
Transfer on disposal of investments 38,093 (38,093) – 45,973 (45,973) – 
Valuation gains on investments held 
during the year – 46,960 46,960 – 41,076 41,076 
Net loss on disposal of derivatives (307) – (307) – – –
Transfer on disposal of derivatives (303) 303 – – (303) (303)
Exchange gains/(losses) on currency 
balances 1,045 – 1,045 (156) – (156)
Exchange losses on settlement of  
loan balances (415) – (415) (13,262) – (13,262)
Exchange (losses)/gains on translation  
of loan balances – (738) (738) – 12,648 12,648 
Performance fee – – – (3,337) – (3,337)
Closing balance 295,754 99,896 395,650 270,284 91,464 361,748 
Company:
Opening balances 270,284 93,658 363,942 206,758 86,192 292,950 
Net (losses)/gains on disposal  
of investments (12,643) – (12,643) 34,308 – 34,308 
Transfer on disposal of investments 38,093 (38,093) – 45,973 (45,973) – 
Valuation gains on investments held 
during the year – 46,960 46,960 – 41,076 41,076 
Net loss on disposal of derivatives (307) – (307) – – –
Transfer on disposal of derivatives (303) 303 – – (303) (303)
Revaluation of subsidiary undertaking 
(see note 13)  – 25 25 – 18 18 
Exchange gains/(losses) on currency 
balances 1,045 – 1,045 (156) – (156)
Exchange losses on settlement of loan 
balances (415) – (415) (13,262) – (13,262)
Exchange (losses)/gains on translation  
of loan balances – (738) (738) – 12,648 12,648 
Performance fee – – – (3,337) – (3,337)
Closing balance 295,754 102,115 397,869 270,284 93,658 363,942 
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25  REVENUE RESERVE
Group

30 April 2012
£’000

Company
30 April 2012

£’000

Group
30 April 2011

£’000

Company
30 April 2011

£’000

Opening balances (64,686) (66,880) (61,797) (63,973)

Loss for the year to 30 April (3,367) (3,392) (2,889) (2,907)

Closing balance (68,053) (70,272) (64,686) (66,880)

26  NOTE TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT
 Purchases and sales of investments are considered to be operating activities of the Company, given its purpose, 
rather than investing activities. However, the cash flows associated with these activities are presented below.

Group and
Company

Year ended
30 April 2012

£’000

Group and
Company

Year ended
30 April 2011

£’000

Proceeds on disposal of fair value through profit or loss investments 355,525 419,500 

Purchases of fair value through profit or loss investments (350,163) (417,049)

5,362 2,451 

27  CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
 At 30 April 2012 the Group had a commitment in respect of the following limited partnerships:

Commitment at
30 April 2012

£’000

Drawn down at
30 April 2012

£’000

Commitment at
30 April 2011

£’000

Drawn down at
30 April 2011

£’000

Herald Ventures Limited Partnership – – 1,000 1,000 

Herald Ventures Limited Partnership II – – 500 375
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28  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Under the terms of an agreement dated 9 February 2001 the Company has appointed Polar Capital LLP (“Polar 
Capital”) to provide investment management, accounting, secretarial and administrative services. Details of 
the fee arrangement for these services are given in the Report of the Directors. The total fees, paid under this 
agreement to Polar Capital in respect of the year ended 30 April 2012 were £4,885,000 (2011: £7,789,000) of 
which £1,254,000 (2011: £4,582,000) was outstanding at the year-end (including the performance fee in 2011). In 
addition to the above services Polar Capital has procured a Share Savings Scheme, PEP transfer and ISA product 
to be offered on behalf of the Company by BNP Paribas Securities Services up to 20 April 2012 and by Alliance 
Trust from 21 April 2012. The total fee paid to BNP Paribas for these services for the year ended 30 April 2012 
amounted to £44,000.(30 April 2011: £69,000) (including irrecoverable VAT) and the total payable to Alliance Trust 
was £18,000 (2011: £nil) and the Company received income of £nil (30 April 2011: £nil) in respect of the charges 
collected from investors. The compensation payable to key management personnel in respect of short term 
employee benefits is £154,000 (2011: £125,000) which comprises £154,000 (2011: £125,000) paid by the Company 
to the Directors. Refer to pages 58 to 60 for the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

29  NET ASSET VALUE PER ORDINARY SHARE
Net asset value per share

30 April 2012
pence

30 April 2011
pence

Undiluted:

Net assets attributable to ordinary shareholders (£’000) 503,292 468,716 

Ordinary shares in issue at end of year 128,208,023 127,111,211 

Net asset value per ordinary share 392.56 368.74

There is no dilutive effect on the net asset value per ordinary share in respect of the conversion of rights attaching to 
the subscription shares as the conversion price is higher than the ordinary share price of the Company.
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30  SEGMENTAL REPORTING
Geographical segments
Since the Group does not have external customers an analysis of the Group’s investments held at 30 April 2012 by 
geographical segment and the related investment income earned during the year to 30 April 2012 is noted below:

Year ended Year Ended

30 April 2012
Value of

investments
£’000

30 April 2012
Gross

income
£’000

30 April 2011
Value of

investments
£’000

30 April 2011
Gross

income
£’000

North America 368,247 1,874 325,413 1,858 

Europe 32,915 301 41,813 490 

Asia 87,425 1,364 91,175 1,200 

Total 488,587 3,539 458,401 3,548

The Directors consider that the Group has two operating segments, being the Company, Polar Capital Technology 
Trust plc, which invests in shares and securities primarily for capital appreciation in accordance with the 
Company’s published investment objective, and its wholly owned subsidiary, PCT Finance Limited, which trades 
in securities to enhance Group returns. Discrete financial information for these sectors is reviewed regularly by 
the Manager and the Board who allocate resources and assess performance.

The amounts presented for each segment are based on the accounting policies adopted in the Group accounts.

Segment financial information
30 April 2012

£’000
30 April 2011

£’000

Gross Income:

Company 37,445 77,871 

Subsidiary 25 25 

Total Income 37,470 77,896 

Net Profit:

Company 30,510 68,067 

Subsidiary 25 18 

Total Comprehensive Income 30,535 68,085 

Net Assets:

Company 501,073 466,522 

Subsidiary 2,219 2,194 

Group Net Assets 503,292 468,716

PCT Finance Limited’s liabilities as at 30 April 2012 are £3,395,000 (2011: £3,395,000), all of which are payable to 
the Company. Hence all of the liabilities included in the consolidated accounts relate to the Company.

The net profit of PCT Finance is made up of £25,000 interest net of £nil corporation tax (2011: £25,000 interest 
net of £7,000 corporation tax).

All other figures in that statement relate to the Company.
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31  DERIVATIVES AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Risk management policies and procedures
The Group comprises of an investment trust and a wholly owned subsidiary. The Group invests in equities 
and other financial instruments for the long term to further the investment objective set out on page 39. This 
exposes the Group to a range of financial risks that could impact on the assets or performance of the Group.

The main risks arising from the Group’s pursuit of its investment objective are market risk, liquidity risk and 
credit risk and the Directors’ approach to the management of them is set out below. The risks have remained 
unchanged since the beginning of the year to which the accounts relate.

The Group’s exposure to financial instruments comprise:

•	 Equity and non-equity shares and fixed interest securities which are held in the investment portfolio in 
accordance with the Group’s investment objective.

•	 Term loans and bank overdrafts, the main purpose of which is to raise finance for the Group’s operations

•	 Cash, liquid resources and short-term receivables and payables that arise directly from the Group’s operations

•	 Derivative transactions which the Group enters into may include equity or index options, index future 
contracts, forward foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps.

The purpose of these is to manage the market price risks, foreign exchange risks and interest rate risks arising 
from the Group’s investment activities.

The overall management of the risks is determined by the Board and its approach to each risk identified is set  
out below. The Board and the investment manager co-ordinate the risk management and the investment 
manager assesses the exposure to market risk when making each investment decision.

(a) Market Risk
Market risk comprises three types of risk: market price risk (see note 31(a)(i)), currency risk (see note 31(a)(ii)),  
and interest rate risk (see note 31(a)(iii)).

(i) Market Price Risk
The Company is an investment company and as such its performance is dependent on the valuation of  
its investments.

Consequently market price risk is the most significant risk that the Group faces.

Market price risk arises mainly from uncertainty about future prices of financial instruments used in the  
Group’s operations.

It represents the potential loss the Group might suffer through holding market positions in the face of  
price movements.

A detailed breakdown of the investment portfolio is given on pages 28 to 35. Investments are valued in 
accordance with the Group’s accounting policies as stated in Note 2(g).

At the the year end, the Company’s portfolio included two derivative instruments both of which are 
interest rate swaps. 



Polar Capital Technology Trust plc/ Annual Report & Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2012

F
iN

A
N

C
iA

l 
S

TA
Te

m
e

N
TS

Financial Statements/ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 91

Management of the risk
In order to manage this risk it is the Board’s policy to hold an appropriate spread of investments in the portfolio 
in order to reduce both the statistical risk and the risk arising from factors specific to a particular technology 
sector. The allocation of assets to international markets, together with stock selection covering small, 
medium and large companies, and the use of index options, are other factors which act to reduce price risk. The 
investment manager actively monitors market prices throughout the year and reports to the Board which meets 
regularly in order to consider investment strategy.

Market price risks exposure
The Group’s exposure to changes in market prices at 30 April on its quoted and unquoted investments was as follows:

Group
30 April 2012

£’000

Company
30 April 2012

£’000

Group
30 April 2011

£’000

Company
30 April 2011

£’000

Non-current asset investments at  
fair value through profit or loss 488,587 490,806 458,094 460,288 

Derivative financial instruments at  
fair value through profit or loss (22) (22) 307 307

488,565 490,784 458,401 460,595

An analysis of the Group’s portfolio is shown on pages 28 to 35.
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31  DERIVATIVES AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued
Market price risk sensitivity
The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the return after taxation for the year and the value of 
shareholders’ funds to an increase or decrease of 15% (30 April 2011:15%) in the fair values of the Group’s 
investments. This level of change is considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of current market 
conditions and historic trends. The sensitivity analysis is based on the Group’s investments at each balance sheet 
date, with all other variables held constant.

Group
30 April 2012

Group
30 April 2011

Increase in
fair value

£’000

Decrease in
fair value

£’000

Increase in
fair value

£’000

Decrease in
fair value

£’000
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
– profit after tax
Revenue return (733) 733 (688) 688 
Capital return 73,288 (73,288) 68,760 (68,760)
Change to the profit after tax for the year 72,555 (72,555) 68,072 (68,072)
Change to shareholders’ funds 72,555 (72,555) 68,072 (68,072)

Company
30 April 2012

Company
30 April 2011

Increase in
fair value

£’000

Decrease in
fair value

£’000

Increase in
fair value

£’000

Decrease in
fair value

£’000
Revenue return (736) 736 (691) 691 
Capital return 73,621 (73,621) 69,089 (69,089)
Change to the profit after tax for the year 72,885 (72,885) 68,398 (68,398)
Change to shareholders’ funds 72,885 (72,885) 68,398 (68,398)

(ii) Currency Risk
The Group’s total return and net assets can be significantly affected by currency translation movements as the 
majority of the Group’s assets and revenue are denominated in currencies other than sterling.

Management of the risk
The investment manager mitigates the individual currency risks through the international spread of investments 
and the use of forward foreign exchange contracts. Borrowings in foreign currencies are entered into to manage 
the asset exposure to those currencies, which vary according to the asset allocation.

92
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Foreign currency exposure
The table below shows, by currency, the split of the Group’s non-sterling monetary assets, liabilities and 
investments that are priced in currencies other than sterling.

Group
30 April 2012

£’000

Company
30 April 2012

£’000

Group
30 April 2011

£’000

Company
30 April 2011

£’000
Monetary Assets:
Cash and short term receivables
US dollars 31,013 31,013 33,839 33,839 
Euros 4,196 4,187 1,741 1,731 
Taiwan dollars 4,039 4,039 1,506 1,506 
Hong Kong dollars 1,923 1,923 99 99 
Japanese yen 1,732 1,685 10,890 10,845 
Swedish kroner 372 372 126 126 
Indian rupee 38 38 45 45 
Swiss francs 1 1 1 1 
Monetary Liabilities:
Other payables
Euros (637) (637) – –
Japanese yen (38) (38) (65) (65)
US dollars (3,794) (3,794) (10,976) (10,976)
Bank Loans:  
Japanese yen (8,677) (8,677) (12,074) (12,074)
US dollars (21,246) (21,246) (16,907) (16,907)
Foreign currency exposure on  
net monetary items 8,922 8,866 8,225 8,170 
Non-Monetary Items:
Investments at fair value through  
profit or loss that are equities
US dollars 381,988 381,988 355,940 355,940 
Japanese yen 21,859 21,859 17,208 17,208 
Korean won 19,679 19,679 17,425 17,425 
Taiwan dollars 19,546 19,546 17,482 17,482 
Euros 16,517 16,517 16,015 16,015 
Hong Kong dollars 13,138 13,138 11,342 11,342 
Swedish kroner 4,502 4,502 7,119 7,119 
Canadian dollars 1,282 1,282 – – 
Interest rate swap liability
Japanese yen (9) (9) – – 
US dollars (13) (13) – – 
Total net foreign currency exposure 487,411 487,355 450,756 450,701 

During the financial year sterling depreciated by 2.6% against the US dollar (2011: appreciated by 9.0%), 
depreciated by 4.2% (2011: depreciated by 6.0%) against the Japanese yen, appreciated by 9.1% (2011: depreciated 
by 2.3%) against the Euro, depreciated by 2.8% (2011: appreciated by 9.0%) against the Hong Kong dollar, 
appreciated by 2.7% (2011: appreciated by 5.4%) against the Korean won and depreciated by 0.7% (2011: 
depreciated by 0.4%) against the Taiwan dollar.

Financial Statements/ Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
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31  DERIVATIVES AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued
Foreign currency sensitivity
The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the loss after tax for the year and the value of shareholders’ 
funds in regard to the financial assets and financial liabilities and the exchange rates for the £/US dollar, £/Euro, 
£/Japanese yen, £/Hong Kong dollar, £/Korean won and £/Taiwan dollar.

It assumes the following changes in exchange rates:

£/US dollar +/- 10% (2011: 10%)

£/Euro +/- 10% (2011: 10%)

£/Japanese yen +/- 10% (2011: 15%)

£/Hong Kong dollar +/- 10% (2011: 10%)

£/Korean won +/- 10% (2011: 10%)

£/Taiwan dollar +/- 10% (2011: 15%)

If sterling had depreciated against the currencies shown, this would have the following effect:

Group 
30 April 2012

£’000

US 
dollar Euro Yen

Hong
 Kong

 dollar
Korean

 won
Taiwan
 dollar

Statement of Comprehensive Income –  
profit after tax
Revenue return 139 18 21 8 7 60 
Capital return 43,105 2,231 1,652 1,673 2,187 2,621 
Change to the profit/loss after tax for the year 43,244 2,249 1,673 1,681 2,194 2,681 
Change to shareholders’ funds 43,244 2,249 1,673 1,681 2,194 2,681 

Group 
30 April 2011

£’000

US 
dollar Euro Yen

Hong
 Kong

 dollar
Korean

 won
Taiwan
 dollar

Statement of Comprehensive Income – 
profit after tax
Revenue return 114 25 12 19 17 88 
Capital return 40,211 1,973 2,816 1,271 1,936 3,351 
Change to the profit/loss after tax for the year 40,325 1,998 2,828 1,290 1,953 3,439 
Change to shareholders’ funds 40,325 1,998 2,828 1,290 1,953 3,439
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If sterling had appreciated against the currencies shown, this would have the following effect:

Group
30 April 2012

£’000

US 
dollar Euro Yen

Hong
 Kong

 dollar
Korean

 won
Taiwan
 dollar

Statement of Comprehensive Income –  
profit after tax

Revenue return (114) (14) (17) (7) (6) (49)

Capital return (35,268) (1,825) (1,352) (1,369) (1,789) (2,144)

Change to the profit/loss after tax for the year (35,382) (1,839) (1,369) (1,376) (1,795) (2,193)

Change to shareholders’ funds (35,382) (1,839) (1,369) (1,376) (1,795) (2,193)

Group
30 April 2011

£’000

US 
dollar Euro Yen

Hong
 Kong 
dollar

Korean
 won

Taiwan
 dollar

Statement of Comprehensive Income –  
profit after tax

Revenue return (93) (20) (9) (15) (14) (65)

Capital return (32,900) (1,614) (2,082) (1,040) (1,584) (2,477)

Change to the profit/loss after tax for the year (32,993) (1,634) (2,091) (1,055) (1,598) (2,542)

Change to shareholders’ funds (32,993) (1,634) (2,091) (1,055) (1,598) (2,542)

The impact of the Company figures have not been given as they would not materially differ from the Group figures.

In the opinion of the Directors, neither of the above sensitivity analyses are representative of the year as a whole 
since the level of exposure changes frequently as part of the currency risk management process used to meet the 
Company’s objectives.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
for the year ended 30 April 2012

31  DERIVATIVES AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued
(iii) Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate changes may affect the income received from cash at bank and interest payable on borrowings.

All cash balances earn interest at a variable rate.

The Group finances its operations through its term loans as well as bank overdrafts and any retained gains arising 
from operations.

The Group uses borrowings in the desired currencies at both fixed and floating rates of interest to both generate 
the desired interest rate profile and manage the exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

Management of the risk
The Board imposes borrowing limits to ensure gearing levels are appropriate to market conditions and reviews 
these on a regular basis.

The Group has entered into two fixed floating interest rate swap transactions on Yen and US dollars. The swap 
allows the variable LIBOR part of the US dollar and Yen loans to be swapped for a fixed amount. The Group uses 
its interest rate swaps to manage its exposure to interest rate movements on its Japanese yen and US dollar 
bank borrowings.

A Japanese yen contract with a nominal value of Y750 million has fixed interest payments at a rate of 0.46% and 
floating interest receipts at Yen LIBOR. A US dollar contract with a nominal value of $23 million has fixed interest 
payments at a rate of 0.81% and floating interest receipts at USD LIBOR.

Interest rate exposure
The exposure, at 30 April, of financial assets and liabilities to interest rate risk is shown by reference to:

•	 floating interest rates (i.e. giving cash flow interest rate risk) - when the rate is due to be re-set;

•	 fixed interest rates (i.e. giving fair value interest rate risk) - when the financial instrument is due for repayment.

30 April 2012 30 April 2011

Within
one year

£’000

More than
one year

£’000
Total

£’000

Within
one year

£’000

More than
one year

£’000
Total

£’000

Exposure to floating interest rates:

Cash and Cash equivalents (Group) 49,211 – 49,211 45,505 – 45,505 

Cash and Cash equivalents (Company) 43,599 – 43,599 39,918 – 39,918 

Exposure to fixed interest rates:

Interest rate swap (Group and Company) – (22) (22) – – –

Bank loan (Group and Company) (9,974) (19,949) (29,923) (28,981) – (28,981)

Total exposure to interest rates (Group) 39,237 (19,971) 19,266 16,524 – 16,524 

Total exposure to interest rates (Company) 33,625 (19,971) 13,654 10,937 – 10,937

Interest rate sensitivity
The sensitivity analysis is based on the Group’s monetary financial instruments held at each balance sheet date, 
with all other variables held constant.
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The table below illustrates the Group’s sensitivity to interest rate movements, with a change of 0.25% p.a. in 
the rates of interest available to the Group’s financial assets and a change of 0.25% p.a in the rates of interest 
available to the Group’s financial liabilities. The effect on the revenue and capital return after tax and the value 
of shareholders’ funds are as follows if rates increased:

30 April 2012 30 April 2011
Group
£’000

Company
£’000

Group
£’000

Company
£’000

Statement of Comprehensive Income –  
profit after tax
Revenue return 48 34 41 27 
Capital return  – – – –
Change to the profit/loss after tax for the year 48 34 41 27 
Change to shareholders’ funds 48 34 41 27 

A corresponding decrease in the rate would have equal and opposite effect to that shown in the table above.

This level of change is considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of current market conditions. 
This is not representative of the year as a whole, since the exposure changes as level of cash/(loans) held during 
the year will be affected by the strategy being followed in response to the Investment Manager’s perception of 
market prospects and the investment opportunities available at any particular time.

(b) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the possibility of failure of the Group to realise sufficient assets to meet its financial liabilities.

Management of the risk
The Group’s assets mainly comprise readily realisable securities which may be sold to meet funding requirements 
as necessary.

Liquidity risk exposure
The maturity of the Group’s existing borrowings are set out in note 19 to the accounts. Short-term flexibility is 
achieved through the use of overdraft facilities.

At 30 April the financial liabilities comprised of:

Group
30 April 2012

£’000

Company
30 April 2012

£’000

Group
30 April 2011

£’000

Company
30 April 2011

£’000
Due within 1 month:
Balances due to brokers 4,309 4,309 10,863 10,863 
Accruals 1,600 1,600 4,994 4,994 
Due after 1 month and within 3 months:
Bank loan 10,076 10,076 29,351 29,351 
Due after 1 year:
Bank loan 20,621 20,621 – –
Interest rate swap 40 40 – –

(c) Credit Risk
Credit risk is the exposure to loss from failure of a counterparty to deliver securities or cash for acquisitions or 
disposals of investments or to repay deposits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
for the year ended 30 April 2012

31  DERIVATIVES AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued
Management of the risk
This risk is not considered significant. The Group manages credit risk by using brokers from a database of 
approved brokers and by dealing through Polar Capital. All cash balances are held with approved counterparties. 
These arrangements were in place throughout the current year and the prior year.

Credit risk exposure
The maximum exposure to credit risk at 30 April 2012 was £50,401,000 (30 April 2011: £55,093,000) comprising:

Group
30 April 2012

£’000

Company
30 April 2012

£’000

Group
30 April 2011

£’000

Company
30 April 2011

£’000
Balances due from brokers 1,091 1,091 9,364 9,364 
Accrued income 233 231 355 353 
Cash at bank 49,077 43,465 45,374 39,787 

50,401 44,787 55,093 49,504 

All of the above financial assets are current, their fair values are considered to be the same as the values shown 
and the likelihood of a material credit default is considered low.

None of the Group’s financial assets are past due or impaired. All deposits were placed with banks that had 
ratings of A or higher. The fixed floating interest rate swaps are held with a counterparty with a rating of A  
or higher.

(d) Gearing risk
The Company’s policy is to increase its exposure to equity markets through the judicious use of borrowings. 
When borrowings are invested in such markets, the effect is to magnify the impact on Shareholder’s funds of 
changes, both positive and negative, in the value of the portfolio.

Management of the risk
The Company uses short-term loans to manage gearing risk, details of which can be found in note 19.

Gearing risk exposure
The loans are valued at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method in the financial statements.  
The Board regulates the overall level of gearing by raising or lowering cash balances.

(e) Capital Management Policies and Procedures
The Company’s capital, or equity, is represented by its net assets which are managed to achieve the Company’s 
investment objective set out on page 39.

The Board monitors and reviews the broad structure of the Company’s capital on an ongoing basis. This review includes:

 (i) the planned level of gearing through the Company’s fixed rate loan facility and

(ii) the need to issue or buy back equity shares for cancellation, which takes account of the difference between 
the net asset value per share and the share price (ie the level of share price discount or premium).

The Company’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital are unchanged from the preceding 
accounting period.

The Company is subject to externally imposed capital requirements through the Companies Act with respect 
to its status as a public company. In addition in order to pay dividends out of profits available for distribution 
by way of dividend, the Company has to be able to meet one of the two capital restriction tests imposed on 
investment companies by company law. The Company is also subject to externally imposed capital requirements 
through the loan covenants set out in the loan facility. These requirements are unchanged since the previous 
year end and the Company has complied with them.
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POLAR CAPITAL TECHNOLOGY TRUST PLC – PROFILE

Polar Capital Technology Trust plc was launched on 
16 December 1996 under the name Henderson Technology 
Trust PLC, with the issue of ordinary shares plus one 
warrant attached to every five shares. The original 
subscription price for each share was £1. 

On 30 September 2005 the warrants reached their final 
exercise date and were converted into ordinary shares of 
the Company. 

On 14 February 2011 the Company had a Bonus Issue of 
subscription shares to qualifying shareholders on the 
share register on 10 February 2011. One subscription 
shares was issued for every five ordinary shares. The 
details of the subscription shares are set out in the 
Directors’ Report and further information can be found 
on page 102.

In 2010, the shareholders voted to continue the life of 
the Company and they will have in 2015 and every five 
years thereafter the right to approve, or otherwise, the 
continued existence of the Company. 

Objective 
The investment objective is to maximise long-term capital 
growth through investing in a diversified portfolio of 
technology companies around the world. The investment 
policy is set out in full in the Directors’ Report. Shareholder’s 
attention is drawn to the Chairman’s  statement on pages 2 
and 3 and the Notice of Annual General Meeting for 2012 
which refer to a proposed updating of the Investment Policy 
subject to Shareholder approval at the AGM.

Benchmark 
The Company has a benchmark of the Dow Jones World 
Technology Index (total return, sterling adjusted) against 
which NAV performance is measured for the purpose of 
assessing performance fees. 

Rationale 
Over the last three decades the technology industry 
has been one of the most vibrant, dynamic and rapidly 
growing segments of the global economy. Technology 
companies offer the potential for substantially faster 
earnings growth than the broad market, reflecting the 
long-term secular uptrend in technology spending. 

Investment Approach 
Stocks are selected for their potential for shareholder 
returns, not on the basis of technology for its own 
sake. The Investment Manager believes in rigorous 
fundamental analysis and focus on: 

•	 management quality 

•	 the identification of new growth markets 

•	 the globalisation of major technology trends and 

•	 exploiting international valuation anomalies and 
sector volatility 

Management 
Polar Capital LLP has been the appointed Investment 
Manager throughout the year. Mr Ben Rogoff, the 
appointed fund manager, has been responsible for the 
Company’s portfolio since 1 May 2006 and is supported  
by a team of technology specialists. 

Fees 
The Company pays both a basic management fee as 
well as a performance fee if performance is above a 
predetermined level. Further details are given in the 
Directors’ Report. 

Information on the Company can be accessed at: www.
polarcapitaltechnologytrust.co.uk and further shareholder 
information is given at the back of this report. 

Share Price and Net Asset Value
The Company’s Net Asset Value (‘NAV’), diluted  
when applicable, is released daily, on the next working 
day, following the calculation date, to the London 
Stock Exchange. 

The mid-market price of the ordinary shares is published 
daily in the Financial Times in the Companies and Markets 
section under the heading ‘Investment Companies’. 

Share price information is also available from The London 
Stock Exchange Website www.londonstockexchange.
co.uk (PCT), Bloomberg (PCT.LN), Datastream (PCT), 
Lipper (71000395) and Reuters (PCT.L). 

The SEDOL code for the ordinary shares is 0422002 and 
the ISIN is GB004220025. 

The SEDOL code for the subscription shares is B615W32 
and the ISIN is GB00B615W327.

Portfolio Details 
Portfolio information is provided to the AIC for its monthly 
statistical information service (www.theaic.co.uk) and 
monthly fact sheets, as well as previous copies of annual 
report and accounts, are available on the Company’s 
website www.polarcapitaltechnologytrust.co.uk

Gearing
The Company uses gearing in the form of bank loans which 
are used on a tatical basis by the Investment Manager, 
when considered appropriate. The overall level of net 
gearing is controlled by the Board and all bank facilities are 
subject to Board approval. Any Net borrowings over 20% 
of the Company’s net assets at the time of draw down will 
only be made after approval of the Board.
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Shareholder information/ ContactsShareholder information/ Contacts

Investment Manager
Polar Capital LLP
Authorised and regulated by the  
Financial Services Authority

Fund Manager
Ben Rogoff

Secretary
Polar Capital Secretarial Services Limited
represented by Neil Taylor FCIS

Registered Office
4 Matthew Parker Street 
London SW1H 9NP 
020 7227 2700

Statutory Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Erskine House 
68 – 73 Queen Street  
Edinburgh EH2 4NH

Solicitors
Herbert Smith LLP
Exchange House 
Primrose Street 
London EC2A 2HS

Stockbrokers
Cenkos Securities plc
6.7.8. Tokenhouse Yard 
London EC2R 7AS

Bankers and custodian
JPMorgan Chase Bank NA
125 London Wall 
London EC2Y 5AJ

Registered Number
Registered in England and Wales
No. 3224867

Company Website
www.polarcapitaltechnologytrust.co.uk
The Company maintains a website which provides a wide 
range of information on the Company, monthly fact 
sheets, and copies of announcements and other useful 
details and further links to information sources. 

Registrar
Shareholders who have their shares registered in their 
own name, not through a share savings scheme or ISA, 
can contact the registrars with any queries on their 
holding. Post, telephone and Internet contact details are 
given below.

In correspondence you should refer to Polar Capital 
Technology Trust plc, stating clearly the registered name 
and address and if, available the full account number.

Equiniti Limited
Aspect House 
Spencer Road 
Lancing 
West Sussex BN99 6DA

Shareholder helpline: 0800 876 6889 (or +44 121 415 7047)

www.shareview.co.uk

CONTACTS



102102

Polar Capital Technology Trust plc/ Annual Report & Financial Statements for the year ended 30 April 2012

Disability Act 
Copies of this Report and Accounts or other documents issued by the Company are 
available from the Company Secretary. If needed, copies can be made available in a  
variety of formats, either Braille or on audio tape or larger type as appropriate. 

You can contact our Registrars, Equiniti Limited, who have installed textphones to 
allow speech and hearing impaired people who have their own textphone to contact 
them directly by ringing 0870 600 3950 without the need for an intermediate operator. 
Specially trained operators are available during normal business hours to answer queries 
via this service. Alternatively, if you prefer to go through a ‘typetalk’ operator (provided 
by the Royal National Institute for the Deaf), you should dial 18001 followed by the 
number you wish to dial. 

For shareholders attending the Annual General Meeting of the Company an induction 
loop is available for hearing aid wearers. 
Nominee Shareholder Code 
Where notification has been provided in advance the Company will arrange for copies of shareholder communications 
to be provided to the operators of nominee accounts. Nominee service providers are encouraged to advise investors 
that they may attend general meetings and speak at meetings when invited by the Chairman. 

Financial Calendar 
The key dates in the Company’s financial year are as follows: 

30 April Financial year-end 

Early July Announcement of year-end results 

September Annual General Meeting

31 October Half-year end 

Mid-December Announcement of half-year results 

Shareholder information/ other informationShareholder information/ other information

OTHER INFORMATION
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Shareholder information/ Capital Gains TaxShareholder information/ Capital Gains Tax

CAPITAL GAINS TAx

Information on Capital Gains Tax is available on the HM Revenue & Customs website (www.hmrc.gov.uk/cgt/index).

When shares are disposed of a capital gain may result if the disposal proceeds exceed the sum of the base cost of 
the shares sold and any other allowable deductions such as share dealing costs. The exercise of subscription shares 
or warrants into ordinary shares should not have given rise to a capital gain, however a capital gain may arise on the 
eventual disposal of those shares. 

The calculations required to compute capital gains may be complex and depend on personal circumstances. 
Shareholders are advised to consult their personal financial advisor for further information regarding a possible  
tax liability in respect of their shareholdings. 

Further information on the impact of the Bonus Issue of subscription shares is provided in the subscription share section.

The Company was launched on 16 December 1996 with the issue of ordinary shares at £1 per share and one warrant 
issued free for every five ordinary shares.

Former Shareholders of TR Technology Plc 
Former shareholders of TR Technology PLC who accepted the offers made by Polar Capital Technology Trust plc for 
their shares in TR Technology PLC may find the following table helpful: 

TR Technology plc Polar Capital Technology Trust plc 

For each ordinary  
share of 25p each: 

On 16 December 1996, one C share of 200p each. 

On 14 March 1997, on conversion of the C shares, 3.94342 ordinary shares of 25p each and one 
warrant to subscribe for ordinary shares in respect of every five ordinary shares arising on 
conversion of the C shares.

For each stepped 
preference share  
of 25p each: 

On 16 December 1996, 1.5561743 ordinary shares of 25p each and one warrant to subscribe for 
ordinary shares in respect of every five such ordinary shares.

For each zero  
dividend preference 
share of 25p each:

On 16 December 1996, 2.7392426 ordinary shares of 25p each and one warrant to subscribe 
for ordinary shares in respect of every five such ordinary shares.

Market Prices of the Company’s ordinary shares and warrants 
The market prices, for capital gains tax purposes, of the Company’s ordinary shares and warrants at the close of 
business on 16 December 1996, the first day of dealings in the Company’s ordinary shares and warrants, and 17 March 
1997, the first day of dealings after the conversion of the C shares, were as follows: 

16 December 1996 17 March 1997

ordinary shares of 25p each 96.0p 88.5p 

warrants to subscribe for ordinary shares 36.0p 31.0p

Market Prices of the Company’s ordinary shares and subscription shares 
The market prices, for capital gains tax purposes, of the Company’s ordinary shares and subscription shares at the 
close of business on 14 February 2011, the first day of dealings in the Company’s subscription shares were as follows: 

14 February 2011

ordinary shares of 25p each 390.0p 

subscription shares of 1p each to subscribe for ordinary shares 33.5p 
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Shareholder information

SUBSCRIPTION SHARES

Shareholder information/ Subscription SharesShareholder information/ Subscription Shares

Polar Capital Technology Trust plc issued, as a Bonus 
Issue, free of cost, subscription shares on 11 February 2011 
to its qualifying shareholders. The subscription shares 
were admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange 
on 14 February 2011. 

Subscription shares offer the right to subscribe for 
ordinary shares of the Company at pre-determined dates 
at pre-determined prices and can be bought and sold 
independently of the ordinary shares on the London 
Stock Exchange. The subscription prices are:

•	 if exercised on any day between and including the  
last business day in March 2011 and the last business 
day in March 2012, 401p per ordinary share; and

•	 if exercised on any day between and including  
1 April 2012 and the last business day in March 2014, 
478p per ordinary share.

The subscription prices were set by reference to the 
unaudited Net Asset Value per ordinary share as at  
close of business on 9 February 2011 of 381.87p, plus a 
5% premium in the first 12 months and a 25% premium 
for the remainder of their life, rounded up to the nearest 
whole penny.

The subscription shares were issued to qualifying 
shareholders whose names were on the share register as at 
the close of business on the 10 February 2011 on the terms 
and conditions set out in Part IV of the Prospectus which 
was published by the Company on 18 January 2011. Given 
restrictions on the issuance of shares applying to certain 
jurisdictions, shareholders who are not resident in the EEA, 
Isle of Man or the Channel Isles (“overseas shareholders”) did 
not receive the subscription shares. However, the Company 
allotted any subscription shares due to them to a market 
maker who sold these subscription shares at 28p each and 
the proceeds of the sale were then paid to the overseas 
shareholders entitled to them (save that entitlements of 
less than £5.00 per overseas shareholder were retained by 
the Company). Fractions of subscription shares were not 
issued or allotted and entitlements were rounded down to 
the nearest whole number of subscription shares.

Subscription shares are qualifying investments for the 
stocks and shares component of an ISA, and are eligible 
for inclusion in a UK SIPP.

Exercise of subscription rights
Each subscription share gives the holder the right, but 
not the obligation, to subscribe for an ordinary share on 
the last business day of each calendar month during the 

exercise period from the last business day of March 2011 to 
the last business day of March 2014 (both dates inclusive). 

After the last business day of March 2014, the right to 
convert subscription shares will lapse. Within seven 
days following the last business day of March 2014 the 
Company will appoint a trustee who (provided that in its 
opinion the net proceeds of sale will exceed the costs of 
exercising the subscription rights), will either:

(i)  exercise all the subscription rights which have not 
been exercised (on the terms prevailing on the final 
subscription date) and sell the resulting ordinary 
shares in the market; or

(ii)  (if it appears to the trustee that doing so is likely 
to realise greater net proceeds for subscription 
shareholders) accept any offer available to 
subscription shareholders for the purchase of  
the outstanding subscription shares.

The trustee will then distribute the net proceeds pro 
rata to the subscription shareholders, provided that 
entitlements of under £5.00 will be retained for the 
benefit of the Company. If the trustee shall not exercise 
the subscription rights within 14 days following the final 
subscription date all subscription rights shall lapse.

The new ordinary shares arising from the exercise of 
subscription rights will be allotted within ten business 
days of the first business day of the following month.

If immediately after any subscription date subscription 
rights have been exercised or cancelled in respect of  
75 per cent. or more of the subscription shares originally 
issued (subject to the adjustments in accordance with the 
Company’s Articles), the Company may give notice in writing 
to all outstanding subscription shareholders that a final 
subscription date will take place earlier than March 2014.

Subscription share conversion – certificated form 
Holders wishing to convert their subscription shares, 
in whole or in part, who hold their shares in the form 
of a subscription share certificate, should refer to the 
instructions on the reverse of their certificate. The 
subscription shareholder must lodge a completed 
subscription notice (on the reverse of the certificate) at 
the office of the registrars for the Company (Equiniti) by 
not later than 5.00 p.m. on the last business day of the 
relevant month, accompanied by a remittance for the 
subscription price for the ordinary shares. 
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Shareholder information/ SubscriptionSharesShareholder information/ SubscriptionShares

Subscription share conversion through CREST 
Holders wishing to convert their subscription shares, in 
whole or in part, who hold their shares through CREST, 
should submit an Uncertificated Subscription Notice 
to be received by no later than 5.00 p.m. on the last 
business day of the relevant month and a remittance for 
the aggregate subscription price for the ordinary shares 
in respect of which the subscription rights are being 
exercised. The following participant and member account 
IDs should be used when processing their applications:

CREST Participant ID = 6RA67

CREST Member Account ID = RA172707

Tax implications
For the purposes of UK capital gains tax and corporation 
tax on chargeable gains, the issue of subscription 
Shares pursuant to the Bonus Issue should be treated 
as a reorganisation of the Company’s share capital. 
For qualifying shareholders subject to UK taxation, 
subscription shares will be treated on receipt as part of 
a single asset comprised of the subscription shares and 
that shareholder’s existing ordinary share holding. The 
tax base cost of that single asset will be the consideration 
given for the existing holding of ordinary shares. While 
qualifying shareholders should not be treated as making a 
disposal of all or part of their existing holdings of ordinary 
shares by reason of the bonus Issue, for the purpose 
of calculating chargeable gains or allocating losses on 
future disposals of subscription shares and / or ordinary 
shares, qualifying shareholders must apportion the base 
costs of the deemed single assets between their existing 
ordinary shares and any subscription shares received.

The base ‘cost’ for UK tax purposes of the subscription 
shares acquired pursuant to the Bonus Issue will be a 
proportion of the original base cost of your ordinary 
shares. The apportionment is made by reference to the 
respective market values of the ordinary shares and 
subscription shares on 14 February 2011, the day the 
subscription shares were admitted to trading. The prices 
of the Company’s ordinary shares and subscription 
shares for the purposes of allocating your base cost 
were as follows:

ordinary shares 389.25p

subscription shares 25.25p

Accordingly an individual investor who on 10 February 
2011 held five ordinary shares (or a multiple thereof) 
would have received one subscription share (or the 
relevant multiple thereof) pursuant to the Bonus Issue 
and would apportion the base cost of such holding 
98.722% to the five ordinary shares and 1.278% to the 
subscription shares.

If you exercise the subscription rights attaching to 
your subscription shares on any subscription date, the 
resulting ordinary shares will be treated for UK tax 
purposes as the ‘same’ asset as the subscription shares 
in respect of which the subscription rights are exercised. 
The base ‘cost’ for UK tax purposes of the resulting 
ordinary shares will be the base cost attributed to the 
exercised subscription shares, increased by the amount  
of subscription monies paid.

ISAs
Investments held in ISAs are free of UK tax on income and 
gains. Receipt of subscription shares and any subsequent 
disposal of subscription shares held in an ISA at a gain 
should not be a chargeable event for UK capital gains 
tax purposes. As an ISA holder, you may subscribe for 
ordinary shares pursuant to your subscription rights 
on any subscription date. However, any new monies 
paid into your ISA to convert your subscription shares 
will contribute towards your annual ISA limit in the 
year in which you exercise your subscription rights and 
must not exceed the ISA allowance for that tax year. 
Any subscription shares you convert to ordinary shares 
cannot be added retrospectively to previous ISAs. They 
must be added to the current tax year’s ISA allowance.

The information provided on tax is a summary only of 
certain UK tax matters relevant to the Bonus Issue. If 
you need tax advice you should contact a qualified tax 
professional. Investors who are resident or otherwise 
subject to taxation outside the UK should, in particular, 
consult a professional adviser on the tax implications of 
the Bonus Issue. 

Please note this is a summary of some of the information 
contained in the Prospectus issued by the Company on 
18 January 2011 (the “Prospectus”) in connection with 
the bonus issue of the Subscription Shares (the “Bonus 
Issue”) and should be read as such. Full details of the 
subscription shares, their issue and conversion are set 
out in the Prospectus and reference should be made to 
that document for a complete and full understanding of 
the matters terms of the subscription shares.
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WARNINGS TO SHAREHOLDERS

Share Prices
Investors should be aware that the value of the 
Company’s shares may reflect the greater relative 
volatility of technology shares. Technology shares 
are subject to the risks of developing technologies, 
competitive pressures and other factors including 
the acceptance by business and consumers of new 
technologies. Many companies in the technology  
sector are smaller companies and are therefore also 
subject to the risks attendant on investing in smaller 
capitalisation businesses. 

Boiler Room Scams 
Many companies have become aware that their 
shareholders have received unsolicited phone calls  
or correspondence concerning investment matters. 
These are typically from overseas based ‘brokers’ who 
target UK shareholders, offering to sell them what often 
turn out to be worthless or high risk shares in US or UK 
investments. These operations are commonly known  
as ‘boiler rooms’. These ‘brokers’ can be very persistent 
and extremely persuasive.

It is not just the novice investor that has been duped 
in this way; many of the victims had been successfully 
investing for several years. Shareholders are advised to be 
very wary of any unsolicited advice, offers to buy shares 
at a discount or offers of free company reports. 

If you receive any unsolicited investment advice: 

•	 Make sure you get the correct name of the person  
and organisation 

•	 Check that they are properly authorised by the 
FSA before getting involved by visiting www.fsa.gov.
uk/register 

•	 Report the matter to the FSA either by calling 0845 
606 1234 or visiting www.moneymadeclear.fsa.gov.uk 

•	 If the calls persist, hang up 

If you deal with an unauthorised firm, you will not be 
eligible to receive payment under the Financial Services 
Compensation Scheme. The FSA can be contacted by 
completing an online form at www.fsa.gov.uk/pages/
doing/regulated/law/alerts/overseas.shtml. Details of any 
share dealing facilities that the company endorses will be 
included in company mailings. 

More detailed information on this or similar  
activity can be found on the FSA website  
www.moneymadeclear.fsa.gov.uk

Forward Looking Statements
Certain statements included in this Annual Report and 
financial statements contain forward-looking information 
concerning the Company’s strategy, operations, financial 
performance or condition, outlook, growth opportunities 
or circumstances in the countries, sectors or markets in 
which the Company operates. By their nature, forward-
looking statements involve uncertainty because they 
depend on future circumstances, and relate to events, 
not all of which are within the Company’s control or can 
be predicted by the Company. Although the Company 
believes that the expectations reflected in such forward-
looking statements are reasonable, no assurance can 
be given that such expectations will prove to have been 
correct. Actual results could differ materially from those 
set out in the forward-looking statements. For a detailed 
analysis of the factors that may affect our business, 
financial performance or results of operations, we urge you 
to look at the principal risks and uncertainties included 
in the Business Review on pages 38 to 48 of this Annual 
Report. No part of these results constitutes, or shall be 
taken to constitute, an invitation or inducement to invest 
in Polar Capital Technology Trust plc or any other entity, 
and must not be relied upon in any way in connection with 
any investment decision. The Company undertakes no 
obligation to update any forward-looking statements. 
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INVESTING

Market Purchases 
The ordinary and subscription shares of Polar Capital 
Technology Trust plc are listed and traded on the London 
Stock Exchange. Investors may purchase shares through 
their stockbroker, bank or other financial intermediary. 

Share Dealing Services 
The Company has arranged for Shareview Dealing, a 
telephone and Internet share sale service offered by 
Equiniti to be made available. 

For telephone sales call 0800 876 6889 

(or +44 121 415 7047) between 8.30am and 4.30pm for 
dealing and up to 6.00pm for enquiries, Monday to Friday. 

For Internet sales log on to www.shareview.co.uk/dealing 

Savings Scheme & ISA
The ordinary and subscription shares of the Company 
may also be purchased through arrangements offered 
by Alliance Trust Savings. The share savings scheme and 
the ISA are subject to the key features document which 
should be read before entering into the investment. 
These schemes are subject to commission, stamp duty 
and administration charges which are detailed in the key 
features document. Information and the key features 
document are available from: 

Alliance Trust on 08000 326 323, or visit  
www.alliancetrust.co.uk

Please remember that any investment in the shares of 
Polar Capital Technology Trust either directly or through 
a savings scheme or ISA carries the risk that the value of 
your investment and any income from them may go down 
as well as up due to the fluctuations of the share price, 
the market and interest rates. This risk may result in an 
investor not getting back their original amount invested. 
Past performance is not a guide to future performance. 

Polar Capital Technology Trust is allowed to borrow 
against its assets and this may increase losses triggered 
by a falling market, however the Company may increase 
or decrease its borrowing levels to suit market conditions. 

The Company’s shares may reflect the greater volatility 
of technology shares which themselves are subject to the 
risks of developing technologies and other commercial 
risks. Many technology companies are smaller companies 
and are therefore also subject to the risks attendant 
on investing in smaller companies. It is therefore 
important that you read the key features documents and 
understand the risks associated with investing in the 
shares of the Company. 

If you are in any doubt as to the suitability of a plan 
or any investment available within a plan, please take 
professional advice. 

Shareholder information/ Warning to ShareholdersShareholder information/ Warning to Shareholders
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GLOSSARY

Computer data storage capacity / transfer speeds

Bit The basic capacity of information in computing with only two possible values (often interpreted as 
binary digits and denoted as numerical digits 0 and 1).

Byte A unit of digital information equivalent to eight bits. 

Kilobit / KiloByte Kb/KB Equivalent to 1000 bits or Bytes.

Megabit / MegaByte Mb/MB Equivalent to one million (106) bits or Bytes.  

Gigabit / GigaByte Gb/GB Equivalent to one thousand million Bytes (109) or 1000 gigabits (Gb). 

Terabit / TeraByte Tb /TB Equivalent to one trillion (1012) bits or Bytes .

Petabit / PetaByte Pb /PB Equivalent to one quadrillion (1015) bits or Bytes.

Zettabit / ZettaByte Zb /ZB Equivalent to one sextillion (1021) bits or Bytes.

When “XX/s” refers to the equivalent data transfer rate per second.

Computing terminology

4G LTE An initialism of Long Term Evolution, 4G LTE is a fourth generation wireless communication standard 
and successor to the current 3G standard.

802.11ac A wireless computer networking standard of 802.11 which will provide high throughput wireless local 
area networks (WLAN) on the 5GHz band.

Android A Linux-based operating system for mobile devices developed by the Open Handset Alliance, led by Google. 

Application delivery 
controller (ADC)

A device placed in a datacentre between the firewall and application servers that accelerate 
application performance and load balancing. 

Bandwidth Term used to describe the available or consumed data communication resources expressed in bits/
second or multiples of it (eg. kilobits/s, megabits/s).

Cloud Computing The delivery of computing and storage capacity as a service to a heterogeneous community of end-
recipients.  A Private Cloud is operated solely for a single organisation whether managed internally 
or by a third-party and hosted internally or externally while a Public Cloud is the purest form of 
Cloud computing based on multi-tenancy and Internet delivery.

Computing Cluster Set of loosely connected computers that work together so they can be viewed as a single system. 

Datacentre A centralised repository for the storage, management and dissemination of data and information.

Deep packet  
inspection (DPI)

A form of computer network packet filtering that examines the data within a packet in order to 
better route it, or collect statistical information.

eCommerce Electronic commerce, known as e-commerce, is the buying and selling of products or services over 
electronic systems such as as the Internet.

Hadoop An open source software framework enabling applications to work with thousands of independent 
computers and massive data sets. 

iOS Apple’s operating system used in its iPhone / iPad ranges.

IP Internet Protocol (see TCP/IP).

IPv6 A version of the Internet Protocol (IP) developed by the IETF to succeed IPv4 as the dominant 
communications protocol used for Internet traffic. 

Local loop A term used to describe the physical link or circuit that connects a customer’s premises to the edge of a 
telecommunication network although it can be applied to any ‘last mile’ connection to the customer. 

Multitenancy Where a single instance of a piece of software runs on a server serving multiple clients.
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Computing terminology continued

Network effect The effect that one user has on the value of a product or service to other people. More instance, the 
more people who own a telephone, the more valuable a telephone is to each owner.

Software as a  
service (SaaS)

Software delivery model where software and associated data is centrally hosted on the Cloud and 
accessed by users via a web browser. Sometimes referred to as ‘on-demand software’. 

Solid state Circuits or devices built entirely from solid materials rather than vacuum / gas discharge tube devices 
and excluding electro-mechanical devices with moving parts.

TCP/IP Primary communication protocols used for the Internet. Transmission Control Protocol (TCP) 
handles host-to-host communication while Internet Protocol (IP) connects local networks. 

Tiered storage The assignment of different categories to data to different types of storage media in order to reduce 
total storage cost.

Virtualisation The creation of virtual (rather than actual) version of something which involves the abstraction of 
software from underlying hardware resources. Virtualization can be applied to hardware, desktop, 
software and storage in order to centralise administrative tasks while improving overall hardware 
resource utilisation.

Wide Area  
Networks (WAN)

A telecommunication network that covers a broad (wide) area rather than a local (LAN) or 
metropolitan area (MAN).

This list of terms has been complied from public sources with acknowledgement and thanks to Wikipedia.

Investment and Financial terms 

AIC The Association of Investment Companies.

Diluted Net Asset Value 
(‘NAV’) per Ordinary share

The diluted NAV per Ordinary share assuming that all outstanding Subscription shares were 
converted into Ordinary shares at the period end.

Premium/Discount The amount by which the market price per share of an investment trust is either higher (premium) or 
lower (discount) than the NAV per share, expressed as a percentage of the NAV.

Reflexivity Refers to circular relationships between cause and effect. A reflexive relationship is bidirectional 
with both the cause and the effect affecting one another.

Subscription shares Shares carrying the right (but not the obligation) to be exchanged for Ordinary shares or the 
Company at a predetermined price and at a specified time in the future.

Shareholder Information/ InvestingShareholder Information/ Investing
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